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Financial Highlights
MBHE

The following is a summary of the Group’s published results for the past AT /A4EEBA A AN KEE D AMES
five financial years. HE o

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE  #ZREZ2HE W&
INCOME

Year ended 31 December
g§FE+_A=1+—HIEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—BopmE  —T-o=HF = —B--F C—E-TF

(HKS million)  (HK$ million)  (HK$ million)  (HK$ million)  (HK$ million)
(BEB®Bx) (B85t (Bs5ET) (B&s%ET) (B&HT)

Interest income FBEUWA 281.6 248.7 233.9 2701 304.3
Net interest income FEWA 5 250.6 223.6 211.0 234.1 267.7
Operating profit LRI 75.2 67.2 82.7 92.8 105.8
Profit before income tax iRy =npayl 74.0 66.7 81.9 92.3 105.5
Profit for the year FRHF 63.8 51.6 67.9 77.1 91.0
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET mEEERER

As at 31 December
»+=B=+-—H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—ECmE —T-=F —T--F —E-—F —E-FTF

(HKS million)  (HK$ million)  (HK$ million)  (HK$ million)  (HK$ million)
(BEBEr) (EEdr) (Fgsn) (E&%nT) (BEELD

Total assets BERE 1,449.8 1,241.6 1,087.3 1,309.1 1,265.1
Total liabilities aEwE 532.2 360.7 366.8 656.4 671.7
Total equity ek 917.6 880.9 720.5 652.7 593.4

K CASH REERAT 2024FH 5
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Chairman’s Statement

ERERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual report of
K Cash Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31
December 2024.

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to
approximately HK$63.8 million as compared to HK$51.6 million last year,
which was mainly attributable to the increase in our loan portfolio.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend
of HK3 cents per Share (2023: HK1.998 cents per Share) and a special
dividend of HK2.5 cents per Share (2023: nil), respectively, for the year
under review.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s business activities are principally carried out by two wholly-
owned subsidiaries, K Cash Express and K Cash. K Cash Express focuses on
the provision of Unsecured Property Owner Loans, while K Cash focuses
on the provision of Personal Loans.

During the Reporting Period, we have successfully raised external funds
from authorized institutions in Hong Kong and a fund provider in Japan.
Together with the unutilized net proceeds from the Listing, we have made
use of such funds to expand our loan portfolio, and our loan receivables
after deducting provision for impairment has increased by 27.8% from
HK$964.4 million as of 31 December 2023 to HK$1,232.4 million as
of 31 December 2024. In particular, we have increased the amount of
Unsecured Property Owner Loans granted which has a larger loan principal
and have a lower bad debt risk as compared to other loan products, and
our expected loss rates decreased from 10.2% as of 31 December 2023 to
8.7% as of 31 December 2024.

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Chairman’s Statement = &3R4

PROSPECTS

Going forward, we will remain focused on selectively pursuing growth
opportunities while maintaining stable performance in our businesses.
The Group will maintain a prudent financial profile by closely monitoring
operating and capital expenses. As part of our ongoing initiative, we will
continue to increase the adoption of fintech in our operations to generate
personalised loan offers and to help us to strategize effectively and
enhance our risk assessment process.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our sincerest gratitude to
our Shareholders, customers, and business partners for their steadfast
support and trust to our Group, as well as to our Board members,
management team and all of our employees for their dedication and
contribution throughout the year. In 2025, we will strive to move forward
with determination to achieve steady development so as to create greater
value for our Shareholders.

Lee Sheung Shing
Chairman and Non-executive Director
Hong Kong, 19 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

THBE R 2

BUSINESS REVIEW

We are principally engaged in the money lending business specializing
in unsecured loans in Hong Kong under the Money Lenders Ordinance
(Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong) under our brand names “K Cash
Express” and “K Cash”. We have integrated various technologies into
our business operation to achieve digitalization and automation across
the lending process. On the front-end, we leverage various technology
tools to automate and digitalize our credit cycle from loan application to
loan repayment, which continuously enhance user experience, whereas
on the back-end, we leverage established technologies, such as artificial
intelligence, and business process automation technology, to automate
and streamline our risk management systems and business process.

Unsecured Property Owner Loans refer to loans offered to borrowers
who are property owners in Hong Kong, mostly owners of properties
acquired under the Home Ownership Scheme, without the need to
provide any collaterals. They remained as the major source of our revenue,
contributing approximately 72.0% (2023: 68.7%) to our Group’s revenue
during the Reporting Period. Interest income generated from Unsecured
Property Owner Loans increased by 18.5% to HK$202.6 million during
the Reporting Period. Our loan receivables for Unsecured Property Owner
Loans increased from HK$784.0 million as of 31 December 2023 to
HK$1,037.0 million as of 31 December 2024.

We also provide Personal Loans and SME Loans, which are unsecured
loans offered to individuals and SMEs, respectively. For SME Loans, a
personal guarantee is typically provided by a director or shareholder of the
borrower. Our interest income for Personal Loans decreased by 0.2% to
HK$66.4 million during the Reporting Period, contributing about 23.6%
(2023: 26.7%) of our Group's revenue for the Reporting Period, whereas
interest income for SME Loans decreased by 1.5% to HK$11.2 million
during the Reporting Period, contributing about 4.0% (2023: 4.6%) of
our Group's revenue for the Reporting Period. Our loan receivables for
Personal Loans increased from HK$242.3 million as of 31 December 2023
to HK$253.1 million as of 31 December 2024, and our loan receivables for
SME Loans decreased from HK$47.5 million as of 31 December 2023 to
HK$47.2 million as of 31 December 2024 which was due to our business
decision to strategically focus on Unsecured Property Owner Loans.

We fully launched the PayKool platform during the Reporting Period which
now supports instant virtual card issuance, automated teller machine
cash withdrawal, BNPL transaction and one click pushed to various digital
wallet for tokenized base transaction etc., and we will continue to develop
other functions and features to provide best customer experience to our
customers. By virtue of the PayKool platform, we also provided credit card
advances, and the interest income from credit cards during the Reporting
Period was HK$1.4 million, and the loan receivables for credit cards was
HK$12.0 million as of 31 December 2024.

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis & I [E 5 5 & 24T

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Interest income

Our interest income increased by HK$32.9 million or 13.2% from
HK$248.7 million for the last year to HK$281.6 million for the Reporting
Period, and such increase was mainly derived from the increase in loans
and advances to customers.

Interest income from our Unsecured Property Owners Loans increased
by HK$31.7 million or 18.5% from HK$170.9 million for the last year to
HK$202.6 million for the Reporting Period, whereas the interest income
from our Personal Loans decreased by HK$0.1 million or 0.2% from
HK$66.5 million for the last year to HK$66.4 million for the Reporting
Period. Interest income from our SME Loans decreased by HK$0.2 million
or 1.5% from HK$11.4 million for the last year to HK$11.2 million for the
Reporting Period.

The increase in interest income for our Unsecured Property Owner Loans
was primarily due to the increase in our average loan balance (i.e. the
average of our gross loan receivables at the beginning and the end of the
year) by 20.3% from HK$757.0 million in 2023 to HK$910.5 million in
2024.

The decrease in interest income for our Personal Loans was primarily due
to the decrease in our average effective interest rate of Personal Loans
from 39.6% in 2023 to 37.6% in 2024, and the decrease in interest
income for our SME loans was primarily due to the decrease in our
average loan balance by 7.0% from HK$50.9 million in 2023 to HK$47.4
million in 2024.

As we fully launched our PayKool credit cards during the Reporting Period,
we started to receive interest income from our credit card advances of
HK$1.4 million during the Reporting Period.

Other income

We have recorded other income of HK$9.6 million (2023: HK$5.0
million) during the Reporting Period which mainly comprised of rental
income from fellow subsidiaries, rental income from a related party, bank
interest income and credit cards income. The increase in other income
was primarily due to the increase of interest income received from banks
and the increase in the number of credit cards issued and the number of
transactions conducted by our credit card holders during the Reporting
Period.

Interest expenses

We have incurred interest expenses of HK$31.0 million for the Reporting
Period (2023: HK$25.2 million), which mainly comprised of interest on
interest bearing bank borrowings. The increase in interest expenses by
HK$5.8 million or 23.0% was primarily due to the new facilities obtained
during the Reporting Period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & I & 51 5 & 24T

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
General and administrative expenses

We have incurred general and administrative expenses of HK$64.2 million
for the Reporting Period (2023: HK$80.8 million), which mainly comprised
of employee benefit expenses, legal and professional fees, depreciation of
property, plant and equipment. The decrease in general and administrative
expenses by HK$16.6 million or 20.6% was mainly due to the decrease in
listing expense incurred during the Reporting Period.

Selling expenses

We have incurred selling expenses of HK$40.6 million for the Reporting
Period (2023: HK$24.8 million), which mainly comprised of advertising
and marketing expenses, employee benefit expenses, and depreciation of
right-of-use assets. The increase in selling expenses by HK$15.8 million
or 63.7% was mainly due to the increase in advertising and promotional
activities carried out by the Group during the Reporting Period as our
Group was the title sponsor of several major activities for brand building
purpose.

Expected credit losses, net

We recorded net expected credit losses of HK$77.4 million for the
Reporting Period (2023: HK$55.8 million) which was mainly due to the
increase of loan receivables. We perform regular review of our loan
receivables and assess provision for impairment by taking into account
the underlying risk profile, historical loss experience, historical loss rate of
loans with similar attributes and forward-looking information.

Profit for the year

As a result of the foregoing, our profit achieved HK$63.8 million for the
Reporting Period (2023: HK$51.6 million).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the Reporting Period, our primary funding channels mainly include:
(i) funding from loans or facilities from authorized institutions; (ii) funding
from a Japanese fund provider and (iii) cash flows from our operating
activities. Based on our current and anticipated levels of operations,
barring unforeseeable market conditions, our future operations and capital
requirements will be financed through loans from banks or other financial
institutions that are independent third parties, retained earnings and our
share capital.

Our Group recorded net assets of HK$917.6 million as at 31 December
2024 (31 December 2023: HK$880.9 million). As at 31 December 2024,
cash and cash equivalents amounted to HK$116.4 million (31 December
2023: HK$218.4 million); amount due to fellow subsidiaries amounted
to HK$2.7 million (31 December 2023: HK$0.1 million); and bank and
other borrowings amounted to HK$491.9 million (31 December 2023:
HK$342.6 million).

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis & I [E 5 5 & 24T

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
(CONTINUED)

Majority of cash and bank balances held by the Group was denominated
in Hong Kong dollars, whilst the remaining was denominated in Japanese
Yen. Save as the Group’s borrowings from the Japanese fund provider
which was denominated in Japanese Yen and carried a fixed interest rate,
all of the Group’s borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong dollars
and carried interest on a floating rate basis.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND TREASURY POLICIES

The Company continues to adopt a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policy.

The Board will closely monitor the liquidity position to ensure that
the liquidity structure of the Company’s assets, liabilities and other
commitments can meet the funding requirements from time to time.

As at 31 December 2024, unutilized banking facilities available to our
Group for drawdown amounted to HK$230.0 million. It is our Group’s
policy to prioritise the utilisation of our available facilities which offer the
lowest finance cost to our Group.

Our bank borrowings (tax loans excluded) and interest-bearing connected
advances for our working capital as of 31 December 2023 and 2024
amounted to HK$324.3 million and HK$467.4 million, respectively. The
effective interest rates of such borrowings in 2023 and 2024 ranged
from 7.81% to 9.93% per annum and 5.10% to 10.0% per annum,
respectively. In 2024, interest payable to our largest fund provider (by
interest expense and tax loans excluded) accounted for approximately
66.6% (2023: 88.6%) of our total interest expense.

During the Reporting Period, all interest bearing bank borrowings were
repayable on demand and were secured by our loans and interest
receivables. The amount due to fellow subsidiaries and the ultimate
holding company was unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on
demand.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & I & 51 5 & 24T

KEY OPERATIONAL DATA TEEEHE
The following table sets forth a breakdown of our gross loan receivables T &5 2 R B B S EE 2 5 0y e
by loan type as of the dates indicated. B EEER R o

As at 31 December

W+=A=+—-H
2024
—ZomE

Number Number

of loan HKS$ of loan

accounts million accounts

& -5

RFHE HE#ER RPEE
Unsecured Property Owner Loans  EEAETER 2,899 1,037.0 76.8 2,443 784.0 73.0
Personal Loans LAER 5,281 253.1 18.8 4,752 2423 226
SME Loans PN ER 38 47.2 3.5 65 475 4.4
Credit card advances ERRRZK 1,385 12.0 0.9 - - -
Total @sr 9,603 1,349.3 100.0 7,260 1,073.8 100.0

As of 31 December, 2023 and 2024, we had 65 and 38 loan agreements, HZ T - =ZFEK T -_WNF+-_/F=+—
respectively, with corporate borrowers. B &M 5E651EK38HE R AERAG]
SR BRI o

Note:  Some of our individual and corporate borrowers held multiple loan accounts — Hfst - EFA AR R 2 TE A RBEPHEE Z 6 E 55k
with us. FEoe

The table below sets out the average loan size (i.e. the arithmetic average ~ FXREFIHKPIRBER L F—EEERELRD
of loan principal originally granted by us for loans which generated interest ~ FHE KR (AIEFE B RMZ VIS EEF
income during each year) of our loan products during the Reporting Period  BUt AR EZ Pt E B AR S HE M F19E) ¢
and the previous year:

Year ended 31 December

BE+-—A=t+—HLEE

2024
—ECNE
(HK$'000)
(F#7T)
Unsecured Property Owner Loans EIEHEFER 372.0 319.2
Personal Loans N 66.2 61.9
SME Loans R/PNDER 1,475.5 1,080.5
Overall = 155.4 150.1

12 K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis & I [E 5 5 & 24T

KEY OPERATIONAL DATA (CONTINUED) FTEZEHE(E)
The table below provide sets out the average loan tenor of our loan FRFIEMEEZM~EBEERERDNEHE
products as of the dates indicated: FNEEHE

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2024 2023
—E-F —E=F
(months) (months)
(B) (A)
Unsecured Property Owner Loans EREETER 49.8 60.4
Personal Loans FAERK 29.5 23.1
SME Loans R/ NPER 37.7 29.4
Overall mee 36.1 35.8

The table below sets out the average effective interest rate of our loan  FEREFIIHMPRFEHL F—FEERERD
products during the Reporting Period and the previous year: BB HE

Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—RALFE

2024

b 11 3
Unsecured Property Owner Loans EIRHE T ER 28.0% 29.1%
Personal Loans FLAER 37.6% 39.6%
SME Loans /N ERR 24.6% 24.1%
Overall B 35.0% 36.3%

K CASH KREERLT 2024FH 13
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Management Discussion and Analysis & I & 51 5 & 24T

KEY OPERATIONAL DATA (CONTINUED) FELERIE(E)
The table below summarizes the range of interest rates that we typically — NHREDME FIRHRE A L —FE — U
charged during the Reporting Period and the previous year: FIR&E :

Year ended 31 December

BE+-—A=+—HLEE

2024

—EmF
Unsecured Property Owner Loans IR T ER 21.0% to 36.0% 20.4% t0 42.0%
21.0% £36.0% 20.4%%42.0%
Personal Loans N=EN 25.0% to 43.2% 25.2% to 48.0%
25.0% £43.2% 25.2%%48.0%
SME Loans /NP ER 21.9% to 28.2% 22.0% t0 25.1%
21.9%%£28.2% 22.0%%25.1%
Overall o1 ] 21.0% t043.2%  20.4% to 48.0%

21.0%%£43.2% 20.4%%E48.0%

Note:  Due to the revolving nature of our credit card business, operational data for —~ Mit © BE/AREBHERITERZR  BEEHRE

average loan size, average loan tenor, average effective interest rate and range BTG EHE - FHELF - FHEER
of interest rates for our credit card advances are not considered relevant. T R FI| 3 # B oy B 2528 45T HE G

14 K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

. e \ \ \ \



Management Discussion and Analysis & I [E 5 5 & 24T

KEY OPERATIONAL DATA (CONTINUED) FELEHE(E)

The ageing analysis of loans and advances to customers based on RES N FIRB AR S HAEPEHER
instalments by due date is as follows: RBFERE DTN

As at 31 December

Rt+t=—A=+—H
2024
—ECNF
(HK$'000)
(F%7T)
Unsecured Property Owner Loans EIRFEFEN
Current BNHA 846,387 600,500
Overdue 1-30 days #HEA12=30H 9,735 9,513
Overdue 31-60 days #H31260H 7,805 6,203
Overdue 61-90 days #HI61E90H 5,152 6,244
Overdue over 90 days #HEA90H LA 167,963 161,561
Personal Loans MAER
Current BNER 237,146 219,540
Overdue 1-30 days #HEI12=30H 2,304 3,052
Overdue 31-60 days #HI31260H 1,451 1,918
Overdue 61-90 days #HI61290H 1,291 1,771
Overdue over 90 days #EA90H LA 10,911 16,014
SME Loans RN ER
Current BNHA 23,025 43,170
Overdue 1-30 days BmHEI1ZE30H 1,248 928
Overdue 31-60 days B HA31E60H 668 647
Overdue 61-90 days #HI61290H 637 471
Overdue over 90 days #EA90H LA 21,590 2,315
Credit Card Advances ERFEX
Current BNER 11,853 -
Overdue 1-30 days #HR1Z=30H 47 -
Overdue 31-60 days wHI31260H 22 -
Overdue 61-90 days w61 290H 15 -
Overdue over 90 days BHI90 A LA 1= 65 -

K CASH REBERAT 202453
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Management Discussion and Analysis & 12 & 51 &8 & 24T

KEY OPERATIONAL DATA (CONTINUED) TELBEHIE(E)
Below is the breakdown of provision for impairment as of the dates AT A ZEAT B BB RERERA
indicated:

As at 31 December

R+=—HA=+—H
2024
—E-E
Unsecured Property Owner Loans MK T EN 20,212 21,019
Personal Loans NN 65,115 72,104
SME Loans R/NDER 29,819 16,332
Credit card advances ERFRRZ 1,789 -
Total st 116,935 109,455
KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS B8 82 B #S5 L 3R
The following table sets forth the key financial ratios of our Group during ~ FREFIAEERIREA N F—FEHOREE
the Reporting Period and previous year: LR

As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—H

Gearing ratio® BEBEXRO 0.45 0.16

Year ended 31 December

BE+-—A=t+—HLEE

Return on assets® EEDQHRE 4.7% 4.4%
Return on equity® PR O R R 7.1% 6.4%
Interest coverage ratio® FlEEE R 3.4 times 3.7 times
3.41% 3.71&%

Net interest margin RN e 19.7% 21.3%
— Unsecured Property Owner Loans —EERETFER 18.7% 19.9%

— Personal Loans —FLAEK 23.5% 25.9%

- SME Loans —/PNEER 18.8% 20.0%
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Management Discussion and Analysis & I [E 5 5 & 24T

KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS (CONTINUED)

(1) Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing net debts (being total debts including
borrowings, amounts due to the ultimate holding company, the immediate
holding company and related parties, lease liabilities, derivative financial
instruments and contract liabilities less cash and cash equivalents) by total equity
as of the respective dates.

2) Return on assets is calculated by dividing net profit for the year by the average
total assets as of the beginning and end of the corresponding year.

(3) Return on equity is calculated by dividing net profit for the year by the average
total equity as of the beginning and end of the corresponding year.

(4) Interest coverage ratio is calculated by dividing profit before tax and interest
(excluding interest expenses on lease liabilities) by the interest expenses for the
corresponding year.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our business is subject to risks that our borrowers may fail to perform
their contractual obligations and default on payment of interest and/
or the principal. Where the customer does not repay the outstanding
amounts, we may consider commencing legal proceedings or engage our
debt collection agent to recover outstanding loans. As no collaterals will
be obtained from our borrowers for unsecured loans, the outstanding
amount may not be recovered even if legal proceedings are brought
against defaulting borrowers. Therefore, we will continue to closely
monitor and improve our credit and risk policy to minimize the impact of
such risk.

The growth of our loan portfolio also depends on the availability of
adequate lending capital to meet borrowers’ demands for loans. To
maintain sufficient and sustainable funding to meet borrower demands,
we need to keep expanding the funding base to secure a stable stream of
funds. Our cost of funding is subject to changes in the prevailing interest
rate in the market. In addition, all of our banking facilities give the banks
an unconditional right to call the loan at any time. In the event that the
banks exercise their right to request us to repay the bank loans without
prior notice, or if our lenders terminate the facility, we may fail to meet
the funding requirements and may not be able to obtain new facilities as
replacement. Hence, we will continue to ensure our borrowings are within
monitored ratios and explore funding from different sources or through
different kinds of collaboration.

We have introduced BNPL services in response to the evolving market
trend, and therefore we started providing credit card advances during the
Reporting Period. Whether or not such segment can successfully grow
depends on various factors beyond our control. While we aim to seize
growth opportunities, we will tread cautiously while promoting this new
business segment to avoid affecting the stability of our overall operations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & I & 51 5 & 24T

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Consumer sentiment remains soft in Hong Kong and the property
market has yet to recover, which has made licensed money lenders more
cautious in approving loans to borrowers lately. However, we believe
that government initiatives will reactivate the market in the near future.
Further, as market expects the Federal Reserve System of the United States
to maintain its interest rate at the current level, we expect that interest
rate from our fund providers would remain at similar levels, and we would
continue to explore new source of funding which ultimately drives the
growth of our loan portfolio.

Nonetheless, we believe that the increasing adoption of fintech could
further modernize the money lending market. Hence, we continue to
strive to offer more efficient and accessible lending solutions.

During the Reporting Period, we successfully completed phase 1 of the
K Cash GO platform digital transformation project, which uplifted and
streamlined various business process and the corresponding technical
components. For example, our fintech & credit risk teams have co-
developed our home-grown credit score engine and enhanced our
automation credit rule approval engine to increase straight-through
processing rate of loan applications.

Besides, we revamped our repayment component to support Faster
Payment System repayment method for our customers. Also, we
integrated the module with multiple settlement bank providers. This near-
real time repayment feature can enhance our customer experience and
also provide more flexibility to our finance department in terms of cash
flow management.

In 2025, we will revamp and upgrade our Al-based credit models to
provide a more precise and personalized risk-based pricing to our
customers. Our fintech team will also explore using generative Al
technology and deploy related technology to different departments and
increase the efficiency of various business processes.

During the Reporting Period, we have successfully built our own digital
marketing (“DM") platform and our data and intelligent (“Dnl”) platform
which set the foundation for us to unleash both our customer data and
our business data. The DM platform enables us to provide personalized
marketing campaign to micro customer segments in timely fashion, while
the Dnl platform allows us to perform different types of data-driven
business decision making and further our Al development.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not make any material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis & I [E 5 5 & 24T

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not hold any significant investments as at 31 December
2024.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, certain gross loan receivables of HK$547.6
million in aggregate (2023: HK$821.1 million) were secured for our
Group’s bank and other borrowings.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

During the Reporting Period, the business activities of our Group were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, and foreign exchange risk mainly
arises from borrowings denominated in Japanese Yen. Our Directors did
not consider our Group was exposed to any significant foreign exchange
risks.

Our Group manages its foreign exchange risk by performing regular
reviews of the Group’s net foreign exchange exposures and monitoring
the movement of the foreign currency rate. During the Reporting Period,
the Group did not use derivative financial instruments to hedge against
the volatility associated with foreign currency transactions and other
financial assets and liabilities arising in the ordinary course of business.
Nonetheless, the Group has arranged foreign exchange forward contracts
to hedge against the foreign exchange exposure arising from the funding
from a Japanese fund provider as at the date of this annual report. The
Group will continue to monitor and mitigate the impact on exchange rate
fluctuations by entering into currency hedge for any future arrangement,
if necessary.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have any future
plans for material investment and capital assets as of the date of this
annual report.

CUSTOMERS

During the Reporting Period, our customers comprised individuals and
corporations and were not connected persons of the Company.

During the Reporting Period, our top five customers (as determined by
interest income generated) accounted for approximately 3.0% (2023:
2.1%) of our total revenue, and aggregate value of outstanding loan
receivables of our top five customers accounted for approximately 2.6%
(2023: 1.9%) of our total loan receivables.
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Management Discussion and Analysis & I & 51 5 & 24T

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, we employed 61 employees (31 December
2023: 62). Our employee benefit expenses for the Reporting Period was
HK$40.8 million (2023: HK$40.7 million).

Our Company adopted a share scheme, and employees are eligible for
share options and/or share awards under such scheme. As at 31 December
2024, no options or awards were granted to any person eligible to
participate in the share scheme.

The Group adopts a remuneration policy covering the position, duties
and performance of our employees. The remuneration of our employees
include salary, overtime allowance, bonus and various subsidies.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company did not have any contingent
liabilities.
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Directors’ and Senior Management'’s Biographies

EFREREERERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lee Kun Tai Steven (Z2) (“Mr. Steven Lee”), aged 53, has
been an executive Director and chief executive officer of the Company
since 20 March 2023. He is also a member of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Steven Lee is a director of K Cash Express and K Cash
since December 2003 and April 2008, respectively. He is responsible for
the overall management, operations, and strategic planning and business
development of the Group and risk management in its daily operations.

Mr. Steven Lee has over 22 years of experience in the licensed money
lending business, with a wide focus on unsecured personal loans, loans to
corporations, mortgage loans and finance leasing. He is the chief executive
officer of Trustme Chain Corporation Limited, principally engaged in
the provision of financial technology services, primarily responsible for
overall management, strategic planning and business development
since 2018. He is the chief executive officer of MoneySQ, principally
engaged in the provision of IT services, primarily responsible for overall
management, strategic planning and business development since 2015.
He has also served as the director of Konew Fintech, principally engaged
in providing mortgage and personal loans, primarily responsible for
overall management, strategic planning and business development since
December 2019. Mr. Steven Lee has been the honorary chairman of the
Internet Professional Association since 2015.

Mr. Steven Lee holds a bachelor’s degree in business administration from
the University of Southern California in the United States and a master’s
degree in construction project management from The University of Hong
Konag.

Mr. Steven Lee is the son of Chairman Lee and Mrs. Lee.

Ms. Wong Cheuk Sze (Z£5F) (“Ms. Wong”), aged 45, has been
an executive Director and chief operating officer of the Company since
20 March 2023. She is also a member of the Independent Business
Opportunity Assessment Committee of the Company. She is responsible
for the overall management and operations, strategic planning and
business development of the Group.

Ms. Wong has over 22 years of experience in the licensed money lending
business. Ms. Wong joined the Group in January 2008 and has served
different positions in the Group. She has served as the chief loan officer
of the unsecured loan department of K Cash from October 2022 until
present in which she is responsible for monitoring the loan process and
procedures and ensuring all aspects of workflow comply with the rules
and guidelines.

Ms. Wong holds a bachelor’s degree of art in contemporary English from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a master’s degree of business
administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong.
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Directors’ and Senior Management's Biographies & % &k 5 4% & 1% B B F

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lee Sheung Shing (&%) (“Chairman Lee"), aged 88, has been
the chairman of the Board and a non-executive Director since 20 March
2023. He is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Chairman Lee is
a director of K Cash Express and K Cash since March 1999 and April 2008,
respectively. He is responsible for providing advice on overall strategic
planning and business development of the Group.

Chairman Lee has over 22 years of experience in the licensed money
lending business, with a wide focus on unsecured personal loans, loans to
corporations, mortgage loans and finance leasing.

Chairman Lee has been appointed as permanent honorary president of the
Hong Kong Real Estate Agencies General Association (&8 EMRIE 42
@) since 1995. From 2004 to 2008 and from 2014 to present, Chairman
Lee was the chairman of the board and the director of the Hong Kong Lee
Clansmen'’s Association (EBZF KR D), respectively. Chairman Lee was
appointed as a consultant and honorary president of Hong Kong Alumni
Association of many famous Chinese universities including Huagiao
University, Fuzhou University, Fujian Normal University, Renmin University
of China, University of Jinan and Central South University starting from
2003.

Chairman Lee graduated from China Zhangzhou Agriculture College
(P BEINEEPT) (currently known as Fujian Agriculture and Forestry
University (&2 2#KE2)). Chairman Lee holds a Certificate Programme
in Property Valuation from The Hong Kong Management Association and
an honorary Doctor of Philosophy degree in business administration from
the International American University in the United States.

Chairman Lee is the spouse of Mrs. Lee and the father of Mr. Steven Lee.

Ms. Lee Pik Tsong (Z=Z2 %) (“Mrs. Lee”), aged 84, has been our non-
executive Director since 20 March 2023. She is also the director of K
Cash Express, K Cash and K Cash (BVI) since March 1999, April 2008 and
December 2019, respectively. She is responsible for providing advice on
overall strategic planning and business development of our Group.

Mrs. Lee has over 22 years of experience in the licensed money lending
business, with a wide focus on unsecured personal loans, loans to
corporations, mortgage loans and finance leasing.

Mrs. Lee graduated from Huagiao University in China specializing in
medicine.

Mrs. Lee is the spouse of Chairman Lee and the mother of Mr. Steven Lee.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Ms. Chan Wing Sze (BR3k&) (“Ms. Chan”), aged 48, joined the Group
in May 2007. Ms. Chan has been a non-executive Director since 20 March
2023 and is responsible for providing advice on strategies on overall
management and operations, strategic planning and marketing of the
Group.

Ms. Chan has over 22 years of experience in the licensed money lending
business. Since August 2022, she has served as the chief operating officer
in Konew Capital until present, primarily responsible for monitoring its
overall operation.

Ms. Chan was awarded the Asia Pacific Entrepreneurship Award by
Enterprise Asia in September 2016. She holds a bachelor’s degree in
commerce from the University of Manitoba in Canada.

Ms. Kan Pui Yan (B3 &) (“Ms. Kan”), aged 53, has been a non-
executive Director since 20 March 2023. She is responsible for providing
advice on strategies on the general financial management of the Group.

Ms. Kan has over 32 years of experience in accounting. She has served
as the chief financial officer of Konew Capital from August 2022 until
present.

Ms. Kan has been a member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants since June 2001, and a fellow of the same since June 2006.
She has also been a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants since March 2003, and a fellow of the
same since July 2024.

Ms. Kan holds a master’s degree of accountancy and a master’s degree of
business administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Prof. Hung Wai Man JP ((£ER) (“Prof. Hung"), aged 56, has been
an independent non-executive Director since 31 October 2023. He is
responsible for overseeing the operations and management of the Group
independently. He is also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Independent Business Opportunity Assessment Committee of the
Company.

Prof. Hung has over 37 years of experience in management consulting,
project management and outsourcing services. He has been a director
of Wit's Technology (HK) Company, since January 2017, and Shenzhen-
Hong Kong Technology Startup Platform Limited, since November 2019,
respectively. He has also been an independent non-executive director of
LH Group Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1978), principally engaged in the operation of full-service restaurants,
primarily responsible for assisting in strategical recommendation
since May 2018, Sino Hotels (Holdings) Limited, a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1221), principally engaged in the
operation and management of hotels, primarily responsible for providing
recommendation to the business development since January 2019, and
Sprocomm Intelligence Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1401), principally engaged in manufacture and sale of
technological products, primarily responsible for assisting in strategical
recommendation since November 2019, respectively.

Prof. Hung obtained a higher diploma in mathematics, statistics and
computing from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known as The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University) in Hong Kong and obtained a bachelor’s
degree in business administration from the Bolton Institute of Higher
Education in the United Kingdom. He obtained a master’s degree in
business administration from the University of Hull in the United Kingdom
and obtained a master’s degree in arts from The Chinese University of
Hong Kong. He obtained a master’s degree in laws and a doctor’s degree
in laws from the Renmin University of China. He obtained a master’s
degree in executive business administration from the City University of
Hong Kong. He obtained a master’s degree in public administration from
Tsinghua University.

Prof. Hung was awarded in the Secretary for Home Affairs’ Commendation
Scheme in 2007 and was elected as one of the Ten Outstanding Young
Persons in Hong Kong in 2008. Prof. Hung was also appointed as a
Justice of the Peace by the Hong Kong Government in July 2015. He
has become a Chartered IT professional, a Fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors (FHKIoD), a Fellow member of the Hong Kong
Computer Society (FHKCS), and a Fellow member of the British Computer
Society (FBCS), since July 2008, July 2022, February 2008, March 2022,
respectively.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Mak Wing Sum Alvin (ZX#&) (“Mr. Mak”), aged 72, has
been an independent non-executive Director since 31 October 2023.
He is responsible for overseeing the operations and management of
the Group independently. He is also the chairman of the Independent
Business Opportunity Assessment Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
of the Company.

Mr. Mak is an independent non-executive director of Luk Fook Holdings
(International) Limited (stock code: 0590), principally engaged in sale
of jewelries, Lai Fung Holdings Limited (stock code: 1125), principally
engaged in property development business, Hong Kong Technology
Venture Company Limited (stock code: 1137), principally engaged in
provision of e-commerce business and Crystal International Group Limited
(stock code: 2232), principally engaged in manufacture and distribution
of clothes, all of which are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Mak was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of Habib Bank Zurich
(Hong Kong) Limited, a Hong Kong based restricted-licence bank in April
2023. Mr. Mak was an independent non-executive director of Goldpac
Group Limited (stock code: 3315), which was principally engaged in the
production and sale of software and secure payment products, from
November 2013 to May 2024. Mr. Mak was admitted as a member of
Hong Kong Housing Society in May 2015 and is currently a member of its
Supervisory Board, and Finance committees.

After working in Citibank for over 26 years, Mr. Mak retired on 1 May
2012. He last served as the Head of Markets and Banking for Citibank
Hong Kong, being the country business manager for corporate and
investment banking business. In Citibank, he had various senior positions
including Head of Global Banking responsible for managing all the
coverage bankers. Prior to that he managed the Hong Kong's corporate
finance business, regional asset management business and was the Chief
Financial Officer of North Asia. Before joining Citibank in 1985, Mr. Mak
was an audit group manager at Coopers & Lybrand (now known as
PricewaterhouseCoopers). He worked for Coopers & Lybrand for eight
years, five of which were in Toronto, Canada, He graduated from the
University of Toronto with a Bachelor of Commerce degree in 1976. He is
a member of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Leung Ka Cheung (% &) (“Mr. Leung”), aged 63, has been
an independent non-executive Director since 31 October 2023. He is
responsible for overseeing the operations and management of the Group
independently. He is also the chairman of the Audit Committee and a
member of the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Independent Business Opportunity Assessment Committee of the
Company.

Mr. Leung has over 40 years of experience in the accounting and finance
industry. He has worked as a partner of an accountant firm KCG & Co.,
primary responsible for accounting, audit assurance and tax compliance
services since December 2001.

Mr. Leung obtained a master’s degree in professional accounting from
the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in Hong Kong. Mr. Leung is a
fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales, the Association
of International Accountants, and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He has also been a member of the Chartered Institute of
Marketing since September 1997 and was an associate member of the
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong in 2003 and became a fellow member
since December 2020.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The senior management of the Company consists of three members,
namely, Mr. Steven Lee, Ms. Wong and Ms. Lin Ching Man. Please refer to
“Directors’ and Senior Management's Biographies — Executive Directors”
for the biographical details information of Mr. Steven Lee and Ms. Wong.

Ms. Lin Ching Man (#&#) (“Ms. Lin”), aged 42, joined the Group
in March 2012 and was appointed as our chief financial officer of the
Company on 20 March 2023 in which she is responsible for general
financial management of the Group. She has over 20 years of experience
in accounting. Ms. Lin has served as a director of Konew Capital since July
2022 in which she is responsible for ensuring the submission of accurate
and timely reports internally and externally and monitoring cash flow and
accounting policies. She was transferred to K Cash Express since October
2022.

Mes. Lin graduated from the City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s
degree of business administration in accountancy with honors. She has
been a member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
since November 2007, and a fellow of the same since November 2012.
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Directors’ Report

EFERT

The Board is pleased to present the annual report and audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Our Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 25 October
2022 and our Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
on 5 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The Group is principally engaged in the money lending business
specialising in unsecured loans in Hong Kong.

The activities and particulars of the Company and its subsidiaries are
shown under note 12 to the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report. An analysis of the Group’s business and financial
performance for the year by principal activities is set out in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report.

RESULTS

The consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 are set out on pages 141 to 240 of this annual report.

PROPOSED FINAL DIVIDEND AND SPECIAL
DIVIDEND

The Board recommended payment of a final dividend of HK3 cents per
Share and a special dividend of HK2.5 cents per Share, respectively, for
the year ended 31 December 2024, which will be payable in cash. The
proposed final dividend and special dividend will be paid on Friday, 20
June 2025 following approval at the annual general meeting of the
Company (“AGM") to Shareholders whose names shall appear on the
register of members of the Company on Thursday, 5 June 2025.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held on Wednesday, 28 May 2025.
Notice of the AGM will be published and issued to Shareholders in due
course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the eligibility of the Shareholders to attend and vote at
the AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Friday, 23 May 2025 to Wednesday, 28 May 2025, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of Shares will be registered. The record
date for determining the eligibility of the Shareholders to attend and vote
at the AGM will be Wednesday, 28 May 2025. In order to be eligible to
attend and vote at the AGM, all Share transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant Share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
Hong Kong share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 22 May 2025.

For determining the Shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed final
dividend and special dividend, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Tuesday, 3 June 2025 to Thursday, 5 June 2025,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will be
registered. The record date for determining the Shareholders’ entitlement
to the proposed final dividend and special dividend will be Thursday, 5
June 2025. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend and special
dividend, all Share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
Share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Monday, 2 June 2025.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends.
Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the Group
and the conditions and factors as set out in the Dividend Policy, dividends
may be proposed and/or declared by the Board during a financial year and
any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to the Shareholders’
approval. The declaration, payment and distribution of dividends to the
Shareholders are also subject to any restrictions under the laws of the
Cayman Islands, the Articles of Association and any applicable laws, rules
and regulations.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of our Group’s results, assets and liabilities for the last five
financial years are set out on page 5 of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group during the Reporting Period, the Group's
exposure to principal risks and uncertainties, business prospects, financial
performance and relevant analysis, together with compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
to this annual report. Environmental policy of the Group has been put in
place to give due consideration to environmental issues and minimise the
impact of business operations of the Group on environment. In addition,
discussions on the aforesaid policies of the Group and the Group's
relationships with employees, customers, suppliers and other stakeholders
are contained in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report and the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 53 to 108 and pages 109 to 130
of this annual report, respectively. The review and discussion form part of
this directors’ report.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses and
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. The
following are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group.
There may be other risks and uncertainties which are not currently known
to the Group or which may not be material now but could turn out to
be material in the future. Some of the major risks we face include the
following:

o We are exposed to credit risks of our customers who may default
on their loans.

o If we fail to control our credit risk exposure, our bad debt ratio
may increase, and our business and results of operations may be
adversely affected.

o Our provision for expected credit losses may not be adequate to
cover actual credit losses.

o We are in a highly competitive industry. If we are not able to
compete effectively, it could impact our profitability.

o If we fail to promote our technology-based services to a satisfactory
level of market acceptance, or if we fail to continuously enhance
our technologies at a competitive pace, we may lose certain
businesses and not be able to recover our investment on adopting
relevant technologies.

o We may not be able to obtain sufficient funding on terms
acceptable to us to finance our operation; we may not be able to
comply with covenants in our borrowings, and our lenders may
request loan repayment without prior notice.

o Our future expansion plans are subject to uncertainties and risks.

o If the credit or other information of a prospective borrower we
receive from other parties is inaccurate or unreliable, the accuracy
or effectiveness of our credit assessment and risk-based pricing
may be compromised.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

To the best of our knowledge, our Group has complied with all laws
and regulations which had a significant influence on our money lending
business during the Reporting Period (including but not limited to the
Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance
(Chapter 615 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) in all material aspects, and
that our Directors are not aware of any matters that might come to their
attention that our money lenders licence will be revoked prior to their
expiration dates. Moreover, given our successful track record in renewing
such licenses, we do not envisage any legal impediments to such renewals
in the future.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL OFFERING

Our Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 5
December 2023 with gross proceeds and net proceeds of approximately
HK$225.0 million and HK$181.2 million from the Global Offering,
respectively.

As of the date of this annual report, there was no change in the intended
use of net proceeds and the expected timeline as previously disclosed in
the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.
The following table sets forth a summary of the utilisation of the net
proceeds as of 31 December 2024:
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full utilization
of remaining
net proceeds

Unutilized
amount as of

31 December
2024

BZ

—E-NEF
+=A=1+—HB#W
AEALE

proceeds
during the
Reporting
Period

REEHR
FriSTE
ERAE

(HK$ million)
(B8AT)

ZHEA
i MG RE
FENRBREX

Enrich our technology capabilities  AnsaRH% & 306 79 22.7 By December 2026
ZEIRETZAN
Expand our loan portfolio BRETES 133.6 133.6 - -
General working capital and —REBEER 17.0 17.0 - -
general corporate purposes —REERE
Total Fay 181.2 158.5 22.7
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CUSTOMERS AND FUND PROVIDERS EFRESRME

Customers BFE

During the Reporting Period, our customers comprised individuals and ~ RAMEEIR - RAWECLEIEEARER - A
corporations and were not connected persons of the Company. WIEARRFIBFEAL ©

During the Reporting Period, our top five customers (as determined by RIREEN - RPN AAEFS REAHA A
interest income generated) accounted for approximately 3.0% (2023: WA E)GRGFEREL30%(ZE = =4 :
2.1%) of our total revenue, and aggregate value of outstanding loan  2.1% )R A AR PHREEERERBELTE
receivables of our top five customers accounted for approximately 2.6%  WER4EZELI2.6%(ZFE-=F :1.9%) °
(2023: 1.9%) of our total loan receivables.

Fund Providers EoiRME
During the Reporting Period, our major fund providers (by aggregate RIFEHN - RFINETBELREMHEE (RF &
interest expense) are as follows: FIX R IT -
Approximate
% of our
total source
of funding
(excluding
cash flow
from
Loan amount  operations) Approximate
as at 31 as at 31 Effective % of our
December December interest rate Interest interest
2024 2024  (per annum) expense expenses
3
T=A
Sr=Ff
RIB-ME (HEESRR
=8 (FEfELE EHEMH
=+-AH FBERLRE) BRA= XA
ENEE MENELN (8%) FEME BAk
(HK$'000) % (HK$'000) %
(F&T) (FATL)
DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited ERBT(ER)BRAR - N/A N/A 20,674 66.6%
TR TER
The Bank of East Asia Limited RERTERAR 351,926 71.5% 6.6% 4,628 14.9%
Sinopac Capital International Limited KESERER (B BRAF 50,091 10.2% 9.2% 3,549 11.5%
Funds Lending Inc. Funds Lending Inc. 89,885 18.3% 5.1% 2,185 7.0%
Total @t 491,902 100.0% 31,036 100.0%
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Share capital of our Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DEBENTURES

Our Group did not issue any debentures during the Reporting Period.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statements of
changes in equity and note 28(b) to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s distributable reserves were
HK$688.9 million.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

Our Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2024 are set out in Note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements.

M~ BRI IREYS=

AEEME - R RRENEBFBHRES

B HRARMI 13 -
[EEN
ARDBRAR RS AR B BRI R A B
BaREM 21 -

(EU X

AEBERREPA L BB TEMEEE -

et
AEERAAABERBRE PR BHEED
BIBANGRA B BB R LGS BB REN
28(b) °

] o kAR
RZZ_NME+_A=+—0  X2FHH
IR ER688.9H BB T °

BERER

AR - BERE A AR TESE
AHESE -

RITERRAMEER

REBRA-ZT-FE+-A=+—HHIETE
R EAMEEFERNG A IS HRERNE24
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Directors’ Report & E&

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the major subsidiaries held by the Company are set out in note
12 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report, the
Directors are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lee Kun Tai Steven
Ms. Wong Cheuk Sze

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lee Sheung Shing
Ms. Lee Pik Tsong
Ms. Chan Wing Sze
Ms. Kan Pui Yan

Independent Non-executive Directors

Prof. Hung Wai Man JP
Mr. Mak Wing Sum Alvin
Mr. Leung Ka Cheung

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, at every annual general meeting
of the Company one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but
not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director, including those appointed for a specified term, shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring
Director shall be eligible for re-election.

Accordingly, Mr. Lee Kun Tai Steven, Ms. Lee Pik Tsong and Mr. Mak

Wing Sum Alvin will retire and, being eligible, have offered themselves for
re-election as Directors at the AGM.
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Directors’ Report & E 2R

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of our
Company are set out on pages 21 to 26 of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Our Company has received a confirmation of independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent non-executive
Directors and our Company considers such Directors to be independent
throughout the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our executive Directors and non-executive Directors has entered
into a service contract with the Company for a term of three years starting
from the Listing Date, which may be terminated by not less than one
month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Each of our non-executive Directors and our independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for
a term of three years from the Listing Date, which may be terminated by
not less than one month’s notice in writing served by either party on the
other.

The appointments of the Directors are subject to the provisions of
retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles of Association.

None of the Directors has entered into any service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
employer within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, a permitted indemnity provision
for the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force
throughout the Reporting Period. The Company has purchased the
Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance to provide protection against
claims arising from the lawful discharge of duties by the Directors.

EERSREERE
EFERARA S RERENBEFBHNAT
WRFE21E26H

B FHITESAE

ARFERE ETRRNE3GEERIBIIE
HITEENBYMERSE - BARFRA  1©
WEHAN FHESBEEIAL -

ESRBEL

BEWITES RIIFMTEFCEBARRFR] LIRS
BH - ALMABESH=F  AJRTA—7
A5 — T ERET DR —EANEEBM T IAR
_It o

BEINITEE RB U IFRITESE EARARE]
NETH - B ETMBERAR=F - ATRIM
—FARME—ARETPR—EANESEANT
LA LE ©

EEZERABERMUETEREEHER
{EHY ISP

MEEEC BARAFEEAMERRFI LT
AR—FARHEEIRIEMBAELRECK
ERBERRIN VERIRBEE 4 -

B EREIRI

RIBABERAN - SESNamEENEE
WEGXEMDEN  TRREARNFELE
Mo ARRICBEEERERABRERER &
E=EAEBTREMSIENRERMRE
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
by the Company or existed during Reporting Period.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, we employed 61 employees (31 December
2023: 62). Our employee benefit expenses for the Reporting Period were
HK$40.8 million (2023: HK$40.7 million).

The Company adopted a share scheme which was effective upon the
Listing, and employees are eligible for share options under such scheme.
For details, see the section headed “Share Scheme” below.

The Group adopts a remuneration policy covering the position, duties

and performance of our employees. The remuneration of our employees
include salary, overtime allowance, bonus and various subsidies.
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Directors’ Report & E &R

DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which (a) were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which he/she
was taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b)
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in
the register referred to therein; or (c) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as
follows:

Long position in the Shares

Capacity/nature of interest

54/ BEHE

Name of Director

ESff

EERESTHRABRKND - 156
RO REERTFNEZRAR

RZZZWF+—A=+—H  EERAAF
RRTBRABRRARAREMBEE(EERL
(FBHLEEIERGIEXVED) AR, - HBERMHD
REEZBPHER@QRB(EFLBEGI)E
XVERE7 87 BB A F & AN B K Bk XX P 4
SRR (BRERBE(ESZ LB GD)A B F
X EFSR REA R SORR) + KO)IR
E(EF LB IEDI)FE352{FRE B % 5D
Frig BRI R + HOREFESTA
ARG AN R MR TR R SORRINT

RERGOWER

Approximate
percentage of interest
in our Company

BARDRABHNBAE L

Number of Shares®

Rega0

Chairman Lee®@ Interest in a controlled corporation and interest jointly 375,000,000 (L) 75%
X F held with other persons

AZIREB AR B E M A+ AR B ER
Mrs. Lee® Interest in a controlled jointly held with corporation and 375,000,000 (L) 75%
FRK interest other persons

REIEEE R R R EE M A T HRERFE R
Mr. Steven Lee® Founder of a discretionary trust, interest in a controlled 375,000,000 (L) 75%

(1) FRILIZTEARBRGALTE -

FIRFFAED corporation and interest jointly held with other persons
PRETMENIA - RIITEE R R EE M A+
BES¥EN:0k: £
Notes:
(1) The letter “L” denotes a person’s long position in our Shares.
2) Chairman Lee, Mrs. Lee and Mr. Steven Lee are family members of one another.

Therefore, pursuant to the SFO, they are deemed to be interested in any Shares
in which one another is interested through their controlled corporation, Konew
Group.

East Asia International Trustees Limited as the trustee of the Lee Trust (through
its direct wholly-owned company World Wealth Investment Development
Limited) holds the entire issued share capital of SW Lee Limited. The Lee Trust is
a discretionary trust established by Mr. Steven Lee (as the settlor) and East Asia
International Trustees Limited (as the trustee), for the benefit of Mr. Steven Lee
and his family members. Accordingly, each of Mr. Steven Lee, World Wealth
Investment Development Limited and East Asia International Trustees Limited
is deemed to be interested in the equity interests held by SW Lee Limited.
Chairman Lee and Mrs. Lee, being family members of Mr. Steven Lee, will also
be deemed to be interested in the equity interests of Mr. Steven Lee in SW Lee
Limited.

2) FFE  FAKXRFIRF IS LR M BREA
8 o AUt - RIFGEFRBEIRA)  BEHR
BB B Konew Group R I 1
BRI R (P E s -

KD ESFEAR A FIERFLIEFERFEA
(B iBHREEEE L E]World Wealth Investment
Development Limited ) #¥ & SW Lee Limited
PEHEFTRA - FRIEEEHFRF XL
(IERMERTA) B GBI E7H R A A
(TERZFEN ) BRI AEREZ G S0 F
MR T B EEISEE o Ut - FIRFSLA-
World Wealth Investment Development Limited
RE BB (ST AR AIE B #1E BRSW Lee
Limited BT IRIEF FE B ¥ o (ERFIRTIHALE
HIZGKE - FFERFAXTHEBRER
TS AERSW Lee LimiteddIRAEF B 1E 7S ©
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (CONTINUED)

Long position in the ordinary shares of associated

EERERSITHRAERERS
IR 10 K EREE

1HEE
R MK R (&)

REBZESBERNTR

corporation
Percentage
of interest
in the
Associated associated
Name of Director corporation Capacity/nature of interest corporation
1R ER
EEpE ML 5,/ REmtE EZao
Chairman Lee® Konew Group Beneficial owner and interest jointly held with other persons 100%
EEEO
B AREEMA T HFARANER
Konew Fintech Interest in a controlled corporation and interest jointly held with 100%
other persons
RERSREHR REEEE R R EE M A T HRRARER
Mrs Lee Konew Group Beneficial owner and interest jointly held with other persons 100%
FARRD
EafA AREEM AT HRBANER
Konew Fintech Interest in a controlled corporation and interest jointly held with 100%
other persons
FEXRT R REEE R R EE A T HAFAOER
Mr. Steven Lee™ Konew Group Interest in a controlled corporation and interest jointly held with 100%
FIRFEED other persons
REEEE IR R A T HRFAER
Konew Fintech Interest in a controlled corporation and interest jointly held with 100%
other persons
X TR REEEE R R EE M A T RRRARER
Notes: HisE -
(1) Konew Group is held by Chairman Lee, Mrs. Lee, SW Lee Limited and Mr. Edwin (1) Konew Group 1 F £ & + X XL » SW Lee

Lee as to 25.0%, 25.0%, 28.5% and 21.5% respectively, and Konew Fintech is
wholly owned by Konew Group. Chairman Lee, Mrs. Lee, Mr. Steven Lee and
Mr. Edwin Lee are family members of one another. Therefore, pursuant to the
SFO, they are deemed to be interested in any shares in Konew Group in which
one another is interested.

East Asia International Trustees Limited as the trustee of the Lee Trust (through
its direct wholly-owned company World Wealth Investment Development
Limited) holds the entire issued share capital of SW Lee Limited. The Lee Trust is
a discretionary trust established by Mr. Steven Lee (as the settlor) and East Asia
International Trustees Limited (as the trustee), for the benefit of Mr. Steven Lee
and his family members. Accordingly, each of Mr. Steven Lee, World Wealth
Investment Development Limited and East Asia International Trustees Limited
is deemed to be interested in the equity interests held by SW Lee Limited.
Chairman Lee and Mrs. Lee, being family members of Mr. Steven Lee, will also
be deemed to be interested in the equity interests of Mr. Steven Lee in SW Lee
Limited.
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Directors’ Report & E &R

DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (CONTINUED)

Long position in the ordinary shares of associated
corporation (Continued)

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as
at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company has any interests and/or short positions in the Shares, underlying
Shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which he/she
was taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein or which were required, pursuant to the Model
Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
Reporting Period was our Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, our Company or any
other body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their spouses or
children under the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for the
equity or debt securities of our Company or any other body corporate or
had exercised any such right.

EERESTHRAERKND - 156
B R EEERVERRKR (E)

REEEZEESBERNT R (F)

B EXHEBEEIINRBEERAA Eé:g
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS UNDER THE SFO AND
FOR SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

So far as our Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2024, the following
persons (other than the Directors or chief executive) had an interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as required in the
register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:

Name of Shareholder Capacity/nature of interest
IR EE B RNt
Konew Group®@ Interest in a controlled corporation
R EEHNER
Konew Fintech Beneficial owner
XL RRHR E=EAA
SW Lee Limited® Interest in a controlled corporation
R EERNER
World Wealth Investment Interest in controlled corporation
Development Limited® REZEEEN RS
East Asia International Trustee of a trust
Trustees Limited® EFERETEA

REBBREFERRFS
Notes:
(1) The Letter “L” denotes a person’s long position in our Shares.

2) Konew Group is held by Chairman Lee, Mrs. Lee, Mr. Steven Lee and Mr. Edwin
Lee as to 25.0%, 25.0%, 28.5% and 21.5% respectively. Konew Group in
interested in the equity interests of the Company through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Konew Fintech.

3) East Asia International Trustees Limited as the trustee of the Lee Trust (through
its direct wholly-owned company World Wealth Investment Development
Limited) holds the entire issued share capital of SW Lee Limited. The Lee Trust is
a discretionary trust established by Mr. Steven Lee (as the settlor) and East Asia
International Trustees Limited (as the trustee), for the benefit of Mr. Steven Lee
and his family members.

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2024, our Directors are not
aware of any persons (other than the Directors or chief executive) who
had an interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.
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ITAL(EERERTERABRINRIRH K
FERARR 1D A IR IEGEHF R A E 150 )5 336
EBETF BN MARTR S MER AR ¢

Approximate
percentage of

Number of interest in our
Shares® Company

R R FREED

BRGEEO BHOBF DL
375,000,000 (L) 75%
375,000,000 (L) 75%
106,875,000 (L) 21.4%
106,875,000 (L) 21.4%
106,875,000 (L) 21.4%

wisz -
(1) FELIFFEAREGHEE -
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS IR REH £ 177 5%

During the Reporting Period, the Company had not entered into any  REREHIA - ANA T30 M ET 7 (I AR RE D48 177
equity-linked agreement. & e

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED BE -  HEREBLO mHES
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or  RAEREHIR - ANA T & EF A E A T EE
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities (including sale of treasury & - HEHKBELOAATFA LHEH(BFEH

shares (as defined under the Listing Rules)) during the Reporting Period. EBTERMD(EER EMHEL])) -
PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS BriERE

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association B4k =2 MAIkFH S S XMW BEBELE
or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige our Company to offer  JRFEHIFRTE - ERARRN THRLL AR B IR IR
new Shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders. ERENKRG -
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

To avoid any actual or potential competition between the business of the
Controlling Shareholders and our Company, each of Chairman Lee, Mrs.
Lee, Mr. Steven Lee, Mr. Edwin Lee, Konew Group and Konew Fintech, as
a covenantor (each a “Covenantor”, and collectively the “Covenantors”)
provided non-competition undertakings in favour of us, pursuant to
which each of the Covenantors has, among other things, irrevocably and
unconditionally undertaken with our Company that at any time during
the Relevant Period (as defined below), subject to certain exceptions, each
of the Covenantors shall not, and shall procure its close associates (other
than members of our Group) not to, directly or indirectly, engage in, invest
in, participate in, or attempt to participate in, whether on its own account
or with each other or in conjunction with or on behalf of any person or
company, any business directly or indirectly in competition with or likely to
be in competition with the Unsecured Loan Business.

For the above purpose, the “Relevant Period” means the period
commencing from 5 December 2023 and until the earlier of: (i) the date
on which our Shares cease to be listed on the Stock Exchange; and (ii)
the date on which such Covenantors (together with their respective close
associates) cease to be our Controlling Shareholders.

The aforesaid undertaking does not apply with respect to the holding of or
being interested in, directly or indirectly, by the Covenantors and/or their
respective close associates, any shares in any company which conducts or
is engaged in, directly or indirectly, any business directly or indirectly in
competition with or likely to be in competition with the Unsecured Loan
Business, provided that:

i. such shares are listed on a recognised stock exchange; and
ii. the total number of such shares held by any of the Covenantors
and/or their respective close associates does not amount to more

than 10% of the issued shares of that class of such company in
question.
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Directors’ Report & E &R

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS (CONTINUED)
Right of First Refusal

Each of the Covenantors further undertakes with our Company that, if any
new business opportunity relating to the Unsecured Loan Business arises
(the “Unsecured Loan Business Opportunity”):

i. the Covenantors shall direct to our Company any such Unsecured
Loan Business Opportunity by serving our Company a written
notice. Such written notice shall include all information together
with any documents possessed by it or its close associates in
respect of the Unsecured Loan Business Opportunity to enable our
Company to evaluate the merit of the Unsecured Loan Business
Opportunity; and

ii. provide all reasonable assistance as requested by our Company
to enable our Group to secure the Unsecured Loan Business
Opportunity.

Upon receipt of the written notice from the Covenantors, our Board
(other than the interested Director, if any) will consider whether it is in
the interest of our Company and our Shareholders as a whole to pursue
the Unsecured Loan Business Opportunity. The Covenantors and their
respective close associates (other than members of our Group) will not be
entitled to pursue the Unsecured Loan Business Opportunity unless the
Unsecured Loan Business Opportunity is declined by us, and the principal
terms of which they and/or their close associates (other than members of
our Group) invest or participate are no more favorable than those made
available by our Company.

For details of the non-competition undertakings, please refer to the
Prospectus. The Covenantors fully complied with the above non-
competition undertakings throughout the Reporting Period.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Throughout the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or their respective
associates has engaged in or had any interest in any business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
Unsecured Loan Business.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, we donated approximately HK$500,000 to
charitable organisation (2023: Nil).

SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

During the Reporting Period, our Company was not engaged in any
litigation or arbitration of material importance and no litigation or claim
of material importance is known to the Directors to be pending or
threatening against our Company.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS, WARRANTS
AND OTHER SIMILAR RIGHTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company had no convertible securities,
options, warrants and other similar rights.
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Directors’ Report EE &

SHARE SCHEME

The Share Scheme was effective from 5 December 2023. During the
Reporting Period, no Awards (as defined below) has been granted, agreed
to be granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share Scheme.

1) Purpose

To incentivise and reward an Eligible Person (as defined below) for
their contribution to our Group and to align their interests with
that of our Company so as to encourage them to work towards
enhancing the value of our Company.

2) Participants

Any person of any one of the following classes of participants
("Eligible Person”):

i. any director and employee of any member of our Group
("Employee Participants”);

ii. any director or employee of any of the holding companies,
fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of our
Company; and

iii. any consultant, supplier or service provider who provides
services to the Group on a continuing and recurring basis
in its ordinary and usual course of business which are in
the interests of the long-term growth of the Group (but
excluding professional service providers who provide
assurance or are required to performance their services with
impartiality and objectivity) (the “Service Provider”).

The basis of eligibility of any of the participants shall be determined
by the Board from time to time. In assessing the eligibility of
any participant, the Board will consider all relevant factors as
appropriate, including, among others, (i) work performance; (ii)
years of service; and (iii) potential or actual contribution to the
business of our Group.
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SHARE SCHEME (CONTINUED)

3)

4)

5)

Total number of Shares available for issue under the
Share Scheme

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued pursuant to
all Awards to be granted under the Share Scheme shall not exceed
50,000,000, i.e. 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at
the date of this annual report. The number of options and awards
available for grant under the scheme mandate and the service
provider sublimit on 31 December 2024 were 50,000,000 and
5,000,000, respectively.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of options and
awards granted under all schemes of the issuer during the financial
year divided by the weighted average number of shares of the
relevant class in issue for the year/period is nil.

Types of Awards

An Award may be in the form of:

i. an award which vests in the form of the right to subscribe
for and/or to be issued such number of Award Shares as
the scheme administrator may determine at the Scheme
Issue Price (as defined below) in accordance with the terms
of the Share Scheme (a “Share Award"); or

ii. an award which vests in the form of the right to subscribe
for such number of Award Shares as the scheme
administrator may determine during the exercise period at
the Scheme Exercise Price (as defined below) in accordance
with the terms of the Share Scheme (a “Share Option”).

Maximum entitlement of each participant

No Awards shall be granted to any Eligible Person under the
Share Scheme and any other schemes of our Company which, if
exercised, would result in such Eligible Person becoming entitled
to subscribe for such number of Shares as, when aggregated
with the total number of Shares already issued or to be issued to
him under all Awards granted to him (excluding any options and
awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the scheme) in the
12-month period up to and including the date of offer of such
Awards, exceeds 1% of the Shares in issue at such date.
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Directors’ Report & E &R

SHARE SCHEME (CONTINUED)

6)

7)

Acceptance of an offer of Awards

Awards shall be open for acceptance for such period (not
exceeding 30 days inclusive of, and from, the grant date) as the
Board may determine and notify to the Eligible Person concerned
provided that no such offer shall be open for acceptance after the
expiry of the duration of the Share Scheme. A grantee may accept
an Award by giving written notice of their acceptance to the
scheme administrator, together with remittance in favour of the
Company of any consideration payable upon grant of the Award.
An Award may be accepted in whole or in part provided that it
must be accepted in respect of a board lot for dealing in Shares or
a multiple thereof. To the extent that an Award or part thereof is
not accepted within the time and in the manner indicated in this
section, the portion not accepted shall be deemed to have been
irrevocably declined and shall automatically lapse.

Issue Price and Exercise Price

For Awards which take the form of Share Awards, the price
per Share a grantee is required to pay for obtaining the Shares
comprising the Share Awards (the “Issue Price”) for the exercise of
such Share Awards shall be such price determined by the scheme
administrator in their absolute discretion and notified to the
grantee in the Award Letter. For the avoidance of doubt, the Board
or the scheme administrator may determine the Issue Price to be at
nil consideration.

For Awards which take the form of Share Options, the price
per Share at which a grantee may subscribe for Shares upon
the exercise of a Share Option awarded under the Scheme (the
“Exercise Price”) shall be such price as determined by the Board or
scheme administrator and notified to a grantee and which shall not
be less than the higher of:

i. the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant,
which must be a business day; and

ii. the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant.
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SHARE SCHEME (CONTINUED)

8)

9)

10)

Duration of Share Scheme

The Share Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten
years commencing on the Listing Date (i.e. till 4 December 2033),
after which period no further Awards will be granted but the
provisions of the Share Scheme shall remain in full force and effect
to the extent necessary to give effect to the vesting and exercise
of any Awards granted prior thereto which are at that time or
become thereafter capable of exercise under the Share Scheme,
or otherwise to the extent as may be required in accordance with
the provisions of the Share Scheme. As at the date of this annual
report, the remaining life of the Share Scheme is approximately 8
years 7 months.

Time of vesting

The Board or the scheme administrator may in respect of each
Award and subject to all applicable laws, rules and regulations
determine such vesting criteria and conditions or periods for
vesting of the Award in its sole and absolute discretion. The
relevant vesting date of any Award shall be set out in the Award
Letter. The vesting date in respect of any Award shall be not less
than 12 months from the grant date, provided that for Employee
Participants, the vesting date may be less than 12 months from the
grant date (including on the grant date) in certain circumstances
as provided under the Share Scheme. A Share Option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Scheme at any
time after the date upon which the Share Option is deemed to be
granted and accepted and prior to the expiry of 10 years from that
date. The period during which a Share Option may be exercised
will be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, save that
no Share Option may be exercised more than 10 years after it has
been granted.

Payment on grant

The Board or scheme administrator may determine in their absolute
discretion the amount (if any) payable on application or acceptance
of an Award and the period within which any such payments must
be made.
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Directors’ Report & E &R

MATERIAL INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS" AND
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS IN TRANSACTIONS,
AGREEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Connected Transactions”
below, there was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
in relation to the Company’s business, to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party, subsisting at the end or at any time during the
Reporting Period, and in which a Director or an entity connected with a
Director had, whether directly or indirectly, a material interest, nor was
there any other transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in
relation to the Company’s business between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Material related party transactions of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 are detailed in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements, and none of the related party transactions stated therein
constitutes a connected transaction or continuing connected transaction
which was subject to any of the reporting, announcement or independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The Company has confirmed that it had complied with the disclosure
requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules throughout the
Reporting Period.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Continuing connected transactions

Details of the continuing connected transactions conducted during
the Reporting Period that are subject to the annual review and annual
reporting requirements are set out as below:

On 24 March 2023, K Cash Express entered into an occupation license
with smartME (the “Occupation License”), pursuant to which K Cash
Express, as the assignee of 17/F, Wheelock House, 20 Pedder Street,
Central (the “17/F Office Premises”), has agreed to grant smartME a
contractual license to use and occupy 50% of the 17/F Office Premises (the
“17/F Office Premises Shared Portion”) from 1 April 2023.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
Continuing connected transactions (Continued)

Chairman Lee and Mrs. Lee are indirectly interested in 56.8% of
smartME’s shares. By virtue of being a majority-controlled company (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of the Lee’s Family, smartME is an associate
of the Lee’s Family and a connected person of the Company, and the
transactions contemplated under the Occupation License constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

Based on the tenancy agreement entered into between K Cash Express
and the landlord of the 17/F Office Premises, which is an independent
third party, K Cash Express was allowed to share the 17/F Office Premises
Shared Portion with smartME. Having considered that the monthly license
fee payable by smartME under the Occupation License is comparable to
the prevailing market rents of comparable properties in similar locations,
we have granted a contractual license to smartME to use and occupy the
17/F Office Premises Shared Portion. Entering into the Occupation License
is consistent with normal commercial terms and provide us with a stable
income by fully utilizing additional office space leased by K Cash Express.

The annual cap in respect of the transactions contemplated under the
Occupation License during the Reporting Period was HK$4,533,000, and
the aggregate amount paid/payable by smartME to the Group under the
Occupation License during such period amounted to HK$4,474,000.

Annual review of continuing connected transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed
the continuing connected transactions set out above are:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
2. on normal commercial terms or better; and
3. entered into relevant agreements on terms that are fair and

reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Annual review of continuing connected transactions
(Continued)

The auditor of the Company (the “Auditor”) was engaged to report on our
continued connected transaction in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The auditor of the Company has reviewed these transactions pursuant
to the Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, and confirmed to the Board that
nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that the
disclosed continuing connected transactions:

a. have not been approved by the Company’s board of directors;

b. were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group for transactions involving the provision of
goods or services by the Group;

C. were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with
the relevant agreements governing such transactions; and

d. have exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company.

The Board acknowledged the receipt of the auditors’ confirmation letter
which confirms the matters as required by Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had, together with the management and the
Auditor, reviewed the accounting principles and policies adopted by our
Group and the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Our Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by our Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report
of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to our Company and within
knowledge of the Directors, our Company has maintained a sufficient
public float as required under the Listing Rules throughout the Reporting
Period and up to the date of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

We believe our continued growth rests on integrating social values into
our business and are committed to being a responsible corporate citizen.
We are committed to promoting corporate social responsibility and
sustainable development and integrating it into all major aspects of our
business operations. We have implemented an ESG policy, which provides
guidelines to the management of the Group’s environmental, social and
climate-related issues. During the Reporting Period, the Group was in
compliance with all relevant ESG laws and regulations in material aspects.
Further details of the Group’s environmental policies and performance,
please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report of this
annual report.

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC"”) was appointed as the Auditor for the
Reporting Period. The accompanying financial statements prepared in
accordance with HKFRs have been audited by PwC.

PwC shall retire at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of
PwC as the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the AGM.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of important events subsequent to the end of the Reporting Period
and up to the date of this annual report are disclosed in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, there is no material event affecting the Group
need to be reported to the Shareholders that has occurred after the end
of the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report.

By Order of the Board

Lee Sheung Shing

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Hong Kong, 19 March 2025
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BRI - MERESRE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

K Cash Corporation Limited (the “Company” or “we"”), is delighted
to present its 2024 Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
“Report”) to demonstrate the philosophy, management, actions and
achievements of the Company in Environmental, Social and Governance
("ESG") aspects.

Reporting Period

The Report covers the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024
(“the Reporting Period”), which is consistent with the fiscal year covered
by our 2024 annual report.

Reporting Scope

Unless otherwise specified, the Report and relevant environmental and
social key performance indicators (“KPIs”) disclosed in this Report apply to
all our operations and offices located in Hong Kong, which is the same as
the coverage of the annual report.

Reporting Standards

The Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“HKEX"). The Report follows the reporting principles of

“materiality”, “quantitative”, “balance”, and “consistency” to ensure the
authenticity and accuracy of the content, fully reflecting the status of the
Company's management and achievements in ESG aspects and providing
readers with valuable information.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT (CONTINUED)
Reporting Standards (Continued)

BN & (5F)
B SRR 2E ()

Description

P

Reporting principles

EHREA

Materiality The Company has identified material sustainability issues crucial to its development
through ongoing stakeholder communication.

B2 AARBBHERFNEBR B EEREHEENEAIFEEREE

Quantitative The Company records and discloses quantitative ESG performance indicators on an
ongoing basis, and interprets the data disclosed in this Report.

E1t ARRFELHE S BEBEEMHNRE £ NERERIER - YRR E P REEPTH5E
B -

Balance The Report reflects objective facts and discloses both positive and negative information.

& ABERMEEBREE  WRAKKEFAREBEEL -

Consistency
are generally consistent each year.

—E Br=BHAIN -

Information Source and Reliability Statement

All the information, data and cases mentioned in this Report are collected
from the Company's statistical reports and relevant documents. The
Company guarantees that this Report is free from any false records or
misleading statements and is responsible for its authenticity, accuracy, and
completeness.

Reporting Language
This Report is published in Chinese and English. Should there be any
discrepancies between the two versions, the English one shall prevail.

Access to This Report

This Report and other information related to the Company's sustainable
development activities are available on the websites of the Company and
the HKEX.
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Unless otherwise stated, the Company ensures that the reporting scope and methods
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ESG MANAGEMENT STATEMENT FROM THE
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) considers the Company's sustainable
development to be paramount. It takes on the responsibility of reviewing
material ESG issues related to the Company and holds meetings at least
annually to discuss and review ESG issues. The Board is the highest
decision-making and supervisory body of the Company regarding
sustainability and ESG management.

The Company has set up the Sustainability Steering Group (the “SSG")
during the Reporting Period. It has adjusted strategies based on business
composition and the Company's development stage to respond to
identified climate-related risks and opportunities, refined the internal
climate risk management mechanism, and developed corresponding
climate risk management measures. Paying attention to the impact of its
operations on the environment, the Company has steadily implemented
green operations, strengthened energy conservation and developed
reduction, and promoted green development.

Acknowledging the value of stakeholders' insights and opinions, the
Company ensures that effective communication channels are maintained
with key stakeholders. This facilitates discussions on our principal ESG issues
and potential ESG risks and promotes the continuous refinement of ESG
and climate-related strategies and policy frameworks. For more details,
please refer to the Materiality Assessment section.

Seeing talent as a core competitiveness of our development, during the
Reporting Period, the Company ensured employees' rights and interests
in all respects and continued to put in place employee care measures.
While enhancing employees' sense of happiness of sense of belonging, it
realized common growth between employees and the Company.

This report provides a detailed account of the environmental, social and
governance issues which have been scrutinized and sanctioned by the
Board on 19 March 2025.

EEENRE  HEREREER
Gz
EFR((EFEDRAFAATHERREH
BE - HEARTAWNAARNEARS - 1t
BEREARBNAL  USFRTEL—RE
BUTRRRARE  HEREAHE - EF
FASDAEMTRERRARRE  HER
ERERNREREREERIE -

ARRERBERAXRZAIHEEREG /A
([AIFEBREBE/ME]) - RIBFEBAE LA
N ERMERAREL D B RIEAERER K
HERERE  TENMRIERAREEES] - I
HEARNRIERREIEEE - ARRIE
EBHRENTE  RIERRREE @ %
ERREREE - WHEEAREER

ARBRRAFNERBRLRELNEE  BRE
FEBRSNEETANEBENRE  BHRK
MAEERE  HEREARENANBLER
B e kEaRREANR  LERERE
& RER AR RIREBRELBRERT
BikE - BAEZFE - B2MAERMRE—

B o

AT BEMERONZOEF N - RBEHA
BEEE8

ARR2STUREEERS  KEZEREEHW
RHEE - BAIRTERE=RRMEER - R

EREEEARBMARKE

AREFHMRE  HERELAZE  ZFZE
EHEFEN_T_AF=ATNATERH
JE o

K CASH REBERAT 20245

55

J



56

Environmental, Social and Governance Report iz -

FULFILLING SUSTAINABILITY DEVELOPMENT
RESPONSIBILITIES

ESG Management Approach and Strategy

Based on global ESG development trends and changes in domestic and
international macroeconomic conditions, stakeholder communication
results and our strategic development plans, we promptly optimise and
adjust our ESG management policies, strategies and internal management
systems to ensure more scientific, systematic and standardized ESG
management and provide a policy foundation for the Company's
sustainable development practices. During the Reporting Period, we
refined our “Environmental, Social and Governance Policy” and released
“Terms of Reference of SSG”. This improved communication with
stakeholders and demonstrated our commitment to ESG management.
As part of this commitment, we joined the “ESG Pledge” initiative,
demonstrating our dedication to taking concrete actions in environmental
protection, social responsibility, and corporate governance.
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FULFILLING SUSTAINABILITY DEVELOPMENT
RESPONSIBILITIES (CONTINUED)

ESG Management Framework

The Company is committed to long-term, high-quality, sustainable
development to create value for all stakeholders continuously. The Board,
as the highest decision-making body for ESG and climate-related issues
management, is fully responsible for overseeing the Company's overall
sustainability performance and developing ESG management policies and
strategies to ensure that appropriate and effective management policies
are in place. In addition, to continuously enhance the appropriateness
and effectiveness of ESG management policies and strategies, the Board
also participates in assessing, prioritising and managing important ESG
issues, and reviews the results of materiality assessments and the ranking
of various issues, so as to clarify the focus of ESG and climate-related risk
management. This will enable the Company to maintain a sustained and
specific focus on relevant issues in future ESG management efforts in
response to the concerns of various stakeholders.

To effectively supervise and implement consumer protection and ESG
and climate-related matters of the Company, we have established the
SSG, which is appointed by the Board and includes the head of each
department of the Company. The SSG reports to the Board to provide
direction on developing and implementing the Company's sustainability
strategy, ensuring that ESG and climate-related considerations are
integrated into the Company's business operations and decision-
making processes. It assisted the Boards in fulfilling ESG management
responsibilities, practically promoted the Company's ESG management,
and actively enhanced the Company's reputation in ESG actions.

The key department or division within the Company is responsible for
identifying its own ESG issues under the guidance of SSG, including ESG
risks and designing, implementing its own and monitoring the compliance
of such relevant ESG policy as well as business continuity plans for ESG
and climate-related crises.

BITAHERRET(E)

BIR - HEREREEER
ARBPRERTREBEINAIRKEERE K&
RBRNDEREEE - EARR - HERE
SBARRIEMERREETENRERREE - B

SEHMAREREARRNEBEAREERE
HoAUHERE HEREABEERRER
B - HEREEBERAEE R o 1o
RFBERITRE 18 MEREEBR MR
MEEERARE  EFEN2HEEERE
HekERZEENE BEFFRER A
B EREHENERNSERENRF - 1t
MEBRE L@ REAULRREERRE
BEERE - EARBERKERE - @ MEAR
MERE TERRERE T T RIZ RS - W&
ERNENET -

REBEERERARNTIHEERENIRE -
HekERUEREEHEER - R
BERBE/)VE REFSZRME KEBEXR
NAEHHALTE - IFERRES ENES
GER - /EEREHBAR RN AIFEERE
BEER TR - BERIRE - e REAA KRR
MR E AR B AN R R H RSB FORE
BER - AR EFTEETRE e RER
EERE - VEHPARRNERE - HEME
AER  BERREAARRERE  HEREA
TEHHBE -

EAHERRES/ MENEET  ARFEE
IO MR ERMAIEAGOIRE - HERE
AEE(BRERE e ERRER) U ME
A BREARSRE e MERBR - 1E
ZHREBRROETHERARERE B RE
AR SRIRIBR A B R SEE LA S -

K CASH REBERAT 20245

57

J



58

Environmental, Social and Governance Report (835 ~ 1+ & M EARE

FULFILLING SUSTAINABILITY DEVELOPMENT
RESPONSIBILITIES (CONTINUED)

ESG Management Framework (Continued)

For instance, the Administration Department should prioritise initiatives to
conserve water, reduce paper usage, and save electricity. The Legal and
Compliance Departments focus on governance matters, ensuring that
regulatory requirements are met, and ethical standards are maintained.
Similarly, the Human Capital Department places particular emphasis on the
social aspects of ESG, such as employee well-being, diversity and inclusion,
and labour practices. Meanwhile, the FinTech Department remains
especially vigilant regarding cybersecurity, safeguarding the integrity and
privacy of financial transactions and customer data. Should any ESG issues
arise, the relevant department or division must report them to the SSG
for the prompt completion of internal records. Each key department's
engagement in these specialized ESG areas should not only reflect their
unique operational roles but also contribute to the Company's broader
commitment to sustainable and responsible business practices.

The Board E=#

BITAHERRET(E)
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objectives and ESG reports;

RERRE

Assesses and defines the Company's ESG-related risks and opportunities;
ER IR AR R S
* Approves information to be disclosed, including ESG guidelines, strategies, priorities,

p
AR TRENER  BERE L@ RERES - RE  BERF  BERRE 4e

* Supervises the building of ESG risk management and internal monitoring systems.
L EERE e MERRRER NN EERFHEL o

The SSG  FHEBREBE/ A

(.

international standards;

SED R R BA B2 BB AR ZE

=N
® Assists the Board in a

Assists the Board to review and approve the Compang's ESG vision, objectives and strategy;

BEEF R RIEAATIRIRE HEREARS z &

* Oversees the implementation of the Comtpani's ESG strategy and initiatives;
EBARNAIRE N EAREE M ARE

® Monitors and reviews the Company's operations to ensure that they are in compliance
with relevant ESG policies and procedures, as well as applicable laws and regulations and

~ B Tﬁ&%mn
B EMEIER

EE R ARBNEE - UERETAERRE £ REABRENER - UNIERH

* lIdentifies, determines and evaluates climate-related risks and opportunities of the Company;
Bl HEE MAHE AR AIESEIRAR R R s
e |dentifies, assesses and determines relevant climate aspects matters that may significantly

affect the operations of the Company and/or stakeholders' interests, .
%E‘J CEHAREE AR A AR EE R S ENREREATENERRGETESE

roving the publications of the Company's annual ESG reports.

\ BHEFFIEADAFERE MG REAWMENTIE -

Key Department or Division

FEHRPIHD A

* Follows up on ESG performance;
BRI - it REARR

* |dentifies ESG risks and comprehensiv’e=ly implements the Company's ESG actions;
N 17
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* Prepares annual ESG reports
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BMRE - e RERTTE
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FULFILLING SUSTAINABILITY DEVELOPMENT
RESPONSIBILITIES (CONTINUED)

Stakeholder Engagement BH&ESHE

Attaching great importance to close communication with stakeholders, the ~ ARQA R+ D EBREF N ENBZZER BT
Company has established a regular communication mechanism to listen to  Ef/B@E#ES - BEAEEMENER - ®H 7
the voices of all stakeholders and fully understand the key issues of their EEBIFAIEEZRE o NXA|HATHR AT

concerns. The main stakeholders identified, issues of their concerns and EEH#E - HENR T ZENEREE -
communication channels are listed below:

BITAHERRET(E)

Stakeholders Concerned topics Communication and responses

BEREE

FE BrEE

Shareholders/investors

Business strategies and performances

General meetings and investors

Effective corporate governance briefings
Information transparency Financial reports and
Investment returns announcements

Company's website

R REE FRmE RRE BREREGRIKEEBRE
BREER MsmE N AE
BBER NIEER
K& D
Customers Business Procedure “K Cash” mobile App
Privacy and data security Customer Service hotline
Product and service quality assurance Social media platform
Inclusive finance Company websites
Customer surveys
S F/MEF [K Cash |F#ERIEA
LEERBERZE AR RIS 2 AR
Emm BRI E ZRE HRERYE
LESR NGRS
BFRE
Employees Remuneration and welfare General meetings
Training and development Employee surveys
Occupational health and safety Orientation
Training and workshops
(== ¥ B4R A BREARE
B R BERE
BEERETE ABR T

Media and Public

Corporate Governance
Environmental protection
Uphold human rights standards

oI R ALy

Announcements
Company websites
Press conference

BREARALT EER nE
RIRRE NSIEEDE
BT ARIRE MEENE

J
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FULFILLING SUSTAINABILITY DEVELOPMENT
RESPONSIBILITIES (CONTINUED)

Stakeholder Engagement (Continued)

BITAFEEREE(E)
R ESHEE

Stakeholders

Concerned topics

Communication and responses

& BXEE BEREE
Peer/Industry associations ¢ Industry development e Regular meetings and
correspondence
DEVESES it o TIXIRE s FHREBEIMBAER
Government and regulatory e Law and regulation e Enquires and clarifications
authorities e Compliance e Correspondence

e Employee protection e Office inspection

e Business Ethics e Compliance reporting
BT & BB o JEDINGR DI s TAREA

. BH .« B4R

s EERRE o HMBMNE

s HEERE s AMWmE

Identification and Analysis of Material Topics BEIR DT EERE

During the Reporting Period, we paid close attention to the market, RBWEHA - KAIEDBETIHS  TEREE
industrial and regulatory disclosure requirements, and identified 19  #REEZEK - WRER MOV EEER - HIETEML
material issues based on the characteristics of our business, our strategic M [A] 35 B 5 1= B B8 LA [ &+ 1) & 1) 0] 45 B 22
positioning and the best practices among peers, as well as the feedback & @ #AI19TEERZEAE o BFIERARIZRFHE
and suggestions from various stakeholders. We prioritized ESG issues for ~ 70& » IRIFERIR - 1 & RE/ARBE RN RF
this year based on their materiality to us and our stakeholders using a MEMNEZRE @ RAFERE - G RER
scientific evaluation method, and formed a materiality matrix. According R {EE X fF @ WEZ B2 LR < RIED
to the results of the analysis, we determined the disclosure highlights of ~ #T4&R + BIEEARREHNHE S LA LT
the Report and the Company's future strategic ESG goals. RIARNIRE - B REGRIEEE

Analysing Hong

Kong's macro policies
and industry trends,
studying local ESG
disclosure standards,
engaging with
stakeholders as well

as external experts,
identifying corporate
impacts, and developing
a material ESG topic
library.
DMEBERBNEREBE KR
TEBD - R
R - Mg kEARKE
R - B E ROMNB
ERARZE - BRIE
T8 UREBYUR
%5 HehELEEH
REJE ©

Based on the
Company's operational
realities, assess the
materiality of ESG
issues and implement
targeted management
strategies to address
them effectively.
BEADRMLER
H o AHERE g R
ERBENEENL - I
Biest St EIR R
B - AR AR ©
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Determining and
prioritising the topics
to be reported from
two dimensions,
namely, materiality
to the Company's
development and
materiality to
stakeholders.

PemfE = (ISR R
AIERNE RN NI
NENERE) KEE
ERAER - WRIAAE
FEIRFF °

Creating a matrix of
material topics based
on the prioritisation
results, which was
reviewed by the Board,
and disclosing topics in
the report.
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FULFILLING SUSTAINABILITY DEVELOPMENT BOIUESERESE(E)
RESPONSIBILITIES (CONTINUED)
Identification and Analysis of Material Topics (Continued) BEROWMEEZRE(E)

Environment 3%

1. Greenhouse Gases and Exhaust
Emissions Management
RERBRERIRERE
2. Energy & Resources Management
BER N EIRERE
3. Waste Management
BEYER
4. Response to Climate Change
< (18] AR
o
u

5. Employee Equality, Diversity,

and Inclusiveness

BETE  Z/LRHAR
6. Employee Attraction and

@ Development

BB RS HER

7. Employee Practices
REER
Compensations and Benefits
i Easm R

9. Occupational Health and Safety
17} BERERZS

Medium
rh

10. Customer Service

BFR%
11. Cybersecurity and Data Privacy
a Protection
Bix w2 REAMILBRE
12. Supply Chain Management
e HrEREE
13. Intellectual Property Management
HHERERE
14. Digital Transformation and
Innovation

BB AR

Materiality to stakeholders &3 HEHWEEM

Low
&®

i ; 15. C ity Investment
Low Medium High Communty Investmen
{& EF = 16. Financial Inclusion
EREE

Governance B3

17. ESG Governance Structure
RE - HEREAAEEE
18. Business Ethics and Anti-
Corruption
[EESCE v
19. Risk Management
[ 32
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STRENGTHENING GOVERNANCE AND KEEPING
COMPLIANCE

Corporate Governance

The Company conducts business in strict accordance with the Listing Rules
and the Corporate Governance Code of HKEX. Besides, the Company has
established a governance framework with well-defined authorities and
responsibilities, contributing to regulated, robust and efficient corporate
governance practices.

Four committees are set up under the Board, namely the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and the Independent
Business Opportunity Assessment Committee. They are responsible for
supervision, decision-making suggestions and consultations within specific
scopes. Additionally, we have adopted the board diversity policy which
sets out the objective and approach to achieve and maintain diversity of
the Board. For more detailed information, please refer to the Corporate
Governance Report in this Annual Report.

Anti-corruption and Business Ethics

Anti-corruption and business ethics are the cornerstone of corporate
operation and are of great significance to maintaining legality, compliance,
fair competition and good reputation. For the Company, strictly
implementing anti-corruption policy and adhering to lofty business ethics
can not only effectively prevent legal risks and ensure asset safety but also
build a good image of integrity and strengthen market competitiveness,
thus realizing sustained, stable development.

Anti-corruption

The Company strictly follows the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap.
201) in Hong Kong and other applicable laws and regulations and has
established Anti-corruption and Compliance Guidelines to prevent bribery,
manage conflicts of interest. Our core values of honesty, integrity, and
professionalism guide our actions and decisions. We strictly prohibit the
solicitation or acceptance of advantages that could influence business
decisions or create conflicts of interest. Exceptions are limited to modest
gifts or entertainment offered on a voluntary basis, subject to clear
guidelines and prior approval. We also emphasise the importance of
accountability in the use of the Company's funds, assets, and resources.
All financial transactions and procurement processes are conducted with
transparency, fairness, and competitiveness.

To manage potential conflicts of interest, we have implemented a robust
declaration process. Board members and staff are required to disclose any
private interests that may conflict with their official duties. Supervisors
and senior management review these declarations and take appropriate
actions, such as reassigning responsibilities, to mitigate risks and ensure
impartiality.
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STRENGTHENING GOVERNANCE AND KEEPING
COMPLIANCE (CONTINUED)

Anti-corruption and Business Ethics (Continued)
Anti-corruption (Continued)

To reinforce our commitment to ethical conduct, we provide regular
training and awareness programmes for all staff. These initiatives ensure
that employees understand their obligations under the Anti-corruption
and Compliance Guidelines and are equipped to identify and report
suspicious activities. We maintain a confidential reporting mechanism for
staff to raise concerns about potential corruption or irregularities without
fear of retaliation.

During the Reporting Period, we are not aware of any non-compliance
of laws and regulations concerning anti-bribery and corruption by the
Company and its employees. Moreover, we participated in Business Sector
Integrity Charter 2024 organised by the Independent Commission Against
Corruption (ICAC) which shows our commitment to uphold and enhance
the professionalism and integrity in our organisation.
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STRENGTHENING GOVERNANCE AND KEEPING
COMPLIANCE (CONTINUED)

Anti-corruption and Business Ethics (Continued)
Anti-money Laundering and Counter-terrorism Financing

We have implemented Anti-Money Laundering (AML) and Counter-
Terrorist Financing (CTF) Policy to mitigate risks, protect our business,
and contribute to the global fight against financial crime. Our AML/
CTF framework is designed in accordance with the relevant legislation in
Hong Kong, including but not limited to: The Anti-Money Laundering and
Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance, Cap.615 (“AMLO"); The Drug
Trafficking (Recovery of Proceeds) Ordinance, Cap. 405 (“DTROPO"); The
Organized and Serious Crimes Ordinance, Cap.455 (“OSCO"); The United
Nations (Anti-Terrorism Measures) Ordinance, Cap.575 (“UNATMOQO");
United Nations Sanctions Ordinance, Cap. 537 (“UNSO”); and Weapons
of Mass Destruction (Control of Provision of Services) Ordinance, Cap.
526 ("WMD(CPS)O"). We adhere to a risk-based approach, ensuring
that appropriate measures are applied to identify, assess, and manage
risks associated with money laundering, terrorist financing, and sanctions
violations. This includes rigorous customer due diligence processes,
ongoing monitoring of client activities, and enhanced due diligence for
high-risk clients, including politically exposed persons.

To strengthen our compliance efforts, we have established clear roles
and responsibilities across the organisation. The Compliance Officer (CO)
oversees the implementation and effectiveness of our AML/CTF systems,
while the Money Laundering Reporting Officer (MLRO) acts as the central
point for reporting and managing suspicious transactions. Regular
training programmes are conducted to ensure all staff are aware of their
obligations and equipped to identify and report potential risks.

Additionally, we utilize advanced technology and third-party tools to
conduct name screening and transaction monitoring. This enables us
to detect and prevent dealings with individuals or entities on sanctions
lists or those associated with high-risk jurisdictions. Our commitment to
transparency and accountability is further demonstrated through our strict
record-keeping practices, which ensure that all relevant documents are
retained for the required period.

During the Reporting Period, the Company is not aware of any breach

of laws or regulations concerning anti-money laundering and counter-
terrorist financing.
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STRENGTHENING GOVERNANCE AND KEEPING
COMPLIANCE (CONTINUED)

Anti-corruption and Business Ethics (Continued)
Whistleblowing

Our Whistleblowing Policy is designed to provide a safe and confidential
channel for individuals to raise concerns without fear of retaliation.
Improprieties may include, but are not limited to, violations of the
Employee Handbook, financial misconduct, breaches of legal or regulatory
requirements, unethical behaviour, and risks to health and safety. We
believe that empowering individuals to speak up is essential to maintaining
high standards of corporate governance and accountability.

To ensure the effectiveness of whistleblowing, we provide multiple
reporting avenues, including direct access to the Management Committee,
Human Capital Department, and Compliance Department. Reports can
be made in writing, in person, or anonymously, though we encourage
whistleblowers to identify themselves to facilitate thorough investigations.
All reports are treated with the utmost confidentiality, and every effort is
made to protect whistleblowers from reprisal or disadvantage.

The Management Committee oversees the investigation process,
ensuring that all allegations are reviewed promptly and impartially. Where
necessary, corrective actions are implemented, and matters of significant
concern are escalated to the Senior Management or relevant authorities.
Disciplinary measures, including termination of employment, are taken
against individuals found to have breached our Code of Conduct. In
cases of suspected corruption or other criminal offences, a report should
be made to the ICAC or the appropriate authorities, as considered
appropriate.

During the Reporting Period, there is no such report received.
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STRIVING TO PROVIDE HIGH-QUALITY SERVICES

The Company's loan product portfolio is meticulously designed to
cater to subprime borrowers who may encounter financial difficulties,
urgent monetary needs, or unforeseen costs. By leveraging advanced
technologies, we offer unsecured credit including loan application, credit
assessment, drawdown and loan repayment. The Company has three
distinct offerings: Unsecured Property Owner Loans, Personal Loans and
SME Loans.

Due to the business nature of the Company, our products and services
principally involve personal loan and related financial services. Product
recalls due to health and safety reasons, product quality assurance process
and recalls are not applicable to our business and the nature of our
products provided, therefore no disclosure will be made.

Promoting Technology Empowerment

The Company has leveraged a diverse range of technologies to modernise
and optimise both customer-facing and internal processes. Front-
end tools have been deployed to digitalise the entire credit cycle, from
application to repayment, thereby enhancing the overall user experience.
Concurrently, back-end systems utilize advanced technologies such as
artificial intelligence (Al) and business process automation to streamline
risk management and improve business workflows. This technological
integration is supported by the hybrid cloud-based K Cash GO Platform,
which serves as a foundation for the Company's pursuit of operational
excellence.

By embedding technology into the lending process, the Company has
established a distinct advantage over traditional money lenders, achieving
a more efficient, digital, and automated system. This technological edge
enables more comprehensive credit assessments, heightened operational
efficiency, precise risk management and control, as well as reduced
overhead and operational costs.
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STRIVING TO PROVIDE HIGH-QUALITY SERVICES
(CONTINUED)

Promoting Technology Empowerment (Continued)

K Cash GO Platform
The K Cash GO Platform is a proprietary central operating system that K Cash GO & A=A RIBEERS - BERH
integrates and automates the loan lifecycle, from application submission 1R EHFREREEEREmBARNES LB
to loan management. This platform is a cornerstone of our digital &t - Z T & ARMEFEEAFIRHER @ &
transformation strategy, enabling us to provide efficient, secure, and  FFIgeIRE SN - T2 RIAB BEHNEZIR

customer-centric loan services. 7 o

BHRBBERS (B)

{RERH Bl BE (4E)
K Cash GO¥£ &

The K Cash GO Platform optimises the loan process, encompassing application submission,

@<©® approval, and disbursement. For example, our 24/7 loan product allows customers to
é) OT experience a rapid and secure journey, receiving loan offers within 45 seconds of application
® @

submission and completing the cash-out process in just 12 minutes. This automation
minimises the need for manual intervention, reduces errors, and significantly shortens
processing times, enhancing our capacity to serve more customers efficiently.

Comprehensive
End-to-End Loan

Automation
2 H i 2 b K Cash GO ABLEHRIR * BIFRRBH - ERREW - fifn - 2RBEERERTAE
SRABI PIRERER2MBEH - NEX BB RASD NI AKE ST - WREE129BRRR
REMIE - ZEBERBERAIEREAFNIANTR - BDHER - WARERCEIERME - 15
BEMSBRBE S ZFHEES
The platform incorporates the Intelligent Dynamic Credit Matrix (IDCM), which combines
.o external credit data with behavioural analytics to assess customer creditworthiness. The IDCM
F{C}}? uses machine learning algorithms to analyse factors such as repayment patterns, income
=il sources, and spending behaviours, generating comprehensive credit scores. This data-driven
Advanced Risk approach allows us to offer tailored loan products while mitigating default risks effectively.
Management
FERBEE

Eﬁi

ZPEBAEEDEEERE(IDCM)  BEINBEEEHATADMUFAETFEE
IDCMER#EREBREEZNTERRN - WAKRIBETAZRE EMELZHN(EE
FEo o WERERTNARRFIREMRHEES EHNERER - RSBRHEEQRR -

The platform provides real-time insights into loan performance, customer behaviour, and
risk indicators. For instance, it generates alerts for overdue payments or suspicious activities,
enabling proactive risk mitigation. The platform also offers data visualisation tools, allowing

Real-Time management to monitor key metrics and make informed decisions.
Monitoring and

A I i A =] = JE B S L = 2= 5 Ay soo oty > Ex
_ Anaytics ZTATREENIRERRE - B TARARIEE - fitn - EROMERK T EHT
BREER M

HER  KMEBERERR - ZFaTEfHBBAB( TR  SEEEAEEBRER -
TEHABRE
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As a new operating model designed to offer credit providers greater choice in consumer credit
reference services, “Credit Data Smart” (formerly known as “MCRA Platform”) enables the
secure transmission of encrypted consumer credit information between credit providers and
credit rating agencies. During the Reporting Period, we have connected K Cash GO Platform
to the Credit Data Smart, by the connection, our K Cash GO Platform can reduce human
capital required to perform repetitive tasks, shorten customer's application time and reduce
the chance of human error during the data entry process since customer credit report will
@E& be downloaded through the API and information in the report will be directly extracted and
imported into our platform. By removing the need for manual processing, we significantly

Integration with enhance the efficiency and accuracy of our back-end work.

External Systems

HEMBRRES
ARG ERA G EREERHERHEZEAGEENRBESE  [FERI(AIHZR
BAGEERRBEETS DEEERAEREENFRBZREEMANETL AL 2EH
EAEEER - RIWEHNA - HFIEK Cash GOTFAEEZEFEM - K Cash GOF A FEULE
BRTERETIEMEAT BREPBFRME - WA BIEH ABIRF HIR A BERHE
g RAREPEEREKEREAEAAE TH - MWmSEHEEZERDREEAZRMN
Fa o FBRERERAFEFNTE - KPS KBRS & im TIER R KR -

The K Cash GO Platform has transformed our operations by digitalising and automating
traditionally manual processes. For instance, the platform's eKYC (electronic Know Your
Customer) functionality allows customers to verify their identities remotely using biometric
data, such as facial recognition and finger vein scanning. This eliminates the need for in-
person verification, reducing processing times and operational costs. Moreover, the platform's
business process automation (BPA) capabilities streamline tasks such as document verification,
©@ loan approval, and repayment scheduling. This automation not only improves efficiency but
k@ also ensures consistency and accuracy across all processes. As a result, we have been able to
High Efficiency handle a growing volume of loan applications without compromising on quality or speed.

mRE

K Cash GO FEERERATFREFNEB AL - ARFNESETHKES - flan - ZF
BEeKYC(EFRHET )RR P ALY BAIBUR (10 e 28 & s aFIRIR 1) i 1B
BEHSD  BRERSRR  BREEEREREERAE - I ZFENEBRES B
REF AL X H8RE - B E R BIE T - TMERSMEK » TIARAERIZN —
MR ERENE - Bt - RIFIBERETFEE ZFRENBTN TRE T E NN EREE ©

(J\ The platform supports multiple channels for customer interactions, including the K Cash App,
@ website, and Virtual Teller Machines (VTMs). Customers can verify their identities and manage

repayments through these channels, ensuring a seamless and convenient experience.
Customer-Centric

Features
&R FHITRE
ZFEaYHZERFEERE - 81K Cash App * PR EFIEEH - REABBZERE
BRESOHREEER BREGEZAREMNNES -
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STRIVING TO PROVIDE HIGH-QUALITY SERVICES
(CONTINUED)

Promoting Technology Empowerment (Continued)
Customer Data Platform

The Customer Data Platform (CDP) is another critical technological asset
that enables us to manage and analyse customer data across multiple
touchpoints. By consolidating data from various sources, including K Cash
App, website interactions, and social media, the CDP provides a unified
view of our customers, allowing us to deliver personalised experiences and
optimise marketing strategies.

The CDP's primary function is to collect, organise, and analyse customer
data to create comprehensive profiles. These profiles include information
such as customer demographics, transaction history, and interaction
patterns, enabling us to gain deeper insights into customer needs and
preferences. It allows us to identify high-value customers and tailor
marketing campaigns to their specific interests, increasing engagement
and conversion rates. The platform also supports real-time data access
during customer interactions, ensuring that our representatives can
provide relevant and personalised support. This data-driven approach
not only improves customer satisfaction but also optimises our marketing
spend by focusing on the most promising opportunities.

Source of Customer Data
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Function and Application of CDP
BEFEBTANEREA

4 \

e (ollect, clean and structure data

Yt - B REREE

e Construct and build up
comprehensive customer profile
BENEYEZEEFESR

® Precision marketing
RBET ISR

® Bing data analytics

REBEIT

® Personalize user experience

AP ER
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STRIVING TO PROVIDE HIGH-QUALITY SERVICES MO BEBERE(E)
(CONTINUED)

Financial Inclusion EREm

Enhancing Accessibility, Usability, and Quality REAEAY - THAEREE

Our mission is to create inclusive, innovative, and impactful solutions  FMIEFEmEREY TN BTN EFE HHE
that address the diverse needs of individuals and businesses. By focusing — SR75Z » LAFERMEA R EHESEEK o HH
on accessibility, usability, and quality, we aim to bridge gaps in financial ~ E ¥R A[HEEAE - ATRMEREZS - SEERS
services, empower small businesses, and foster a sense of belonging  BUIRFS 2 =R « $Eog/ N EAYEE T R FE
within the communities we serve. BRSBTS EERER -

We are dedicated to addressing the financial needs of individuals and business entities that
may lack access to traditional banking services. Our objective is to support the liquidity and
cash flow requirements of our customers through tailored financial solutions.

RE 5 P8 FRRE T AL SR VS R R TR A A B0 £ ERMS BES - RPN E E2EE

EHEBRERTE/EFPHNRDES KRS REFBRIEHIIE

~

1
Access to credit is a critical enabler for the vitality and growth of small businesses, supporting |
both immediate operational needs and long-term development, including capital expenditures |
and expansion initiatives. Recognising the unique challenges faced by these enterprises |
in securing financing, we have innovated our credit scoring system, leveraging TU data to |
assess creditworthiness. Our aim is to develop a more nuanced and accurate evaluation of |
creditworthiness, moving beyond traditional metrics. This approach allows us to broaden |
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

N\l

2o
R

Usability
Gl

financial inclusivity and extend opportunities to a wider range of businesses.

RS EEREAREDERIIEENTIEZRNE - XHAEMNZSERRARERR  BEE
ARASCEIERA S - RIFVRAZSEEEISRE T EEYABELE - S RREERZ
VEERID ZHATHAEE - AN B SR GHILEREAE  FRENEENE - &E
AEEERER  REZOERHESHS -

..............................................................................................

~

. . . . . AY
Our organisation is committed to fostering a culture that values every member of our !
community — employees, customers, and partners alike. We strive to create an environment |
. . . . 1

where everyone feels a strong sense of belonging, ensuring that our interactions are !
meaningful and impactful for all stakeholders. '
1

1

1

1

:

1

4

BANEEBNRIDELREMONIE - BEEE - TP REERH - HAR N EESR
. FTBABRERZ I RAERBEARE  ARRMAEMERNENEHEAERRTES -

We uphold the highest ethical standards in all our operations,  FIEFTA EEHIETHEBEIEE - I RA
acknowledging the importance of maintaining public trust. Our #EAREEHEEN - HAIFEHERE]
unwavering commitment to integrity drives us to deliver products and BB EBERSW AT ENERERE - 94
services that are valuable, transparent, and reliable. This dedication aligns [ RAFEFE |RA| - FERBFEBAFRIEAL
strictly with our “Treating Customers Fairly” principles, ensuring that we — HJS&KF|&HITE °

consistently act in the best interests of those we serve.

70 K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

. e \ \ \ \



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (835 « 1+ & N EARE

STRIVING TO PROVIDE HIGH-QUALITY SERVICES
(CONTINUED)

Financial Inclusion (Continued)

PayKool: A Gateway to Flexible Financing

Our commitment to financial inclusion is exemplified by the successful
pilot launch of the PayKool Credit Card, which integrates our innovative
Play Now Pay Later (PNPL) service. This initiative is designed to provide
customers with flexible, interest-free instalment options, empowering
them to make purchases and manage their finances more effectively.

The PNPL service allowing customers to split their purchases into smaller,
interest-free instalments'. This flexibility is particularly beneficial for
individuals who may not have access to traditional credit products or prefer
to avoid high-interest debt. Additionally, we are actively collaborating with
merchants and service providers to integrate the PayKool Credit Card into
e-wallets and other digital payment platforms. This integration ensures a
smooth and convenient user experience, enabling customers to use the
card for both online and in-store purchases.

On the PayKool website, we have clearly listed the Important Terms and
Conditions at the bottom of the page to ensure consumers are well-
informed. Additionally, the “ZCoolzER2" section is designed to guide
customers towards making rational and responsible spending decisions.

S
=l

1 A handling fee applies when selecting instalment payments via the PayKool app.

BHRBBERS (B)
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STRIVING TO PROVIDE HIGH-QUALITY SERVICES
(CONTINUED)

Customer Engagement and Complaint Handling

The Company is committed to delivering high-quality, transparent,
and accountable services. During the reporting period, a satisfaction
survey involving 307 respondents recorded an impressive 99% customer
satisfaction rate, highlighting our dedication to exceptional service and
customer approval.

Our Complaints Handling Policy forms a critical part of ensuring that
customer feedback and grievances are addressed in a fair, efficient, and
professional manner, in line with regulatory requirements and industry
best practices.

As a key component of our customer service framework, the Complaint
Handling Team is responsible for managing complaints promptly and
effectively. The department acknowledges complaints in writing within
7 days of receipt and provides complainants with either a final response
or an explanation for any delays within 30 days. In cases requiring
additional documentation or investigation, the complainants are informed
accordingly.

Complex complaints, significant trends, systemic issues, and root causes
are escalated immediately to the relevant business heads. For complaints
of a very serious nature, direct escalation to the Chief Executive Officer or
Chief Operating Officer is required. Furthermore, the Complaint Handling
Team collaborates closely with the Compliance Department and Legal
Department for advice on cases involving compliance issues, alleged
employee misconduct, legal breaches, systemic compliance risks, or
regulatory breaches, as well as when external regulators are involved.

To ensure accountability and operational excellence, all complaints are
recorded systematically in the internal complaint register maintained by
the Compliance Department for a minimum period of 5 years. This allows
the Company to track performance, identify trends, and implement
proactive improvements to enhance customer satisfaction. During the
Reporting Period, we received 9 complaints and all complaints were
resolved satisfactorily.
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STRIVING TO PROVIDE HIGH-QUALITY SERVICES
(CONTINUED)

Customer Protection Against Identity Fraud

As a pioneer among licensed money lenders in Hong Kong, the company
has consistently set benchmarks in customer service and security through
the deployment of advanced technologies. Central to this effort is the
implementation of VTMs, which seamlessly blend convenience with
personalised service. These machines offer an interactive video banking
platform, enabling customers to connect face-to-face with remote tellers
via live video feeds. This innovation allows for real-time, personalised
assistance across a range of services, including account inquiries, loan
applications, and document submissions.

To enhance the security and efficiency of our VTMs, we have integrated
cutting-edge biometric technologies. Facial recognition technology is a
key feature, enabling real-time verification by matching an individual's
facial features against the image on their Hong Kong identity card. This
advanced authentication method not only complements traditional identity
card verification but also adds an additional layer of security. Furthermore,
we have incorporated finger vein biometrics, which capture the unique
vein patterns beneath the skin's surface of an individual's finger. This
approach offers a more reliable form of authentication compared to
traditional fingerprint recognition, thanks to its precision and significantly
reduced rates of false rejections and false acceptances.

Our commitment to security extends to our digital platforms, particularly
the K Cash App, which employs Hong Kong identity card verification and
facial recognition login technology to ensure a secure and efficient digital
onboarding experience.

During the Reporting Period, there were no reported cases of identity
fraud, reflecting the effectiveness of our comprehensive security measures.
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STRIVING TO PROVIDE HIGH-QUALITY SERVICES HMAHIRMEERE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Privacy and Cybersecurity ﬂ%&%ﬁ%i‘ié

The company recognises that safeguarding customer data is a critical AR FRERETFHIEA—BHEEET 4
responsibility, essential for maintaining trust and achieving long-term ’E%FE&EIEEH;@%WEXUJ;I:@EE A
business success. This commitment is reflected in our strict compliance  BRi&EFE B RICEA SR (FLEE) (&) - I
with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (PDPO) in Hong Kong and & IEX (0¥ N RITESIE L 2 EEL.0)F
alignment with global standards, such as the Payment Card Industry Data  #5F—% Bt — 4GS ©

Security Standard (PCI DSS) v4.0.

Our Data Privacy Policy, publicly available on our website, is designed to  FMIAEIEALBERRERMPINMELAIHARSE

ensure compliance with the six Data Protection Principles (DPPs): B BERREERRETNEREERR
Al :

Personal data is collected only for lawful purposes directly related to the Company's operations.
At the point of collection, customers are explicitly informed of the purpose for which their data
will be used, ensuring transparency and informed consent.

AABHRARAATLBER BN KA MU « RICER 2SS 5
FREH - BRERERABAE -

Personal data is kept accurate and up-to-date, and retained only for as long as necessary.
A A4

Accuracy and
Retention

AR I 47 6B BEABRRTER L& - WEEBEOREARE

Personal data is used only for the purposes stated at the time of collection, unless additional
consent is obtained.

Use of Personal
Data

EVSCl IR b emsEE  SAEAZEHE AR E SR ESBRANE ) -
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STRIVING TO PROVIDE HIGH-QUALITY SERVICES
(CONTINUED)

Privacy and Cybersecurity (Continued)

BHRBBERS (B)
LREREERE(E)

Robust measures are in place to protect personal data from unauthorised access, loss, or misuse.
These measures include encryption, access controls and employee training to ensure compliance

Security of
Personal Data

Transparency

EHE

[]
=
&

Access and
Correction

ERAREILE

EFAREHANMNELARBRANEAER -

Moreover, compliance with PCI DSS v4.0 further demonstrates our
dedication to protecting payment data and meeting the highest security
standards. In cases of third-party engagements, contractual safeguards
ensure adherence to data protection requirements. A structured incident
response plan is also in place to address potential breaches, assess risks,
and notify affected parties promptly, reinforcing our commitment to
customer data security and privacy.

Cybersecurity Culture Building

Employee training is a critical component of the Company's data privacy
strategy. New employees undergo comprehensive training on data
privacy policies and procedures as part of their induction programme.
Annual training sessions are mandatory for all staff, ensuring they remain
informed about best practices and regulatory changes. Training materials
and updates are readily accessible on the Company's internal website,
enabling employees to stay up-to-date on their responsibilities.

with industry best practices and regulatory requirements.

BPREE 2 ERREEAER - U RGBSR  ERTER - ZFRERENE -
EHERZES RERZ - MERTATERERTRIEERE -

Information about the Company's data handling practices is made readily available to customers.
Our Privacy Policy and Personal Information Collection Statement is readily accessible on our
website and is updated regularly to reflect any changes in our practices or applicable laws.

ERARRERNRERRNERIHEFPERERH - RFIWLBEREEABREZRAIR
B AEE_ERERT &R - I E MR RTA RPN E R IEREPIREAZEE

Customers have the right to access and correct their personal data held by the Company.
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STRIVING TO PROVIDE HIGH-QUALITY SERVICES
(CONTINUED)

Responsible Marketing

We are ensuring full compliance with the Unsolicited Electronic Messages
Ordinance (UEMO) in Hong Kong. The Company prioritises transparency,
customer preferences, and ethical practices in all commercial electronic
communications. All our promotional messages, including emails, SMS,
and MMS, include accurate sender information, such as the sender's
name, address, and contact details. This information is provided in both
Chinese and English unless the recipient has indicated a preference for
one language.

A key requirement under the UEMO is the inclusion of a functional
unsubscribe facility in all commercial messages. We ensure recipients can
easily opt out of further communications. For SMS, a keyword such as
“Unsubscribe” by a contact number is included, while emails provide an
unsubscribe link or email address. All unsubscribe requests are honoured
within 10 working days, and records of such requests are retained for at
least three years. The Company strictly prohibits unethical practices, such as
using harvested email or telephone lists or generating electronic addresses
through automated processes. All marketing lists are obtained through
legitimate means, and recipients must provide explicit consent to receive
communications.

Robust internal controls are in place to maintain compliance. All marketing
templates are reviewed and approved by the Compliance Department,
and a maker-checker mechanism ensures messages are sourced from
approved templates. Recipient lists are screened against the latest internal
opt-out list and the Do-Not-Call Register of Hong Kong before sending
any messages.

Supply Chain Management

Suppliers and business partners play a pivotal role in the Company's
operations, enabling the delivery of high-quality products and services
to customers. Effective supply chain management is therefore essential
to safeguarding the Company's brand reputation and ensuring business
continuity.

Our suppliers are selected impartially based on their qualifications
and competitiveness. The Company also ensures suppliers fulfil their
contractual obligations and mitigate fraud or corruption risks. Given that
the Company's core business is money lending, its suppliers are primarily
not engaged in production or manufacturing activities. As a result, the
environmental risks associated with the supply chain are considered
extremely low.

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BN RBEBERS (E)

BEEEH
HfIEREmETEENCGEEREE ALK
By e RRABRABEEEEFBATHAER
B BEPRELBETHRBMELES - PIAHK
EE  BEETHH - BERZEEEHS

BEEENEEAER Pl XAGRE - 1
I MBS AR S - BAERUPREZRE K
3;5%%”&}\%7]_—\ %iﬂl:l =S Raf °

(CGFRBETAESKRIDN—BEIBERERAE
BEMELAR A RNBUEZRYCETE - T
FEIRIZ UL FT 88 538 MR WO — AP r)s@ A -
BREE - BPIREBEERRES IMATEUS
EWFREY - MEFEARRHEBUERK
EERETE U - AEBUERIRERSE
IO TVER AERIE - MaxFEERMLHRED
RE=F - AR ﬂ?ﬁ%ﬁT?—?é?ﬁﬁE’T—ﬁ {5
ERRENETFBHXNERFEXNEEED
ERRFELE FHb4tE - ﬁﬁﬁm%%&%%%iﬁs_
BAET BT - BRAVERBERED G%
YesEa o

B ERBEAORMEZAERER - A
iSRRG R SR BERH AL - WARE
EAZH B RS IR B R EMFA o REHX
ERFRER - RAIRBESEHFOAMER TR
BEREBEWAEELMEPERRAIBE -

TR

HEBEEGAIEBRHRARREET R
RAC  SHMEASEFPRERERNEM
K ARTS o BUE - ARV R 12 S0 M AR
RAMMEEENEREGTEELEZHES -

BIMRIEH RN ER RBEFE N AL PGE #
JER - NRRTERHEREITANEL - A
PRASFFR BT B - BERARRMLER
AWRE - AHERLIFERREEESRETE
B o Hitt - B EERREAIREE R PR S E
1K -

. e \ \ \ \



Environmental, Social and Governance Report (835 « 1+ & N EARE

STRIVING TO PROVIDE HIGH-QUALITY SERVICES
(CONTINUED)

Intellectual Property Protection

We have established a comprehensive Intellectual Property (IP) Policy
to safeguard our IP assets and respect the IP rights of third parties. The
IP Policy provides clear guidelines on ownership, management, and
protection of IP created and owned by the Company, applicable to all
employees, representatives, agents, and business partners. We ensure
compliance with applicable IP laws and regulations in Hong Kong and
other jurisdictions where we operate, maintaining an inventory of IP-
related assets and agreements, conducting regular risk assessments, and
enforcing strict confidentiality measures.

We are committed to respecting the IP rights of third parties and avoid
knowingly infringing on their patents, trademarks, copyrights, or trade
secrets. Our business partners are required to comply with our IP Policy,
and we conduct due diligence to assess their IP management practices. In
cases of IP infringement or disputes, our cross-functional IP Compliance
Team, overseen by the Director of Legal Department, investigates
thoroughly and recommends appropriate corrective actions, including
legal measures if necessary. By prioritising IP protection, we secure our
competitive advantage and contribute to a fair and ethical business
environment.

We are also committed to ensuring that all relevant personnel receive
continuous and appropriate training on IP protection and management.
Specialized training is provided to those directly responsible for developing
and implementing the Company's IP protection, management, and
compliance program. Additionally, the Company extends suitable training
on IP protection and management to relevant members of the supply
chain.

As of the Report, we have 4 domain names (“kcash.hk” “kcash.com.hk”
“kcashsme.hk” “paykool.hk”) and 5 registered trademarks in Hong Kong
which we believe are material to our business.
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HARMONY, DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION IN THE
WORKFORCE

Employee Recruitment and Employment

We are committed to fostering a workplace that upholds equal
opportunities, diversity, and respect for all employees. The Company
adheres strictly to Hong Kong’s employment laws and regulations,
including the Employment Ordinance, Employees’ Compensation
Ordinance, Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, Sex
Discrimination Ordinance, Disability Discrimination Ordinance, and Family
Status Discrimination Ordinance. Any irregularities or non-compliance with
these regulations are promptly addressed and rectified to maintain a fair
and inclusive work environment.

We recognise that its success hinges on its ability to attract, retain, and
motivate skilled employees. Recruitment at the Company is a merit-
based process, ensuring that candidates are evaluated solely on their
work experience, educational background, and specific job requirements.
The Company is committed to equal opportunity employment, and no
discrimination is tolerated based on gender, age, race, religion, or other
personal attributes.

According to the Employee Handbook, all employees are required to
provide necessary information during employment, such as personal
history, education certificates, references from previous employers and
valid identity card or passport. The Company’s Human Capital Department
adopts robust measures to confirm the identity credential, and integrity of
candidates during the selection process to ensure staff members are not
less than 18 years old and are suitable to be engaged for the positions
concerned. All Employees are engaged under standard employment
contracts that detail salary, benefits, and confidentiality obligations. With
our current measures verifying candidates’ identities, there is no risk of
engaging child labour or forced labour in our operation. We believe that
we maintain a good working relationship with our employees, and we did
not experience any disputes related to child labour and forced labour, or
any difficulty in recruiting staff for our operations during the Reporting
Period.
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HARMONY, DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION IN THE
WORKFORCE (CONTINUED)

Employee Recruitment and Employment (Continued)

Case Study: Recognition for Supporting Student Employment
Opportunities

Attracting and developing young talent is a key part of our long-term
growth strategy. To support this, we offer Fintech internship opportunities
to local university students during both summer and winter.

During the Reporting Period, the Company was honoured with the
Certificate of Appreciation from both Lingnan University and Hong
Kong Metropolitan University (HKMU). This recognition was awarded in
acknowledgment of our efforts to support students by offering full-time
and part-time job opportunities, as well as internships. These opportunities
were facilitated through campus recruitment initiatives, including career
fairs and career talks, demonstrating our commitment to fostering student
career development.
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CERTIFICATE

OF APPRECIATION

K Cash Corporation Limited

for their vatuable participation ot HKMU Career Fair 2024

19 MARCH 2024

“Hong Kong Metropolitan University Career Fair 2024"
[BEH Ao F1EE2024)

LAk b bbb LR L R MR AN

“Resurgence Career Expo @LingnanU 2024"

[BFEE@EA2024]
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HARMONY, DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION IN THE
WORKFORCE (CONTINUED)

Employee Diversity and Anti-discrimination

The Company values diversity, equity, and inclusion as integral
components of its workforce. The Company believes that a diverse team
contributes significantly to its varied commercial ventures and innovation.
By fostering an environment where discrimination is absent and each
employee is valued for their unique contributions, the Company ensures
that every team member feels respected and included. The Company’s
Equal Opportunity Policy explicitly prohibits any form of discrimination
or harassment in the workplace. This includes sex discrimination, sexual
harassment, disability discrimination, family status discrimination, and
race discrimination. Employees are encouraged to report any instances
of unacceptable conduct, such as harassment or discrimination, to their
Department Head, Team Head, Compliance Department, or Human
Capital Department. We are dedicated to maintaining a professional
environment where the rights and dignity of all employees are protected.

Protection of Employee Rights and Benefits

The Company ensures that all employees are treated fairly throughout their
employment lifecycle. The Company provides clear guidelines on working
hours, overtime policies, and leave entitlements, ensuring compliance with
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. Employees are entitled to paid
annual leave, sick leave, maternity leave, paternity leave, and other special
leave benefits, as outlined in the Employee Handbook. Special leave
provisions include days off for birthdays, anniversaries, weddings, and
compassionate circumstances, ensuring employees can celebrate personal
milestones and manage unforeseen challenges. Furthermore, we provide
study leave to support employees pursuing further education and reward
high-performing individuals with additional days off.

To further enhance employee satisfaction and well-being, we offer
additional benefits as part of its employment package. These include low-
interest personal loans of up to HK$200,000 and study subsidies of up
to HK$100,000, designed to alleviate financial pressures and support
employees in achieving their personal and professional goals.

The Company is proactive in promoting a healthy work-life balance among
its employees, recognizing that a positive and cohesive work environment
not only benefits individual well-being but also enhances overall team
performance. To this end, the Company organizes a variety of social and
team-bonding activities.
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HARMONY, DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION IN THE
WORKFORCE (CONTINUED)

Employee Care

The Company is dedicated to creating a supportive and positive work
environment that prioritises employee well-being and satisfaction.
During the reporting period, the Company was accredited as a “Happy
Company 2024" under the Happiness at Work Promotional Scheme. This
recognition reflects our commitment to building a “Happy Workplace”
that boosts employee morale through promoting a positive work-life
balance, enhances corporate image to support business development, and
attracts potential talents to increase competitiveness.

Additionally, the Company participated in the Good Employer Charter
2024 organised by the Labour Department, pledging to adopt employee-
oriented human resource management practices. These practices focus
on caring for employees through supportive employment measures,
promoting work-family and work-life balance, providing employee
benefits that exceed statutory requirements, and maintaining effective
communication with employees and their organisations. These initiatives
underscore the Company’s commitment to employee care and sustainable
workplace development.
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“Happiness At Work Promotion Scheme 2024”
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HARMONY, DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION IN THE M~ D LEEBRNE TEE
WORKFORCE (CONTINUED) (%&)
Employee Care (Continued) 1B SRR (&)

erb A7 R ¥ ST BINEIEIE2024

WAMAME  Manpower Developer Award Scheme Presentation Geremony

2

“Manpower Developer Award Scheme Presentation Ceremony 2024"

[ AT R334 &IER 4182024

b Keclean jfon(®  Zasasanss

“Hong Kong Golf Club Presents: Heep Hong Charity Sports Fun Day 2024”
[BEFEXIKEZR - BFEEERFFEH2024]

”Rotary Hong Kong Ultramarathon 2024"
[ Bt &R F 122024
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HARMONY, DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION IN THE F:E -~ ZtEERNE T BB
WORKFORCE (CONTINUED) (%8)
Employee Care (Continued) 1B SRR (&)

m - ~H il @

“Employee Engagement Activities 2024”
[1ER 265 8)2024

Employee Promotion and Appraisals EBEEBHAHREZER

The Company provides a clear career path for employees, with defined ARQRAESIRLEMAOBELREE - R
roles and responsibilities at each level of the organisational hierarchy. We — ¥ZBAIRBHEENAECLET - RMTEH
conduct regular performance appraisals to evaluate employees’ progress,  #fTEEMETZ + UEHEEREMESD « LR
achievements, and potential for growth. These appraisals are based on K& ° ZEFFZERFETH RIESE © ZIE
the Balanced Scorecard (BSC) framework, which assesses performance  ZRFFH{E&HHEKRIR - B ARERFBERIEN
across multiple dimensions. Employees who do not meet performance {EER#IEE - 53| R IE - BYEIEA T 1EEE
expectations are provided with guidance, training, and support to help 77 « KR AIHITEEEZ MR A FHLEREF
them improve. The Company’s disciplinary procedures are designed to ~ EZHBIEE = RKE - FEZRTE -

be constructive and fair, with a focus on helping employees overcome

challenges and achieve their full potential.
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HARMONY, DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION IN THE
WORKFORCE (CONTINUED)

Training and Development

The Company places a high value on its employees, considering them as
key assets integral to the Company’s success. The Company is committed
to providing comprehensive training and development opportunities to
ensure employees are equipped with the knowledge and skills necessary
to excel in their roles and contribute to the Company’s long-term growth.

The Human Capital Department includes a dedicated Learning and
Development Team, which collaborates closely with other business units
and the Compliance Department to deliver a wide range of training
programmes. These programmes are designed to address both job-specific
skills and professional development, ensuring employees remain up-to-
date with industry trends and regulatory requirements.

The Company offers regular training on a variety of relevant subjects,
such as land search case studies, understanding credit reports, and loan
product knowledge. For new frontline staff and back-end support roles,
the Learning and Development Team provides comprehensive onboarding
training to ensure a smooth transition into their roles. Additionally, the
Company conducts annual refresher training on critical topics such as
AML and Cyber Security to ensure all employees remain informed and
compliant with the latest regulations.

During the Reporting Period, we remained committed to enhancing
employee skills and professional development through a diverse range
of training programmes. These initiatives covered key areas such as data
analytics, ESG compliance, financial technology, corporate governance,
and regulatory updates, ensuring our employees stay informed and well-
equipped in an evolving business landscape. Our training includes four key
areas:

Technical and Analytical Skills: Employees participated in hands-on
training sessions on data analytics tools and database management to
strengthen their technical expertise.

Regulatory and Compliance Training: Various sessions were conducted
on ESG regulations, anti-corruption, AML, cybersecurity, corporate
governance, and personal data protection, reinforcing compliance
awareness across the organisation.

Industry Insights and Knowledge Sharing: Employees engaged in
fintech discussions, frontline experience sharing, and sector-specific
training to stay updated on market trends and best practices.

Sales and Business Development: Specialised training focused on sales

techniques, contracting, and knowledge transfer, equipping teams with
essential skills to enhance customer engagement and business growth.
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HARMONY, DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION IN THE
WORKFORCE (CONTINUED)

Occupational Health and Safety

Although the Company’s business operations do not involve significant
health and safety risks, it strives to create a safe, healthy, and comfortable
working environment that protects both the physical and mental well-
being of its employees and minimises the likelihood of occupational
diseases. During the Reporting Period, the Company was accredited as a
Mental Health Friendly Organisation 2024 by the Occupational Safety &
Health Council, recognising its commitment to fostering a workplace that
values and promotes mental well-being.

The Employee Handbook outlines clear safety expectations for all
employees. It mandates that employees must strictly adhere to safety
regulations and precautions at all times and promptly report any unsafe
conditions to the Human Capital Department. Employees are responsible
for keeping their work areas tidy and clean, ensuring that equipment, files,
and other Company property are securely stored.

During the Reporting Period, we provided eye medical check-ups for our
employees. Beyond physical health, we actively foster a positive work-life
balance by organising a variety of staff activities to encourage employees
to stay active, relieve stress, and maintain good mental health.

Occupational Health and Safety
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Over the past three years, including the Reporting Period, we have
maintained an excellent safety record, with zero work-related fatalities and
no significant occupational health incidents. This achievement underscores
the Company'’s dedication to maintaining a safe and healthy workplace
for all employees.
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PURSUING SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT LED BY
LOW CARBON

Practicing green operation is the foundation of us to promote sustainable
operation. The Company strictly abides by all relevant laws and regulations
pertaining to environmental protection in Hong Kong, including but
not limited to Air Pollution Control Ordinance, Ozone Layer Protection
Ordinance, Road Traffic Ordinance, Noise Control Ordinance, Waste
Disposal Ordinance, Water Pollution Control Ordinance and Sewage
Services Ordinance.

During the Reporting Period, none of the Company’s business operations
had significant impact on the environment or natural resources, and
no environment violations occurred. Looking ahead, the Company
remains dedicated to enhancing its sustainability measures. This includes
conducting internal studies to identify and better understand the resources
utilized in its operations. Furthermore, the Company aims to extend
sustainability practices to its suppliers, fostering a collaborative approach
that benefits both the environment and all stakeholders involved.

Waste and Pollutant Management

Guided by a strong commitment to environmental responsibility, the
Company has implemented comprehensive initiatives to minimise pollution
and promote the reuse and recycling of materials within its operations.
Recognising the importance of reducing waste and extending the
lifecycle of resources, these efforts are integral to the Company’s broader
sustainability strategy.

In waste management, the Company ensures all waste is disposed of
responsibly, adhering to the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354) in Hong
Kong. Initiatives to reduce waste generation and enhance recycling are
actively pursued, including the collection of paper boxes, newspapers, and
magazines for recycling. Employees are encouraged to adopt sustainable
practices, such as reusing single-sided non-confidential printouts and
utilising double-sided printing to minimise paper waste. Additionally, we
conduct regular reviews of each department’s paper orders and printing
volumes to identify opportunities for reduction.
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PURSUING SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT LED BY R
LOW CARBON (CONTINUED)
Waste and Pollutant Management (Continued) RV R SERYEE ()

During the Lunar New Year and Mid-Autumn Festival, we promote REBHERTMEERE - BAMREEREK
collections of old red envelopes and mooncake boxes from colleagues, SEFR2HKLAHE  ZFRLREZSHAH
supporting and participating in recycling initiatives during these festive & [EIUgER$E o

periods.

A KEER(E)

i p———,
8 0 Sl

DM,

Bk HI : 202afF10H0H

For pollutant management, the Company complies with statutory FNSEAMERFE  ARAFETEEER - 8
requirements, including the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311), $E(ZE=FISREFIEHIN(E311E) - AT HIHE
to control emissions and maintain air quality. While the Company’'s WME#FEREE - ANARQA RIS E MRS
operations do not involve manufacturing or production, and therefore EAE#HER WA SELAEEEEEYHE
do not generate significant hazardous waste or fixed machinery  E#WEERY - WESHELS RS/ (NO,) -
emissions, emissions such as nitrogen oxides (NOy), sulphur oxides (SO,  FREL¥(SO,) BB FH F (BFh F ) SH K
and particulate matter (PM) are produced by its vehicles. The Company 4 c AR AN BT HEBTE T ERELS - #
remains vigilant in adhering to best practices, ensuring that even minimal R EEE B EEEZYHEI B EEERE -
quantities of potentially hazardous waste are managed responsibly.
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PURSUING SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT LED BY
LOW CARBON (CONTINUED)

Use of resources

As part of its commitment to achieving carbon neutrality, the Company
has implemented a range of initiatives to foster a low-carbon lifestyle
both internally and through the services it provides. To reduce energy
consumption, the Company actively promotes energy-saving practices,
such as setting computers to energy-saving mode during periods of
inactivity and switching off power supplies in unused areas. Energy-
saving LED lights have been installed to replace traditional tubes, and
smart meters have been introduced to monitor real-time data for effective
consumption management. These measures reflect the Company’s
dedication to optimising energy use and reducing its carbon footprint.

Water consumption within the Company’s operations is minimal, with
primary usage limited to office activities, sourced from the local municipal
supply provided by the Water Supplies Department. While Hong Kong
experiences low water stress, ensuring easy access to water, the Company
remains committed to minimising water usage and enhancing water
efficiency. Efforts to promote water conservation among employees are
actively pursued, highlighting the importance of responsible water use
as part of the Company’s broader environmental stewardship. Regular
inspections and maintenance of water facilities are conducted to ensure
efficient usage and prevent wastage.

Fuel consumption within the Company’s operations primarily stems from
its vehicles. In line with its sustainability goals, the Company is gradually
transitioning to electricity vehicles to replace traditional fuel-powered cars.
This shift not only reduces greenhouse gas emissions but also aligns with
the broader global movement towards cleaner transportation solutions.
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PURSUING SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT LED BY
LOW CARBON (CONTINUED)

Coping With Climate Change

As the trend of global warming accelerates, global policy coordination
and regional action initiatives have been intensified. Fully realizing the
impacts and risks associated with climate change across various industries,
the Company takes proactive measures to address the challenges and
opportunities posted in alignment with the recommendations of the Task
Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD).

Governance

We have defined climate-related responsibilities in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Policy” and the “Terms of Reference of SSG”,
included them into the ESG and climate governance framework, formed
a top-down climate governance structure, and systematically pushed for
routine and standard operation of climate governance and management.
For more details, please refer to “ESG Management Framework” section
in this Report.

Strategy

We have strengthened climate resilience building, actively identified and
assessed the risks and opportunities brought by climate change, and
formulated climate risk management strategies on that basis.

K5 5|98 - KERE ()

SRR

BeZ 2 IR(CBE IR - R ZI0INRBEK
A RIMRITENER - ARRRARIRECHZ
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PURSUING SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT LED BY

LOW CARBON (CONTINUED)

Strategy (Continued)
Climate-related risks:

Risk Category

Type of Risk

RBER e il

Physical Risk Acute
ERAk &k
Chronic
b3 i
Transition Risk Reputation
BRER BE

Policies & Legal
regulations

HRBERRE

Description of Risk
JElg

Increased frequency of extreme
weather events like typhoons,
rainstorms, and floods

BR - FRIKEBRAREN

Eaa:0p By

Rising temperatures

T L

Increasing public focus on climate
actions by companies

RRARFIRARRORIRITE

Emerging regulatory requirements
on climate risk management

BRRREREENEEBRE(L
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Rk ()

RARMAR R -

Potential Impact
BES

Potential for temporary closure
of office leading to lower
revenue

BEZ LN TR

Risk of property damage and
threat to staff safety
AXMEXERYEIZEH
BB fE

Possible temporary suspension
of electricity supply affecting
system and service availability
QEZEE i3kl -
TEZG KRBT AL

Need for greater investment

in climate-related areas to
maintain or enhance Company
reputation
FRRABEBSERNE SR
B UBRREAALARE

Operations need to adapt to
new regulations, which may
include formalizing climate risk
management and performing
scenario analysis
LETREERMR - KAl
PEAREERERERILR
ETERAN

K5 5|<8 @ KERE ()

Company'’s Strategy in Response
KRR EHR

Enhance digitalization of
financial services through

ik £ BRI EIS(L

Support hybrid working modes
to minimise impact

JFEA TEREANHET

Establish back-up data centres
and service centres in diverse
locations to mitigate risks
RARMEER B HEER O
RERFHL - AR ERER

Engage in proactive
climate-related actions and
communication to enhance the
Company's reputation
ER2RAREBTIE
B URALRERE

Stay informed on regulatory
changes
BT REEEH

Implement early compliance
measures
LR EmERIET

Ensure merchants and business
partners are aware and
equipped to adapt to new
environmental rules

TRRE P REB R ER R
MRERR - TR
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PURSUING SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT LED BY
LOW CARBON (CONTINUED)

Strategy (Continued)
Climate-related risks: (Continued)

Description of Risk
JElg

Risk Category

Type of Risk

RBER e il BEY

Potential Impact

K5 5|98 - KERE ()

Rk ()

miRERERR - (8)

Company'’s Strategy in Response
KRR EHR

Market Shifting market preferences towards -  Increased competition and - Develop and promote
M5 environmentally sustainable potential loss of market share sustainable financial products
products and services if sustainability initiatives are and services to meet market
TiaRFEmMRE AR ER R inadequate demands
FR#s R ek BTN RERERTHESRERR
(R EMETBTR) fR% - LR R TTEE K
Technology Failure to transition to lower - Write-offs and early retirement - Prudent investments ensure
il emissions technology of existing assets cost-efficiency in technology

REERIESE BT R

- Additional cost of technology

REBEMH R RE

development and adaptation
BERERREMAS LEE
R A&

development investment, and
new practices adoption
RMAERERRBHERN

BINKA

Climate-related opportunities:

Potential Impact
BESE

Opportunity

HiE

Enhanced reputation and

brand value and stakeholders
RABEERMEEER BURFPHEEBNGE ZBNEER

BERRE

— Strengthen competitive positioning

EREMIHZEM -

Operational efficiency and —
cost savings
Rm g ERE RERIKRA

and resource efficiency
WIBR T BEIR R B R e PR B AR

Build trust and loyalty among customers ~ —

Reduce operational costs through energy  —

RIRIERIHE -

Company'’s Strategy in Response

ARD TR B SRR

Proactively communicate climate initiatives
through ESG reports and social media
BBRIE - e RERRE M RIEEE
BREERIRIEZ

Align with global sustainability standards
BRI R RER

Invest in energy-efficient technologies
(e.g., LED lighting, smart meters)
A EBEIAT (FIANLEDRE « HEEEER)

— Transition to renewable energy sources

Market differentiation -
mHEREL

Capture market share from sustainability-
focused customers

EIERFREERNTPERMSNE

where feasible

RATER TBEE T B LR AR

— Integrate climate considerations into core
business strategies

el PRy PSESAUN PR S
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PURSUING SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT LED BY
LOW CARBON (CONTINUED)

Risk Management

The Company has adopted a consolidated set of risk management policies
which set out a risk management framework to identify, assess, evaluate
and monitor key risks associated with our strategic objectives on an on-
going basis. We have also integrated climate-related risks into this existing
risk management framework, ensuring they are systematically addressed
alongside other operational and financial risks.

Metrics and Targets

In alignment with Hong Kong’s “Carbon Neutrality” goals, the Company
is committed to reducing its carbon emissions and contributing to the
city’s broader sustainability agenda. During the Reporting Period, the
Company’s total GHG emissions were 116.05 tCOze, and the emission
intensity was 1.90. Direct emissions (Scope 1) were 7.91. Electricity use on
our premises (Scope 2) is the largest contributor to our carbon footprint,
which amounted to 102.97 tCOze, accounting for approximately 89% of
total emissions. Other indirect emissions (Scope 3) were 5.17 tCOze. For
more details, please refer to the “Performance Data Summary” in this
Report.

Recognising the critical importance of climate change, we are committed
to reducing our environmental impact. We have set a clear, quantitative
target to decrease Scope 1 and Scope 2 emission intensity by 10% by
2030, using 2023 as the base year. Given that Scope 3 emissions are
primarily influenced by external factors such as supply chain activities,
which are beyond the Company's direct operational control, no specific
reduction target has been set for Scope 3 at this stage. However, the
Company remains committed to improving data collection and identifying
opportunities to work with stakeholders to enhance sustainability across
the value chain.
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DEVELOPING A BETTER COMMUNITY

The Company firmly believes in the importance of being a responsible
corporate citizen and actively works towards betterment of the society,
aiming to create sustainable impacts that benefit all stakeholders.
During the Reporting Period, we donated a total of approximately
HK$600,000. We will continue to engage with our community, focusing
on environmental protection and youth education.

Caring for Children

We reaffirmed our commitment to community investment by sponsoring
a new transport vehicle for the Heep Hong Society. This sponsorship
covered key expenses, including the purchase price, taxes, licensing
fees, and insurance. The new vehicle will enhance the efficiency of Heep
Hong Society’s logistics operations, enabling the timely transportation
of therapeutic equipment, documents, and training materials, as well as
facilitating hospital visits for children requiring specialised devices.

We deeply value Heep Hong Society’s dedication to serving the community
by supporting children and families with special needs. By contributing
to their mission, we aim to help these children grow up healthy — both
physically and mentally. Moving forward, we remain committed to
supporting those in need by fostering stronger community connections,
promoting corporate social responsibility, and contributing to the
development of an inclusive society.

BREFHE
ARRREHEREBEECELARNERZN &
BENKRELE - REWKAFEZE - EF7
BRNEZE - RBEHR - LA HBED
600,000 7T » RAKEERTBEEF A -
FEIRFRERFTOFHE o

HRERE

BRABREEEY W2 BTA  BHARK
PISHE R E A - ZEREREE -
B ERENMRBREIEER - MEWSRET
RS MREFNRE - B EHARRE
X RIEIER - U BERBERARRBNZE

BB ©

BRRE HFEERIGHLRE - STRBRIRE R
REMRE  YAEDZERES VREKE
=27 « REARK - HAVRAB MR R
B EECEUEEMT  RELSHRER
NXFHEBENAL

M ERE | casy

BERENCORUENE
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DEVELOPING A BETTER COMMUNITY (CONTINUED)
Supporting Youth Development

We demonstrated our commitment to nurturing future talent by serving
as the sponsor for SCMUN 2024, a Model United Nations conference.
The event brought together over 70 schools and students aged 12 to
18, engaging them in role-playing as country representatives to debate
international issues, negotiate solutions, and reach consensus.

Our sponsorship supported the event's core activities, including
scholarships totalling HK$500,000 for seven outstanding participants to
attend a Model United Nations conference at Oxford University, where
they engaged in global exchanges with peers from around the world.
We are honoured to contribute to cultivating future leaders, empowering
youth to tackle challenges with innovation and teamwork, and advancing
ESG principles to foster a better and more inclusive world.

WE

ZREFE(E)

EHEEFRE

HMEREH —T_MEERBAEEH X
BHMERIBTARRAT FEGE - BXFEF -
T0ZHERNNREISHEERE —% » )&
B 2R 5% L B R %%Eﬁﬁiﬁﬁ BRI R
IREE A ER

BAMEB AR B BRRORMH S - 8
RIS 2£500,0008 T RES - BEBES
BESNEDMERARNERB A S:

BR RS A REETTRIRR » ﬁzﬁﬁ
ERERMIBARBEMERNE - BT FFAIH

EEF S ERRE N AE S RE - S HEEIRIE -
HekE
5

JARAI - REABET KL - FHEN
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DEVELOPING A BETTER COMMUNITY (CONTINUED) @i EHFHIE (&)
Focusing on Public Health BIEAHEE

We demonstrated our commitment to giving back to the community by B BB — T - NEKGEEBRER
serving as the sponsor of the 2024 Rotary Hong Kong Ultramarathon.  #3  ERF P94 Bl 654t (@ KRS - RNEEEE
This charity event aimed to raised funds for Yan Chai Hospital, supporting #5AEACERREDR @ YHEREHEHE
its critical work in serving the community. Beyond sponsorship, K Cash ~ ZET{E - REB)S) * K Cash M EIREREE A o
actively participated in the event. Our employees formed a relay team,  HFIEE S 4ERE N - BEEKAS (ERBHK
showcasing teamwork and determination by winning the 50-kilometre  #&i# - ZES0R B ¥ HERESELE - U L
Corporate Relay Race. This effort not only highlighted our support for & NMEZER I EZTHN LI « TRiE%
charity but also strengthened team spirit and collaboration within the >y #0 e B BckS 18 &2 173 /ERE D ©
organisation.

The Company remains committed to empowering the community by —#EA - AAFTHEB S RRER R ER
leveraging technology in our financial services while fostering meaningful ~ #t[&BEEE - FIRFREBEEMNARBEIEZR - B8
human connections. Through initiatives like this, we aim to build stronger A 85 - HIEIERT B BRI [REE -
community ties and support those in need. NEHBERENAL -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (835 ~ 1+ & M EARE
KPI PERFORMANCE SUMMARY BRENIERREME
Environmental RIE

2024/25 2023/24

—E-ME "“HE —T-o=F —F

Air Pollution Emissions

ZERITRMBEK

Nitrogen Oxides (“NOx") kg 0.96 2.30
BAL(TNOK) NI

Sulphur Oxides (“SOx") kg 0.04 0.062
B e (ISOx) Niy

Particulate Matter (“"PM") kg 0.07 0.17
FTRT (TR ) Nis

GHG Emissions

BERBIER

Scope 1 — Direct GHG Emissions tCO2e 7.91 10.22
HEN-BRAERBIMN WS LIRE 2

Scope 2 — Energy Indirect GHG Emissions? tCO2e 102.97 108.30

WA —SALHRE

fein

#E2 - gEIRMAE B

96

Scope 3 — Other Indirect Emissions tCO2e 5.17 7.26
23— BB gER WE—SUbIREE
Wastepaper Treatment tCO2e 5.17 6.79
REAR BT IR WE—SUbIREE
Business Travel tCO2e 0 0.47
b WE—SUbIREE
Total GHG Emissions tCO2e 116.05 125.78
mERBHINAE WS tiRE =
Intensity of Total GHG Emissions tCO2e/number of employees 1.90 2.03
R AT W_EtiEE REAH
Waste
BEZEY
Hazardous Waste
BEEEY
Hazardous Waste Produced tonnes 0 0
FIE4SBEREED i
Intensity of Hazardous Waste Produced tonnes/number of employees 0 0
FEXEEREEMEE We, & B A

2 Restated data. EEZE I

3 Energy indirect emissions are calculated with reference to the “How to prepare BER R HE R Z 538 5 B S B9 2019147

an ESG Report? — Appendix ll: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued
by the HKEX. Emission factors are obtained from local utility companies and
updated yearly according to the annual report of CLP Power Hong Kong Limited
(“CLP"), and Hongkong Electric Company (“HKE").
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KPI PERFORMANCE SUMMARY (CONTINUED)
Environmental (Continued)

BRAMEERRME(E)
B (&)

2024/25 2023/24

—E-ME “HE —T-o=F —F

Non-Hazardous Waste

BmEREEY
Wastepaper tonnes 1.07 1.40
RE4K MR
Intensity of Non-Hazardous Waste Produced tonnes/number of employees 0.018 0.0234
ELBRERRENEE W EE A
Energy Consumption
BRERUHMER
Direct Energy Consumption
EEgREEE
Gasoline kWh3 28,806.06 36,377.08
R TR
Indirect Energy Consumption
B HER
Purchased Electricity kWh 177,499.00 186,171.00
SNEBE ) F R
Total Energy Consumption kWh 206,305.06 222,548.08
BEIRER S TR
Intensity of Total Energy Consumption kWh/number of employees 3,382.05 3,589.49
BRERAEERE TRE,EBEAH
Water
2PN
Barrelled Water m3 25.89 30.11
REEIK AV
Tap Water m3 7.00 10.00
ERYN AV
Total Water Consumption m?3 32.89 40.11
BFEKE AV

4 Restated data. 4 BB & -

5 Direct energy consumption is calculated with reference to the “How to prepare ~ * BEIRE 1ZEFEE R E BB Z AT E iyl 201d]

an ESG Report? — Appendix Il: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued HIERE - B RELGIHRE -t — - ;REE
by the HKEX. PRABAIEITERR IS 515 -

K CASH KREHERAT 202458 97

J



Environmental, Social and Governance Report 3R1E 1t & R ERRE

KPI PERFORMANCE SUMMARY (CONTINUED) BRENISEREBBREE)
Social e

2024/25 2023/24

“EoE—RE —T-=FJUF

Total 61 62
By
By Gender
gzl
Male person 35 31
S A
Female person 26 31
gk A
By Age Group
REEAER
Aged below 30 person 11 11
30 AT A
Aged 30 to 49 person 41 42
30E495% A
Aged 50 or above person 9 9
503k A £ A
By Employee Type
RERER
Full-Time person 61 62
o A
Part Time person 0 0
Fea A
By Geographical Region
R &
Hong Kong 61 62
BB
Turnover Rate
MER
Overall Turnover Rate¢ % 37 23
BEBMA Ko
By Gender
gzl
Male % 33 23
B
Female % 43 24
geqid

6 The overall turnover rate is calculated by dividing the number of employees who ¢ BEPE T R ITHA BA BER E B A B LA B R

left during the reporting period by the sum of the number of employees at the BN BRI B FIGHE -

end of the period and the number of new hires during the same period.
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KPI PERFORMANCE SUMMARY (CONTINUED) FRERIEEREBBREE)
Social (Continued) HE(E)

2024/25 2023/24

—EopE S —RE —E-=F/—JuF

By Age Group

REERAER

Aged below 30 % 58 42
30 AT

Aged 30 to 49 % 31 21
30E495%

Aged 50 or above % 18 0
505R A £

By Employee Category

RIERER

Senior Management % 20 0
SRERE

Middle Management % 7 9
PRERE

General staff % 45 28
—RET

By Geographical Region

Rit &

Hong Kong % 37 23
N

Employee Training

EEE

Total Percentage of Employees Trained’” % 116 123
BIJEEFIE

By gender

gzl

Male % 109 129
B

Female % 127 116
7t

By Employee Category

RIERER

Senior Management % 100 100
SRERE

Middle Management % 92 110
hRERE

General staff % 125 128
—RETL

7 The total number of attendants is higher than number of employees due to staff 7 ARE Tk HEBAESRMESAZ - KX

turnover such that the percentage of employees trained exceed 100%. HEIEES L PIREA100% °
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KPI PERFORMANCE SUMMARY (CONTINUED) BABREMISERBEME(E)
Social (Continued) HE(E)

2024/25 2023/24

TTOPUE S RE T =F T

Average Training Hours Completed hours 6.5 8.2
per Employee AN

BEEETRZINFIIRH

By gender

gzl

Male hours 6.1 7.3

Bt N

Female hours 7.0 9.1

7t 1NBE

By Employee Category

RIERER

Senior Management hours 6.5 21.7

SRERE IR

Middle Management hours 9.4 8.8

PRERE /)N

General staff hours 6.0 6.7

—RET AN

Supply Chain

ftrEsE

Total Suppliers number 41 49

HEEAR #E

By geographical region

®ithE

Hong Kong number 23 35

s #E

Mainland China number 1 0

R A, E=

Rest of Asia number 3 2

TMNE M= HE

Others number 14 12

Hity A
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX R - 2R ERREISSIREED)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and Corresponding

KPls Description Section
TELGR  BE - —REE
RERENRER il HEIE

A. Environmental

A RE
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEA1 : BB
General Disclosure Information on: Pursuing Sustainable
—RIFE (@) the policies; and Development Led by
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have Low Carbon
a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and EH3|48 » KEBEERE
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
BREERIOREREEHEN - MKELHHEDS - BEREZE
BEYHELSR
(a) BR &
(b) BFHETABEALENBBERIROINER -
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Waste and Pollutant
BREARERAL e e A AR R B IRBUE - Management
REEY MR YETR
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas Coping with Climate
BARENISIEAL2 emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per  Change
unit of production volume, per facility). FEY S RE L
B (SEN) RaeREE (BE2) A =R E ARG E) &
(WER)FE (M BESEA - §IEREE)
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where KPI Performance
BRRENEEZAL3 appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per ~ Summary
facility). RS R IR A D
PEARSREEYEE (UNEAE) L (WER)EE (WAFE
BHl - GERIEHE) -
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,where KPI Performance
RRENIERALL appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per ~ Summary
facility. BASRE BB E R 2
FEAEEEEDES (UNEHE) X (ER)EE (WAZE
BB - BERMFHE)
KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve  Pursuing Sustainable
RRENIERALS them. Development Led by

T PRI SZEVBERE B R KA E RS L B R ERE ) 5K Low Carbon
IKHRSI<8 - KB
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX B e RELfEiss|ha=s)
(CONTINUED) (48)

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and Corresponding
KPIs Description Section
FTESER - BE - —REE
REAREMER Gy
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are Waste and Pollutant
BEETIEIEALE handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps ~ Management

taken to achieve them. BEZY) N5 R E

il IR A EMEEREEYN L - RIEAFTRT AR B 1R
&F%i 55 L B R FTEREREY P8R o

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EHEA2 : ERER

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, Use of Resources
—RiRE water and other raw materials. EREMA
EREAER(BIEER - KREARME) BIBUR -
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. KPI Performance
BARENISIEA2.1 electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in "000s) and intensity Summary
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). RARE MR IEE U &

REREID N ERELR, SHEEER(INE - Kgom)BFEE (A
TETREAE) REE(MASESEN - BERETE)

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of KPI Performance
BRRENIEEA2.2 production volume, per facility). Summary
HIKENTE(WMNSESEN - 8BERETE) - RS R IR A

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken Use of Resources
BRENIERA23 to achieve them. B R{E A

Fe R PTAT S BV BEIRE AR e B AR M iE B35 Lk B R PR ERERE 27

,%%% o
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water thatis Use of Resources
RRENIERA2.4 fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to & JR{# A

achieve them.
Sk EUE OB _Er] AT AIBE - AN A AKSE B
1B R AR E L BAZFT IR 2P B o

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) ~ We do not have
BRENIEEA2.5 and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced. packaging material
S mATABREM A S (UBEETE) R(WEA)SEEEN  used for finished
heE o products.
B R ST B
R
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX B e RELfLEiss|ha=s)
(CONTINUED) (48)

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and Corresponding

KPIs Description Section
TEHR BE - —REE
REAREMER Gy

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
[EEA3 : RIERAAER

General Disclosure

—RIKE

KPI A3.1
AR E IBIEA3.1

Aspect A4: Climate Change

EHAL : RIzE1{

General Disclosure

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.

IEEIT AR AR EREREAZENBR -

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.
HEREBHEHRERARERNEAZERCDKNEIEEH
FEMITE ©

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-

Pursuing Sustainable
Development Led by
Low Carbon

EHRSI1E - KEERE

Pursuing Sustainable
Development Led by
Low Carbon

KHRaIE - KEERE

Coping with Climate

— B E related issues which have impacted, and those which may Change

impact, the issuer FEE RIREY L

Al RS R LA T BT AELETENENRIRIERE

HABER o
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have ~ Coping with Climate
BRENIERAL impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the Change

actions taken to manage them. FEHm RS L

BRI BITAEETENEARRABEE - &
FEEITTH) ©
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX

(CONTINUED)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and
KPIs

TRER - BEH - —REE

K ERERIER

B. Social
B.iE

WE

B HEREAY

(&)

Description

i

Employment and Labour Practices

BRENETESR

Aspect B1: Employment
fEEB1 : EE

General Disclosure

—RiNE

KPI B1.1
AR ENISIEBR1.1

KPI B1.2
AR EMIE1EB1.2

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other benefits and welfare.

ERAFRARE BREREMN - TIERS - RE - FEHeg

Ztlt » RIBAR DA R B A 5538 AR HIE -

(@ MK &

(b) BFHBETABEATENBBERLROINER -

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full-

or part-time), age group and geographical region.

BRI - EERE(NE2BEGRE) - FRAR SRS o

B -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical

region.

IR -

HE

FiR MR E BB RKLLE

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

RE1ESIAB KL

Corresponding
Section

Harmony, Diversity
and Inclusion in the
Workforce
ﬂ'—u =79

T

TERHARHE

KPI Performance
Summary

FASAE R R AR Z

KPI Performance
Summary
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX R - 4t ERERREISSIREED)
(CONTINUED) (48)

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and Corresponding

KPIs

TRER - BEH - —REE

K ERERIER

Description

43

it

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

EEB2 : REHEEZE

General Disclosure

—RIKE

KPI B2.1
AR ENIS1EB2.1

KPI B2.2
AR ENI51EB2.2

KPI B2.3
A ENMIEIER2.3

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

EARHZ 2 TIERRRRERE BB E TN

(@) B3R &

(o) ETHBEITABEATENEBERLROINER -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of

the past three years including the reporting year.

BE=F(PEERFE)FRAITHMHABREE -

Lost days due to work injury.

HATHBEATIERR -

Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.
AL PTER AN B R R R 2 Fa it - AR T REE RS
Vo

Aspect B3: Development and Training

FEEB3 : #EKE

General Disclosure

—RiNE

KPI B3.1
RREMIEEB3.1

KPI B3.2
RAEE M IE1ER3.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
BRRTHE B BT TIEBE AV A R RE BV BUR - HHatiEF A
& o

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).
RERIREESEMN(INSRERE  PRERE)ESNXIIIE
BB -

The average training hours completed per employee by gender
and employee category.

Section

Occupational Health
and Safety
BEERERTY

Occupational Health
and Safety
BEERERTE
Occupational Health
and Safety
BEeEEte
Occupational Health

and Safety
BEREREZD

Training and
Development

Bk ER

KPI Performance
Summary

PSR RR IR E N 2

KPI Performance
Summary

BRI REERERIE D - BREEFTKRZ N T FRSE R RE N E
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX
(CONTINUED)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and
KPIs

TEHE - BH - —RESE
RERERERSR it

Description

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

WE

= |

(&)

HERERE

[EEBA : %I %8|
General Disclosure Information on:
—RIFE (a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour.
BRAY IEE T soa s TH)
(a) BUR &
(b) BFHETABEAZENBBERIIROINER -
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to
BB ENIEEBA. avoid child and forced labour.
R EHRIRE IR AR S E T RGBT -
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
RRENIEEB4L.2 discovered.

e IR MBI BB RIS U ERE ) 22 B

Operating Practices

SEEN

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EMEBS : rEsEERE

General Disclosure

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the

—REE supply chain.
ERHEENRIE I GRRBGER

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.

R ENIEEBS.1 R RE D HEEREE -

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number

B E N IE1EB5.2 of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and
how they are implemented and monitored.
Rt AR B ERED - mERITEBENNHERH
B UREERITRERTE -

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental

AR ENIE1EB5.3 and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are

implemented and monitored.

A B AR R R S AR RE Mt 2R ER -

MERAIT MEEEJTK -

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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AR

RE1ESIAB KL

Corresponding
Section

Harmony, Diversity
and Inclusion in the
Workforce
Mag ~ Zoo kit
BT

=z

Employee Recruitment
and Employment

B BRI K (&

Employee Recruitment
and Employment

EERERER

Supply Chain
Management
HAEGEER

KPI Performance
Summary
BIREBUEIRE R E
Our Business

BATHI RS

Supply Chain
Management
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX R - 4t ERERREISSIREED)
(CONTINUED) (48)

Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and Corresponding

KPIs Description Section

FTESER - BE - —REE

REARENRER Hat

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally Supply Chain

AR ENIEIEB5.4 preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and ~ Management
how they are implemented and monitored. HEEEE

fe A BROE IR R R (8 2 RIRIRE m RISV HI - JAKAR
BARTT B TTE »

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[EHEB6 - EMEMR

General Disclosure Information on: Striving to Provide
—RIE (a) the policies; and High-Quality Services
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have AR EE RS

a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress.

BREMRHERMRENRFEERZS B  SEEAMEEE

A RAEROTER
(@ BX: &
(o) BFHBETABERTENEREELROINER -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls Striving to Provide
AR EMIE1EB6.1 for safety and health reasons. High-Quality Services
EENDEXERAET AR BERIEHMADKNE D BRHEE R
Lt e
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and Complaint Handling
AR EMIEEB6.2 how they are dealt with. SRR IE
PR E o M RIGHIREF BB AR B T -
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting Intellectual Property
B ENIE1EB6.3 intellectual property rights. Protection
Fe it B RS AN ERE B R - HBERERE
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.  Striving to Provide
BB E IS EB6.4 LS 28T REREMEYBIZT High-Quality Services
HORHEE R
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, Privacy and
FARENIEIEB6.5 and how they are implemented and monitored. Cybersecurity

HWAUEBEERRERALBECE - WRARRTRERE . ALERRERLZ2
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HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX B e RELfEiss|ha=s)
(CONTINUED) (48)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and Corresponding
KPIs Description Section

ITEHER - BE - —REE
K ERERIER i

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[BMEB7 : RESS
General Disclosure Information on: Anti-Corruption and
—RILE (a) the policies; and Business Ethics
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a ~ RE5 R EE
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

BRAPTLERERR « BIR - MRFROARERA) -

(@ BX: &
() ETHBEITABEATENRBERLROINER -
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices Anti-Corruption and
R ENIEEBT.1 brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting  Business Ethics
period and the outcomes of the cases. RESRERBE
REERIFAE 1T ASHES RN B EENBETHARMD
B REFAER -
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing Anti-Corruption and
RRENIEEBT.2 procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored. Business Ethics
AP E I PE R ERRAR T - ARABERIT RER X o RERKEFEE
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and ~ Anti-Corruption and
BRENIEEB7.3 staff. Business Ethics
futmES N8 TRENRESEI - RERREEBE
Community
HE

Aspect B8: Community Investment
[EEBS : HEIRE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs Developing a Better
—RIEE of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its ~ Community
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests. ERFEHER

BRENHESERTHEEMELRFENEREXE S
EEAERFIZEROBER

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental Developing a Better
BARENI51EBS8.1 concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport). Community
FIEREE(NHE BIRFER  BTHER - #BE - Xk BREFTE
EBBK)
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Developing a Better
R ERIEEBS.2 EEIHREABHAER(NEEAERE) o Community
BRETRE
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Corporate Governance Report
PERELIRE

The Board is pleased to report to the Shareholders on the corporate
governance of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE

The Company is committed to establishing and fulfilling a good corporate
governance practice and procedures, for ensuring a quality Board, sound
internal control, and transparency and accountability to all Shareholders
in order to enhance credibility and reputation of the Company. We
firmly believe that good corporate governance practice can earn trust of
the Shareholders as well as other stakeholders, and most importantly,
preserve the long-term interests of the Shareholders. In addition, a healthy
corporate culture is critical to the achievement of the Group’s vision
and strategy. The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of
business ethics and corporate governance in the Company’s operation.

The Company will continuously review and adjust, if necessary, our
business strategies and keep track of the changing market conditions to
ensure prompt and proactive measures will be taken to respond to the
changes and meet the market needs to foster the sustainability of the
Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Our Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions of the CG
Code contained in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules on Stock Exchange as
the basis of the Company’s corporate governance practices.

The Board is of the view that throughout the Reporting Period, the
Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions as set out
in the CG Code.

EFEMAMBRRERARTNBE_ZT M
FH-A=T—HLEFENEEERIER -

EEERL
ARBBAFERBITRIEFNEEERAER
KRR MERSEEZNERTE  R2MHR
MREEA RS 2R RABARLEENE - #
MRARRANEERMEE - HAIRE - R
HREEE AT R MEBR R EMFNEN
B REENZFAHEERRRENZ © it
Sh - AR ICHBERARERBER MR
REMER - AEEZ N ERAREEE
FHRERRENBEBEREEESR -

WMEME - ARBBFERN MABEEBER
B - WEISR TR BTN - ARERIEIRER
RS EEYEE  BNTSHER  REASK
BEAREER

TRERER
AEBHNGBEHRENDLEA - RER
S AR R D WERA R -

AR ERNBE P LT AR BT SRC1 AT #EI D
FERTRIMRA R STARXERARARIRE
BT HHIKIE °

SERRA - NREWR - AR —HETE
FERTRIFFBNAA BT -
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors. Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and
the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code throughout the Reporting Period.

The Board has also adopted its own code of conduct regarding
employees’ securities transactions on terms no less than the standard
set out in the Model Code to regulate all dealings in the Company’s
securities by relevant employees, including any employee or a director or
employee of a subsidiary or holding company, who, because of his/her
office or employment, are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside
information of the Company as referred to in the applicable code provision
D.2.4(e) of the CG Code. No incident of non-compliance with the Model
Code by the Company’s relevant employees has been noted during the
Reporting Period after making reasonable enquiry.

BOARD COMPOSITION

As at 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report, the
Board comprised nine Directors, the composition is set out as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lee Kun Tai Steven
Ms. Wong Cheuk Sze

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lee Sheung Shing
Ms. Lee Pik Tsong
Ms. Chan Wing Sze
Ms. Kan Pui Yan

Independent non-executive Directors

Prof. Hung Wai Man JP
Mr. Mak Wing Sum Alvin
Mr. Leung Ka Cheung

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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Corporate Governance Report (b & A<

BOARD COMPOSITION (CONTINUED)

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Directors’ and Senior Management'’s Biographies” of this annual report.
The relationships between the Directors are disclosed in the respective
Director’s biography under the section headed “Directors’ and Senior
Management’s Biographies” of this annual report. Save as disclosed
above, there is no relationships (including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship(s)) among members of the Board and
the senior management of the Company.

BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETINGS

The Board shall hold at least four meetings a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. Additional meetings would be arranged when required.
Notices for all regular Board meetings will be given to all Directors at least
14 days before the meetings and the agenda and accompanying Board
paper will be given to all Directors at least 3 days before the meetings
in order that they have sufficient time to review the papers. Minutes of
meetings are kept by the Company Secretary with copies circulated to
all Directors or Board Committee members for information and records.
Directors who have conflicts of interest in a board resolution shall abstain
from voting for that resolution.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered by the Board
and the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors/Board Committee members. Draft and
final versions of the minutes of each Board meeting and Board Committee
meeting are sent to the Directors/Board Committee members for
comments and records respectively within a reasonable time after the date
on which the meeting is held. Minutes of the Board meetings are open for
inspection by Directors.

EEgHEME)

EEREEARENAFRIEZLSNEEE
JBIE|—H - EEZRNBEERAFRIEER
SREEERRE | —HETEESNEET R
B BREXIEEI  EFEKEBRARE
EREEER cFMERER(BEYE - X
% Rk HAMER FERERER) o

EEEERRRREAE
EXgREGFEIBITOREE  AIEBEFE
—R-WMBFTZE  BRTLHEE - ATCH
EE22E] ﬁiiﬂ#ﬁf\guﬁﬁsﬁﬁuzd 14HMEZ
RBESEL  ZEMEMNESEXHENGR
ﬁﬁ%iﬁﬁﬁ’ﬁ’%ﬁi%%ﬁﬁﬁ INERERRE
RrAEEX M - R EBEATNWERE - Bl
AERMTREFNEETLTEGMEERN - UM
2ERTH - HEEGABRANEHRNE
FRERRLRBENERE -

EFEeRMNESRROORNERCRAE
CHREFENEFREEMBANTHULA
EYRRE  BRES EEZEgKER
MERBIER SEFSERNEFELEE
ERNERCENREERNEREITEHER

—BRA& IE%F’?W DRBXEEE EREEE
K8 - DRIt B R RACE - EFEER

%Eﬁﬂf%%%ﬁﬁﬁ °
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BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETINGS
(CONTINUED)

All Directors shall obtain information related to the Board resolutions
in a comprehensive and timely manner. The Board has also established
mechanisms to ensure independent views are available to the Board,
including providing the Directors with sufficient resources to perform its
duties and shall seek, at the Company’s expense, independent professional
advice to perform its responsibilities if necessary. All independent non-
executive Directors are invited to attend the meetings of the Board and
the Board Committees, communication channels to the management
and the Company Secretary are also available at all times. The Board
shall at all times comprise at least three independent non-executive
Directors that represent at least one-third of the Board, such that there
is always a strong element of independence on the Board which can
effectively exercise independent judgement. All the Directors, including
the independent non-executive Directors, will be given equal opportunity
and channels to communicate and express their views to the Board and
have separate and independent access to the management of the Group
in order to make informed decisions. The Chairman of the Board will
hold meetings with the independent non-executive Directors without the
involvement of other Directors at least annually to discuss any issues and
concerns. Any Director or his/her associate who has a conflict of interest
in a matter to be considered by the Board will be dealt with by a physical
Board meeting rather than by written resolutions. Such Director will be
required to declare his/her interests before the meeting and abstain from
voting and not counted towards the quorum on the relevant resolutions.
Independent non-executive Directors who, and whose associates, have
no interest in the matter should attend the Board meeting. The Board will
review regularly as to whether the mechanisms are effective in ensuring
that independent views and input are provided to the Board.

During the Reporting Period, four Board meetings were held, and the
AGM was held on 28 May 2024.
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ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF THE DIRECTORS EEHFER

The attendance record of Directors at the Board meetings, the Board ZEHEARFANRITHNESSSS  BEES
committee meetings and the general meetings held during the Year is set @& MRE KRS AOT -
out below:

Number of attendance/Number of meetings held in 2024
HERE,/ —E-MESTHERRH

Independent
Business
Audit Remuneration  Nomination  Opportunity
Board Committee Committee Committee  Assessment General
meeting meeting meeting meeting ~ Committee meeting
EZ® ENZEEE FMZEREE REZRE BUBKTME
S g3 g3 8% ZEEE: EN-1
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lee Kun Tai Steven FIRRRAE 44 - 212 1/1 - 1/1
Ms. Wong Cheuk Sze HEEHTL 4/4 - 212 n - 17
Non-executive Directors ~ FH{TEE
Mr. Lee Sheung Shing TRERAE 44 - 212 1/1 - 1/1
Ms. Lee Pik Tsong FEATL 4/4 - 212 17 - 17
Ms. Chan Wing Sze Bkt 4/4 - 22 11 - 1/1
Ms. Kan Pui Yan EmALL 4/4 - 22 17 - 171
Independent BUFHTES
Non-executive Directors
Prof. Hung Wai Man JP ABR¥EAESHT 4/4 22 212 1/1 4/4 1/1
Mr. Mak Wing Sum Alvin - 5G4 4/4 212 212 11 4/4 11
Mr. Leung Ka Cheung 2RERE 44 212 212 1/1 4/4 1/1

During the Reporting Period, the Chairman of the Board held a meeting RBREHA  EES T FEBIIFMITESRE
P

with the independent non-executive Directors without the presence of 177 — R &% @ HhEBTEHMEBEEHE -
other Directors.

K CASH REERLAT 2024FH 113

J



114

Corporate Governance Report (b & AR

RESPONSIBILITIES, ACCOUNTABILITIES AND
CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company; and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the
Company'’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and
financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. The independent non-executive Directors are
responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the
Company and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations. All Directors
have full and timely access to all the information of the Company. The
Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by
them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and coordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

The Company has established a mechanism to ensure independent
views and advice are available to the Board through seeking the external
independent professional advice from legal advisers and auditor, as well
as the full attendance of all INEDs at all the meetings of the Board and
its relevant committees. The Board reviews the implementation and its
effectiveness of the aforementioned mechanisms on an annual basis.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken against
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual basis.
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BOARD INDEPENDENCE EVALUATION

During the Reporting Period, the Board reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the mechanisms in place to ensure that independent
views and opinions are available to the Directors. Having considered the
following aspects, the Board considered that the Company maintained
an effective mechanism to ensure a potent and sufficient element of
independence in the Board:

o there are three INEDs in the Board (representing one-third of the
Board), all of whom continued to devote sufficient time to the
Company; other Board Committees are also comprised sufficient
number of independent non-executive Directors to ensure that
independent views are available to each Board Committee;

. the Board reviews its structure, size and composition (including
skills, knowledge, experience, gender balance and length of tenure)
and the implementation and effectiveness of the diversity policy at
least annually to maintain a balanced Director composition in the
Board;

o the Nomination Committee assesses the independence of all INEDs
annually in accordance with the independence standards set out
in the Listing Rules to ensure that they are always able to exercise
independent judgment;

o all Directors (including INEDs) have equal opportunities and
multiple channels to convey and express their independent views
and input to the Board and Board Committees;

o all Directors (including INEDs) may request further data and
documentation from the management of the Company on matters
discussed at Board meetings;

o all Directors may seek assistance from company secretary and
seek external independent professional advice at the Company’s
expense;

° all Directors (including INEDs) shall not vote on any Board

resolution approving any contract or arrangement in which he/she
or any of his/her associates has a material interest nor shall he/she
be counted in the quorum of the meeting; and

o the Chairman of the Board should at least annually hold meetings
with the INEDs without the presence of other Directors to discuss
matters and address concerns.

The Board has delegated to the CEO and the senior management of the
Group the authority and responsibility for the day-to-day management
and operation of the Group and has the full support of them for discharge
of their responsibilities. The delegated functions and responsibilities are
periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to
entering into any significant transactions.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The positions of chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer
of the Company are held by Mr. Lee Sheung Shing and Mr. Lee Kun Tai
Steven, respectively. The chairman of the Board provides leadership and is
responsible for the effective functioning and leadership of the Board. The
chief executive officer focuses on the Company’s business development
and daily management and operations generally.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Company had three INEDs in
compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, with
at least one of them possessing appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise. The number
of INEDs is at least one third of the number of the Board members.
According to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, each of Prof. Hung Wai Man,
Mr. Mak Wing Sum Alvin and Mr. Leung Ka Cheung, being the INEDs
as at 31 December 2024, have made confirmations to the Company
regarding their independence throughout the Reporting Period. Based on
the confirmations of such INEDs, the Company considers each of them to
be independent during the Reporting Period.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code stipulates that every director
should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of
Directors are laid down in the Articles of Association.

Each of our executive Directors and non-executive Directors has entered
into a service agreement with the Company for a term of three years
which may be terminated by not less than one months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other.

Each of our INEDs has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years, which may be terminated by not less
than one months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meetings. Under the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not
less than one-third shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years. The Articles of Association also provides that all Directors appointed
to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as addition to the existing Board
shall hold office until the first annual general meeting after appointment.
The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuing professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company has arranged training for its Directors and provided them with
reading material on relevant topics. Each Director has been provided with
necessary induction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/
her responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations.

All Directors have been updated with the latest developments regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practises. In addition, continuing briefing and professional development to
Directors will be arranged whenever necessary.

All Directors have complied with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code
and participated in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills during the Reporting Period.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF EEMFEEEERE(E)
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

The training records of the Directors for the year ended 31 December #HE-ZT_UF+-A=+—HILFE  E=
2024 are summarized as follows: Cob=g |\uaﬁi$ﬁ},LlZDT :

Type of TrainingVete

Directors E R
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lee Kun Tai Steven TIRREE A, B
Ms. Wong Cheuk Sze BEHRLT A B
Non-Executive Directors FHITES A B
Mr. Lee Sheung Shing TERELE A B
Ms. Lee Pik Tsong TEBTT A B
Ms. Chan Wing Sze PREXEF 22+ A B
Ms. Kan Pui Yan BEEE
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIUFHTES
Prof. Hung Wai Man JP HBRHBEAFHL A B
Mr. Mak Wing Sum Alvin BKRFEE A B
Mr. Leung Ka Cheung REREFKE A B
Note: Bt
Types of Training 15577
A: Attending relevant training sessions, including but not limited to briefings, A : HIE RS - BI5E TRREIRE - 7T
seminars, conferences and workshops 2 2ZRIIEG
B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant B - BIBEEATEEE - #E - BT - it RIG6
publications Yy
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and the Independent
Business Opportunity Assessment Committee, for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board Committees of the Company
are established with specific written terms of reference which deal
clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of reference of the
Board Committees are posted on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website.

Audit Committee

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee consisted of three
INEDs, namely, Mr. Leung Ka Cheung, Prof. Hung Wai Man JP and Mr.
Mak Wing Sum Alvin. Mr. Leung Ka Cheung, who holds the appropriate
professional qualifications as required under Rule 3.10(2) and Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules, served as the chairman of the Audit Committee.
The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise
the Company’s financial reporting process and internal control and risk
management systems, to nominate and monitor external auditors, to
provide advice and comments to the Board on matters related to corporate
governance, and to perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned
by the Board. The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the Reporting Period, two Audit Committee meetings were held.
During the meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed the audit planning
memorandums, the annual results and annual report for the year ended
31 December 2023, the interim results and interim report for the period
ended 30 June 2024, the financial reporting and compliance procedures,
and the risk management and internal control system.

Remuneration Committee

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee comprised five
members, namely Prof. Hung Wai Man JP, Mr. Lee Kun Tai Steven, Mr. Lee
Sheung Shing, Mr. Mak Wing Sum Alvin and Mr. Leung Ka Cheung, the
majority of them are INEDs. Prof. Hung Wai Man JP served as the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to establish, review and offer advice to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure concerning remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Company and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing policies concerning such
remuneration, and to make recommendations to the Board on the terms
of the specific remuneration package of each executive Director and senior
management of the Company. The written terms of reference of the
Remuneration Committee are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

During the Reporting Period, two Remuneration Committee meetings
were held. During the meetings, the Remuneration Committee reviewed
and recommended to the Board on the remuneration packages of the
Directors and the senior management of the Company and assessed
the performance of the Directors and the senior management of the
Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)
Nomination Committee

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee comprised
five members, namely Mr. Lee Sheung Shing, Mr. Lee Kun Tai Steven,
Prof. Hung Wai Man JP, Mr. Mak Wing Sum Alvin and Mr. Leung Ka
Cheung, the majority of them are INEDs. Mr. Lee Sheung Shing served as
the chairman of the Nomination Committee. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and composition
of our Board and make recommendations to our Board regarding any
proposed changes to the composition of our Board, to identify, select
or make recommendations to our Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships, to ensure diversity of our Board members,
to assess the independence of our independence of our INEDs and
make recommendations to our Board on relevant matters relating to
the appointment, re-appointment and removal of our Directors and
succession planning for our Directors. The written terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

During the Reporting Period, one Nomination Committee meeting
was held. During the meeting, the Nomination Committee made
recommendation to the Board on the retiring Directors’ eligibility for re-
election at the annual general meeting, assessed the independence of
the independent non-executive Directors, and reviewed the structure and
gender diversity of the Board.

Independent Business Opportunity Assessment Committee

During the Reporting Period, the Independent Business Opportunity
Assessment Committee consists of four members, namely Ms. Wong
Cheuk Sze, Prof. Hung Wai Man JP, Mr. Mak Wing Sum Alvin and Mr.
Leung Ka Cheung. Mr. Mak Wing Sum Alvin served as the chairman of the
Independent Business Opportunity Assessment Committee. The primary
duties of the Independent Business Opportunity Assessment Committee
are to, among other matters, ensure that the Excluded Group NCU
given by the Excluded Group will be implemented strictly and effectively,
review, assess and consider matters related to the Excluded Group NCU,
and assess whether or not our Group has taken up the Referred Business
Opportunities and whether the Excluded Group NCU has been duly
implemented.

During the Reporting Period, four Independent Business Opportunity
Assessment Committee meetings were held. During the meetings, the
Independent Business Opportunity Assessment Committee reviewed
whether the Excluded Group has duly referred business opportunities to
our Group pursuant to the Excluded Group NCU and our Group's decision
on whether to take up such business opportunities.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

In order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain the
high standard of corporate governance, we have adopted the board
diversity policy which sets out the objective and approach to achieve and
maintain diversity of the Board. Pursuant to the board diversity policy,
the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration
of a number of factors when selecting the candidates to the Board,
including but not limited to gender, age, culture, education background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
The ultimate decision of the appointment will be based on merit and the
contribution which the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Board comprises nine Directors, including two executive Directors,
four non-executive Directors and three INEDs. The Directors have a
balanced mix of knowledge and skills, including knowledge and skills in
the business of licensed money lending industry, finance and accounting.
They obtained degrees in various majors including commerce, accounting
and business administration. The Company has three INEDs with different
industry backgrounds, representing one-third of the members of the
Board. Furthermore, the Board comprises Directors of a wide range of age,
ranging from 45 years old to 88 years old. As at 31 December 2024, there
were four female Directors on the Board. The Board targets to maintain at
least the current level of female representation, with the ultimate goal of
achieving gender parity. The Company will continue to apply the principles
of appointments based on merits with reference to our board diversity
policy as a whole.

Among all the employees of the Company, male and female employees
account for approximately 50% and 50%, respectively. The Company
believes that the gender ratio in the workforce is balanced and within the
reasonable range and the Group will continue to maintain the gender
diversity in workforce.

DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

Our Board has adopted a nomination policy which sets out the selection
criteria and process in relation to the selection, appointment and re-
appointment of the Directors and aims to ensure that our Board has a
balance of skills, experience, knowledge and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to our Company's business.

The nomination policy sets out the factors for assessing the suitability
and the potential contribution to our Board of a proposed candidate,
including but not limited to the following: (a) character and integrity;
(b) qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience and diversity aspects under our board diversity policy
that are relevant to our Company’s business and corporate strategy; (c)
requirement for our Board to have INEDs in accordance with the Listing
Rules and whether the candidate would be considered independent with
reference to the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules; (d) potential contributions the candidate can bring to our Board
in terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender
diversity; and (e) the willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge duties as a member of our Board.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Our Directors and senior management receive compensation in the form
of fees, salaries, contributions to pension schemes, other allowances,
other benefits in kind and/or discretionary bonuses with reference to those
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and performance of
our Directors and senior management, as well as the performance of our
Group. Our Group regularly reviews and determines the remuneration
and compensation packages of our Directors and senior management
by reference to, among other things, market level of remuneration and
compensation paid by comparable companies, respective responsibilities
of our Directors and senior management and performance of our
Group. The remuneration policy for INEDs is to ensure that INEDs are
adequately compensated for their efforts and time dedicated to the
Company’s affairs, including their participation in Board committees.
The remuneration for the INEDs mainly comprises Director’s fee which is
determined with reference to their duties and responsibilities by the Board.
Individual Directors and senior management have not been involved in
deciding their own remuneration.

Details of the remuneration by band of the members of the senior
management of our Company for the Reporting Period are set out below:

HK$0 to HK$ 1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000
Over HK$1,500,000 1,500,000 7T A =
The remuneration of each Director and the chief executive are set out in
note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

For the Reporting Period, no emolument was paid by our Group to any
Directors or any of the five highest paid individuals as inducement to join

or upon joining our Group as compensation for loss of office.

For the Reporting Period, none of the Directors has waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the Reporting Period. The
Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements of the Company with a view to ensuring that such financial
statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
and relevant statutory and regulatory requirements and applicable
accounting standards are complied with. The Board has received from the
senior management the management accounts and such accompanying
explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board to make
an informed assessment for approving the financial statements. As at 31
December 2024, the Board was not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that might cast significant doubt on the
Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern. The responsibility of the
external auditor is to form an independent opinion, based on their audit,
on those consolidated financial statements prepared by the Board and
to report their opinion to the Shareholders. The statements by external
auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, about their reporting responsibility
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group are set out in the
independent auditor’s report in this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the collective
responsibility of Directors which include:

o to formulate and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

o to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

o to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

° to formulate, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;
and

o to review the Company’s compliance with the Listing Rules and

disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

Our Board is responsible for our Company’s risk management and internal
control systems and for reviewing their effectiveness at least annually.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure
to achieve the business objectives of our Group and to only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss.

During the Reporting Period, our Board supervised the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal
control systems, and reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of our Group on an ongoing
basis; such review covered all major control aspects of our Group,
including financial, operational and compliance controls. Our Board is of
the view that the risk management and internal control systems of our
Company throughout the Reporting Period is effective and adequate.

The Company has an internal audit function to focus on the adequacy
and effectiveness of its risk management and internal control systems.
Our Group's risk management and internal control systems covered each
operation department, to ensure that our Group could effectively manage
the key factors that might affect our Group in achieving its strategic
objectives, such factors including events, accidents or behaviors with
a material impact on our Group's reputation, assets, capital, profit or
liquidity.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
(CONTINUED)

Our Company has adopted a consolidated set of risk management policies
which set out a risk management framework to identify, assess, evaluate
and monitor key risks associated with our strategic objectives on an on-
going basis. Our audit committee and ultimately our Directors supervise
the implementation of our risk management policies. Risks identified by
our management will be analyzed on the basis of likelihood and impact,
and will be properly followed up and mitigated and rectified by our Group
and reported to our Directors. We have adopted or will continue to adopt,
among other things, the following principles:

(a

J

establish an audit committee to review and supervise our financial
reporting process and internal control system;

adopt various policies to ensure the compliance with the Listing
Rules, including but not limited to policies in respect of risk
management, connected transactions and information disclosure;

appoint Ms. Lai Siu Kuen as our company secretary to ensure the
compliance of our operation with applicable laws and regulations;

appoint China Everbright Capital Limited as our compliance
advisors upon the Listing to advise us on compliance with the
Listing Rules;

engage external legal advisors to advise us on compliance with the
Listing Rules and to ensure our compliance with relevant regulatory
requirements and applicable laws, where necessary;

provide regular anti-corruption, anti-bribery, anti-money laundering
and sanctions related compliance training for senior management
and employees in order to enhance their knowledge of and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, our Company’s
anti-corruption policy, whistleblowing policy and other relevant
policies; and

arrange our Directors and senior management to attend training
seminars on the Listing Rules requirements and the responsibilities
as directors and senior management of a Hong Kong-listed
company.

R\bs S K W Ep B ()

ARBCHEA—ERGRREERR - B9
7§\J REIRNESR - REHR - 3 - FHER
ERERK B SERNIZAMR %V% ge

NEE=EERREEBRRNERSN - &2
l"ﬁﬁ;%JE’JJ—LFAHﬂETFT“'Ii&%%&ELﬂ

O AAEEZERE - BELYLE - FA
BEERE - RACSRAABEERBU TR
q) - A e

@  UBEZRZEE - W REERMN
FATSERIRIZ FF M ERES IR R AR

() RMERIE - DR A EARAl
BEETEREHARER - BHiERS
TR R B B

(@ EERVBREIR/ATWE - AREREK
FIey & B @ AP KRB

d RETERZEFEAABREBRIAR
BRER - ARt ETRAIEETE R
ﬁﬁﬁ?ﬂf{/\ =) E:

()  REESMNSEEZEM - L‘AFJEL‘W%EH'JEI’JL
SERAEMAREER - BEREE
*Bﬁ%ﬁ*m%ﬁ,m&ﬁ%/ﬂﬁﬂ(ﬁﬂ*ﬁﬁa)

H EHREREEEMMEERHERES -
REBAR ~ ROEE M BB EARRR & R
Al - PADNSR TR 5 A BAE DA DI ARG -
ARBRESHE - BRBRLEAHE
[6R R R O N Al e 8 Bl B IR H) B ST 1B
R

(9) LHEERSRERESNEHLTR

AREAREE LA ﬁ%%&%%&%
BEEBBMEIITTE

K CASH REBERAT 20245

125



126

Corporate Governance Report (b & AR

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
(CONTINUED)

In accordance with the requirements of the SFO and the Listing Rules,
our Group shall disclose to the public any inside information as soon as
possible after such information comes to the attention of our Group,
unless such information is within the scope under any safe harbours
provision in the SFO. Our Group will ensure such information will
be kept confidential before it is fully announced to the public. If our
Group considers that the confidentiality required cannot be kept, or
such information may have leaked already, such information will be
disclosed to the public immediately. We also endeavour to ensure that
the information contained in the announcement shall not be deceptive or
misleading in all material aspects, and there are no other material matters
the omission of which would make the information contained therein to
be deceptive or misleading, such that the insider information disclosed
can be made available to the public in an equal, timely and effective
manner. In addition, if there are any significant risk events, the related
information will be disclosed to appropriate authorities and personnel, so
that appropriate decisions and measures can be made and implemented
by our Group to deal with such risk events. Meanwhile, in order to further
develop the risks management culture of the enterprise, as well as to
enhance the risk awareness of our staff, our Group has already rolled out
training programs to enhance the risk awareness of our staff, so that we
can assure to maintain the balance between business expansion and risks
management in our operation.
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AUDITORS" REMUNERATION

The financial statements contained in this annual report have been
audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers. The remuneration paid/payable to
the external auditors of the Company in respect of audit services and non-
audit services is set out below:

AR5 % B!

Service Category

A S0 25 B
AERFRABREC BBELR BRI
BB - RBERSRIEFRRBEN /B
BENSPIN 2 CIEE I P

Fees Paid/Payable
HKS$

et ERER

A ITT

Audit Services for 2024 T NFERRZ R 1,100
Non-audit Services: IEEIZRTE -
Review on interim financial report EHR P BEERE 500
Other services H RS 153
Total et 1,753

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has appointed Ms. Lai Siu Kuen (“Ms. Lai”) as its company
secretary. Ms. Lai is a director of the company secretarial services
department of Tricor Services Limited and is in close collaboration and
connection with Ms. Lin Ching Man, the chief financial officer of the
Company. For the year ended 31 December 2024, Ms. Lai has undertaken
not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rule.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Company believes that effective communication with Shareholder
is essential to enhance investor relations and to keep investors informed
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company has
established various and a wide range of communication channels with
Shareholders, including general meeting, annual results and interim
results, annual and interim reports, announcements and circulars. To
facilitate the communication between the Company and investors, the
Company holds meetings, briefings and roadshows with investors and
analysts from time to time. Shareholders may make enquiries with the
Company through channels mentioned below, and provide comments and
recommendations to the Directors or the management at any time. Upon
receipt of written enquiries from Shareholders, the Company will make
actual responses to the Shareholders as soon as possible.

In addition, the Company updates its website from time to time to keep
the Shareholders update of the recent development of the Company. The
Company endeavours to maintain an ongoing dialogue with Shareholders.
At the annual general meeting, the Directors (or their delegates as
appropriate) will be available to meet with the Shareholders and answer
their enquiries. During the Reporting Period, all corporate communications
and regulatory announcements were published by the Company on
its website and the website of the Stock Exchange in a timely manner.
Based on a review of the initiatives taken as mentioned above, the Board
considers that the shareholders communication policy has been effective
throughout the Reporting Period.

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting

According to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, general meetings
can be convened on the written requisition of any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than 10% of
the voting rights, on a one vote per share basis, of the issued Shares
which as at that date carrying the right to vote at general meetings of
the Company. The requisition must state the objects and the resolutions
to be added to the agenda of the meeting and must be signed by the
requisitionists and deposited at the principal office of the Company in
Hong Kong. If within 21 days of such deposit the Directors fail to proceed
to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
themselves convene a general meeting, but any meeting so convened shall
be held no later than the day which falls three months after the expiration
of the said 21-day period.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

Procedures and contact details for putting forward proposals
at Shareholders’ meeting

The annual general meeting and other general meetings provide an
important opportunity for Shareholders to express their views and
the Company encourages and promotes Shareholder attendance and
participation at general meetings. The Board members, in particular,
the chairman or his delegates, appropriate members of management
team and external auditors of the Company will attend annual general
meetings to answer Shareholders’ questions. Shareholders attending the
annual general meeting and other general meetings are allowed to have
a reasonable opportunity to ask questions regarding the items on the
meeting agenda, including but not limiting to questions to the external
auditor regarding the conduct of the audit and the preparation and
content of the auditor’s report.

The procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board

and sufficient contact details to enable these enquiries to be
properly directed

If you have any query in connection with your shareholding, please write
to or contact the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at:

Address: 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2980 1333

Fax: (852) 2810 8185

To contact the Company in relation to your query about the Company,
the contact details are as follows:

Address: 17/F, Wheelock House, 20 Pedder Street, Central Hong Kong
(For the attention of the Board of Directors)

Tel: (852) 21111 211

Fax: (852) 3568 9832

Email: ir@kcash.hk
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

Our Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of our Group's business, performance and strategies. Our
Company also recognizes the importance of timely and non-selective
disclosure of information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to
make the informed investment decisions.

The AGM of our Company provides opportunity for the Shareholders to
communicate directly with the Directors. The Chairman of our Company
and the chairmen of our Board committees of our Company will attend
the AGM to answer Shareholders’ questions. The Auditor will also attend
the AGM to answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the
preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies
and auditor independence.

To promote effective communication, our Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a two-
way relationship and communication between our Company and the
Shareholders and maintains a website of our Company at www.kcash.hk,
where up-to-date information on our Company’s business operations and
developments, financial information, corporate governance practices and
other information are available for public access. Our Board has reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication
policy and considers that the result is satisfactory.

Pursuant to Rule 2.07A of the Listing Rules, the Company will
disseminate the future corporate communications of the Company
(the “Corporate Communications”) to Shareholders electronically and
only send Corporate Communications in printed form to Shareholders
upon request. The Company will make the Corporate Communications
available on its website (www.kcash.hk) and the Stock Exchange’s website
(www.hkexnews.hk).

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Memorandum and Articles of Association
during the Reporting Period.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
YR A LT S

To the Shareholders of K Cash Corporation Limited HK Cash&EBEHR A RIS RR
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) (REFSFE A T BRI F])
OPINION =

What we have audited RMEBERNAS

The consolidated financial statements of K Cash Corporation Limited (the K Cash®=E BB AR([EAF)) REMBA
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on  ([HE£E ) &N E 141 E240B LS 75

pages 141 to 240, comprise: wx - B
o the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2024; o R-Z-_NME+ - =+—HWNEGEEE
EREX

. the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year o HEZHIEFEMNGAEEEKER
then ended;

. the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then o HEZHILFENGARSEEHR
ended;

. the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; o BEZHLEFENGERESRER &
and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising e REMISHRERMNGE - BREERSFTER
material accounting policy information and other explanatory BR R EMARIEER o
information.

Our opinion EMHER

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and {9525 @ ZSEGEAMBHRRCOBERSE:

fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31  EIRAE([BFHEETMAE ) BHNE B ER
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its  HX8I|([ EBMEREEL ) EEME SR
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with BT HEER-_ZT_NFE+_A=+—HH
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong &SR R EEEZ B IFFENGES %
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been RIBKGAERERE @ WERBEDB(RRIK
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the — I)E)# R EZ AiREL -

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to the measurement
of expected credit losses on loans and advances to customers.

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

REMNER

BPEREEE G AGRMNTEELE
([ EBEFTER ) ETER - HPRELT
EHAENEEEERMNRE P ZBEI
BERGEMBRI]ABNEE] —&H1EE—F
Bl o

BZFIRE  HMESHNEZERETEEE
AT FIRE R IR AR -

b A 3
REFBSTMAGHNBRESHENERTA
(TsPRLL) - JRPPBZRN BRE - XEREST
AETRMMEMBEBEEET -
EARERSIE

HREZFEASRBERMANEXLE - RSY
AHEERAVBRRNBRHREZNER &
FEENRMIBEZERGEVBREMHAR
RERE - ARFAETHZESTREHREBE
B .

?JiﬁﬁEA%TﬁP HRlERERERERTFE
HERRBROBREEERNTEEH

R



Independent Auditor’s Report J& 37 1% B Rl R &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter

BREZER

Measurement of expected credit losses on loans and
advances to customers

Refer to notes 2.2.2.4, 3.1(b) and 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had gross loans and
advances to customers of HK$1,349,315,000 and provision
for expected credit losses (“ECL") on loans and advances to
customers of HK$116,935,000.

The Group applies the “three-stage” approach on loans
and advances to customers to provide for ECL as outlined
in HKFRS 9 which is a risk parameter modelling approach
that incorporates key parameters, including probability of
default, loss given default and exposure at default.

The measurement of ECL on loans and advances to
customers involves significant management judgements
and estimations, primarily including:

- Segmentation of loans based on credit risk
characteristics and types of unsecured loans;

- Selection of appropriate models for each
segmentation of loans;

- Determination of probability of default using
historical loss rate based on historical repayment
records and forward-looking measurement involving
selection of economic indicators and application of
economic scenarios and weighting;

- Determination of loss given default involving
estimation of the expected recovery of outstanding
loans upon default; and

- Determination of whether or not there were
significant increase in credit risk, or default or credit-
impaired loans based on the ageing of each loan
and other qualitative factors.

BREXER(E)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEMNELNTEERRELSE

We have performed the following procedures with respect
to management’s determination of the provision for ECL
on loans and advances to customers, and where relevant,
involved our internal experts with experience in ECL
modelling when performing such procedures:

- understood and evaluated management’s
processes, and validated on a sampling basis
the key internal controls in connection with the
provision for ECL. We assessed the inherent risk of
material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors such as complexity, subjectivity, changes
and susceptibility to management bias or fraud,;

- performed retrospective review to evaluate the
provision for ECL determined by management at
the end of the prior reporting period by comparing
with the subsequent actual outcome to assess the
effectiveness of their estimation processes;

= assessed the appropriateness of segmentation and
methodologies used for the Group’s ECL models;

- evaluated and challenged the appropriateness of
assumptions for developing the key parameters
applied by management in the calculation of ECL
including probability of default, loss given default,
and exposure at default;

- evaluated the reasonableness of criteria applied
by management to determine whether there were
significant increase in credit risk, or default, or
credit-impaired loans in their ECL models;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) EREZEEGE)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEEXSEE BANEZNARERREREE

We focused on this area as the carrying value of loans - tested, on a sampling basis, the accuracy of the year-
and advances to customers is material to the consolidated end loans and advances to customers balances and
financial statements, and the determination of the provision aging by due dates applied in the ECL models, and
for ECL on loans and advances to customers required the use assessed the classification of loans with significant
of significant management judgments and estimations as increase in credit risk, or default, or credit-impaired
described above. loans based on the loans and advances to customers

aging by due dates;

- tested, on a sampling basis, the key inputs of
loan data and historical loan repayment records
for calculation of historical loss rate as a basis of
determination of probability of default applied in the
ECL models;

- performed statistical analysis to assess the
relevance of the forward-looking factors selected
by management when adjusting the probability of
default and applied in the ECL models;

- specifically for unsecured property owner loans,
we tested, on a sampling basis, the value of the
underlying property owned by the borrower for
estimating the expected recovery of any default loan
applied in the ECL models;

- specifically for credit card advances, we have assessed
management’s methodology and assumptions in
estimating the ECL for unused credit limit granted to
the cardholders; and

- checked mathematical accuracy of management’s
calculation of the provision for ECL on loans and
advances to customers determined using the ECL
models.

Based on the procedures performed above, we considered
management’s determination of the provision for ECL on
loans and advances to customers were supportable by
available evidence.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) EARELSE(E)
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in K Cash
Corporation Limited Annual Report 2024 (the “annual report”) other than
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. We
have obtained some of the other information including Directors’ Report
prior to the date of this auditor’s report. The remaining other information,
including Corporate Information, Financial Highlights, Chairman’s
Statement, Management Discussion and Analysis, Directors’ and Senior
Management'’s Biographies, Environmental, Social and Governance Report
and Corporate Governance Report and the other sections to be included
in the annual report, is expected to be made available to us after that
date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not and will not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that
we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the remaining other information to be included in the
annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to Audit Committee
and take appropriate action considering our legal rights and obligations.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed
for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Wai Ching.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 19 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

FeEZElRR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE —Z—E+ - A=+—HI-FE

2024 2023
—E-E T4
HKS'000 HK$'000
FExT T
Interest income FLEUA 5 281,597 248,734
Interest expenses FERX 9 (31,036) (25,182)
Net interest income MEW A FEE 250,561 223,552
Other income Halg A 5 9,629 4,959
Other (losses)/gains, net Hh (&), W FE 5 (2,758) 84
Selling expenses HERY 6 (40,635) (24,808)
General and administrative expenses ~ —f& & {7 2 6 (64,190) (80,815)
Expected credit losses, net TRHE B EERFHE (77,364) (55,757)
Operating profit BT 75,243 67,215
Other finance costs H A& R 9 (1,217) (475)
Profit before income tax BR AT S B AR 74,026 66,740
Income tax expense FriSfiF X 10 (10,272) (15,174)
Profit for the year FRREF 63,754 51,566
Other comprehensive loss Hitt2EER
Items that may be reclassified to AJREERT M2 18 m Y
profit or loss IHH
Exchange differences on translation of &G AN 4 Y
foreign operations b 5 ERE (7) -
Other comprehensive loss for the year  FRE 4 2 M EE (7) =
Total comprehensive income for the year K2 E U A 4258 63,747 51,566
Earnings per share for the year FARASRER
Basic and diluted (HK cents) EARREE (B 11 12.75 13.42

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be  F#it4R & % M Y ES 7% FE 12 [B BE M Mt 55 — 0F 53
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. B o
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

FERERRR

As at 31 December 2024 R —Z—F+=-H=+—H

2024 2023
—E-MF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET T
ASSETS BE
Cash and cash equivalents BENIRESEEY 17 116,428 218,368
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries  F&Y [7] Z & A 7l I8 29 20 236
Amounts due from related parties FE Uk BB 5 018 29 763 82
Loans and advances to customers AEFPIREER NI 15 1,232,380 964,392
Prepayments, deposits and TENFIE - Bk
other receivables Hth FEURIR 16 16,393 12,608
Repossessed assets we e & B 20 23,351 16,445
Income tax recoverable AT EIFT1S R 2,921 =
Deferred income tax assets BEFMSHERE 19 22,930 18,909
Property, plant and equipment MNE - HeEs KRS 13 3,648 3,008
Other asset HEmEE 18 8,787 =
Right-of-use-assets FREEE 25 22,214 7,549
Total assets EEHAE 1,449,835 1,241,597
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to the P UNETE 2PN ]
owners of the Company =
Share capital i 21 50 50
Reserves i 917,550 880,840
Total equity ERBEE 917,600 880,890

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with — Fift4z & & 25 & (& 7= FE 32 7 Ba M B 55 — 01 39
the accompanying notes. & o
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Consolidated Balance Sheet Z4R &5 BEEEX

As at 31 December 2024 A=Z—E+=-HF=+—H

2024 2023
—EDIEF —E=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET T
LIABILITIES =R

Amount due to the ultimate holding B[S &H&RAIERE A B]
company E 29 - 13
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries TEN R RZM B AR IE 29 2,730 99
Accruals and other payables FEstER M At ENRIE 22 7,277 8,977
Income tax payable FER TSR - 2,459
Bank and other borrowings BITREMEE 24 491,902 342,629
Contract liabilities EHEaE 5(c) 641 =
Derivative financial instruments PTEEmTA 23 6,906 =
Lease liabilities HEBE 25 22,779 6,530
Total liabilities BEEE 532,235 360,707
Total equity and liabilities EErAEAHE 1,449,835 1,241,597

The consolidated financial statements on pages 141 to 240 were approved  $ 141 Z240 B MG MIEHEN S _AF
by the Board of Directors on 19 March 2025 and were signed on its =AthWABESEEME  THEEFSNARE

behalf. =z,
Mr. Lee Sheung Shing Mr. Lee Kun Tai, Steven
FRESLE FREFLE
Director Director
EFE EFE

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with — Fift4z & & 25 B 15 7= FE 32 7 Ba M B 55 — 01 39
the accompanying notes. & o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
TeEBER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE —Z—E+ - A=+—HI-FE

Share Share Capital  Exchange Retained
capital premium reserve reserve earnings Total

Bx  KROEE  EARE  ERXRE  RERA C

Notes HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000
Hiat Th Th TR TR TR ThT

Balance at 1 January 2023 RZZ==f-F-BH

] —* —* 20,000 - 700,539 720,539
Profit and total comprehensive ~ EREFIRZENA
income for the year ] - - - - 51,566 51,566
Capitalization of shares BRI 21(b) 37 (37) - - - -
Issuance of new share pursuantto XA {r 241317
the share offer HRG 21(0) 13 224,987 - - - 225,000
Listing expense charged to share AR B INE
premium A% - (16,215) = = = (16,215)
Dividends e 26 = = - - (100,000) (100,000)
Balance at 31 December 2023 ~ W=Z==£+=F
=+-BHER 50 208,735 20,000 - 652,105 830,890
Balance at 1 January 2024 R-E-NE-F-AK
&8 50 208,735 20,000 - 652,105 880,890
Profit for the year EREA - - - - 63,754 63,754
Other comprehensive loss Atz EES - - - 7 - 7
Total comprehensive income FR2EBA
for the year et - - - )] 63,754 63,747
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note) ~ WiBE—BBA&I(4) - - (47) - - (a7
Dividends s 26 - - - - (26,990) (26,990)
Balance at 31 December 2024 H-Z_MWE+_H
=t+-HivEE 50 208,735 19,953 W) 688,869 917,600
* Below HK$1,000 & E7 1,000/ T

Note:  During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group acquired 100% of equity — it - REZEZ T -—HF+—-H=+—HIFFZ -

interest of K Cash Capital Limited (formerly known as Konew Technology EEE L B2 T 7] 7 5 E AR AR R M
Limited) from the controlling shareholder of the Group at consideration of HK$2, K Cash Capital Limited ( 571 #8 Z £ Bl B &R 2
of which had a net liabilities HK$47,000 and was charged to capital reserve of 7])100%R¥E - A B B FFEA7,000/8 TR
the Group upon transfer. B E A FEEELEETHI

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in | it 45 & #E 25 5 Sh 3% 8 52 7] B8 B B 55— GF B3
conjunction with the accompanying notes. i o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FElaRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HZE —Z—E+ - A=+—HI-FE

2024 2023
—ECNE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TRT AT
Cash flows from operating activities TETHRLTE
Cash (used in)/generated from operations (R /55 e 27(@a) (159,198) 43,718
Interest paid ERFIES (31,373) (22,482)
Income tax paid BRMEH (19,669) (14,125)
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating RETEE(FR) /8
activities it (210,240) 7m
Cash flows from investing activities RETHESRE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE BERZE 13 (1,999) (1,463)
Repayments from fellow subsidiaries EEAENG 216 90,645
(Advances to)/repayments from related parties  ([FIEGESH B 208 /BH T E R (728) 556
Repayment from a director —REEEN - 17
Proceeds from disposals of property, plantand /&2 « KRG
equipment FfS5UE 27(d) 295 360
Purchase of other asset BEHMEE (9,880) =
Bank interest received B BERITHE, 3,307 505
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing BEEH(FA) /FEEE
activities it (8,789) 90,620
Cash flows from financing activities METHRENE
Repayments of bank and other borrowings ERRIREMEER 27(b) (556,878) (375,876)
Proceeds from bank and other borrowings RITREMEEEHE 27(b) 710,222 414,125
Payment of principal elements of lease liabilities X IBEEENALHH 27(b) (10,655) (11,209)
Payment of interest elements of lease liabilities RS & EMFIEHH 27(b) (1,217) (475)
Payment of listing expenses to be capitalized into & Zx{k AEH) X
equity (BES - (14,587)
Repayment to the ultimate holding company ~ ASAXERARER 27(b) (13) (71)
Repayments to the immediate holding company ~ FEE 2R A RIER 27(b) - (10,500)
Advances from fellow subsidiaries KERZHBARNDH 27(b) 2,631 =
Repayments to related parties BB R 27(b) - (29,901)
Proceed from initial public offering BRARBEMSIE 27(d) - 225,000
Dividend paid BEARE 26 (26,990) (100,000)
Net cash generated from financing activities RMEEHSREFE 117,100 96,506
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash BERBEZEBNRD) /80
equivalents B (101,929) 194,237
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ~ FH3R & MRS EEY 218,368 24,131
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ExEHNTE (11) -
Cash and cash equivalents atend of year ~ FREERBEZEY 17 116,428 218,368

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in _FiliEA RSk E = EERBEMH 3 — 1R
conjunction with the accompanying notes. i o
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information

B MR FE

1

GENERAL INFORMATION

K Cash Corporation Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 25 October 2022,
as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Act, Cap. 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as combined
and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the
Company'’s principal place of business is 17/F, Wheelock
House, 20 Pedder Street, Central, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged
in providing unsecured loans in Hong Kong.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 5 December 2023 (the “Listing”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the Company’s
functional and the Group's presentation currency.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong Company
Ordnance Cap. 622. The consolidated financial statements
of the Group have been prepared under the historical cost
convention.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the
Group.
The Group has applied the followings new and
amended standards for the annual reporting period
commencing 1 January 2024:

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current

Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with
HKAS 1 Covenants

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and
HKFRS 16 Leaseback

Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (Revised)

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

The amendments listed above did not have any
impact on the amounts recognized in prior periods
and are not expected to significantly affect the
current or future periods.

2

R EHHESE

2.1

AEEGAVBRRERES
BRI AGEMH T EYB
BEEA(BEEVBHREE
A1) BB B BMEGIN(FE622
B)NBEERRFEH - ARBEER
BMBRRERIBELKAME
kTR

WRB B Y ME ERIRELS
EUBRRAERETHRES
FHEE - MEREEERER
AEESFBRABEFRED
HIER o % R HIE HAEFERRE R
S0k e ar RN pE E3ii]
EEBEANBREENEE
PAMTEAKREE -

(@) AEERABHETR
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A—BRBENFERS
HAFR B2 /B A T3 aT I
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FEGHEN  HRBAEA
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FIR(BTR)  HRBAE
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(CHEY
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN 2 REEERESTTRREH
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) (&)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 RBEEGE)
(b) New standards, amendments to standards and (b) EEAERZZT_MF
interpretation issued but are not yet effective for —A—BRABNFER
the annual reporting period commencing 1 January HEAM MR E B R E
2024 and have not been early adopted by the AREBRBERMNOFTE]
Group: 8| - EAUEFT AR
=

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

AU BHIs;
Z BB
B HEEN
Amendment to HKAS 21 and HKFRS 1 Lack of Exchangeability (amendments) 1 January 2025
BRI ERE215 BB B AT AR (BRTAN) —T-hF—H—H
HELERE1RUEFTA)
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7  Classification and Measurement of Financial 1 January 2026
Instruments (amendments)
BEANBMELREIRRABNE SRIANSBERIAEEEIR) T R"F—H—H
HELERETHRUERTA)
HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10  Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting 1 January 2026
and HKAS 7 Standards — Volume 11
BAMBRELEAFE 1R - BB HRELR S ERR —E-R"E—A—H
BAMBRELRFETR - FEDE—F 111

BB RS ERE N -
EBRTEREERE 105 KR
BB ERIETH

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial 1 January 2027
Statements

BEIBRELERFE 185 BBHENERER —E-+5—HA—H

HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: 1 January 2027
Disclosure

BRI RELERE 195 FARZAEAMBAR : HE —ZE+¥—H—H

HK Int 5 (2020) Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) 1 January 2027

Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause (HK Int 5 (2020))
BERRBESR(ZZ ) BRARBESTR(ZE T ) UBmEN —T-t+F—H—H
25— ERAH B S REKETIERA
*Hﬁfﬁzmﬁ’] DA (B BREEST
(ZZZTF))
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between To be determined
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture (amendments)

BRMBRELERF 105 R RAEEEEBMENFRSAERELEN HEE
BB QT ERIF 285 BEREIRAERTA)
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN 2 REEERETHRE
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) (58)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEE(E)
(b)  (Continued) (b) €=))
According to the preliminary assessment by the RIEZESF LN LT
directors, the Group expected that these new o NEBEHZEHN
standards, amendments and interpretation to SIZER IR B EREE]
existing standards do not have any significant ARZETI2HAEER
impact to its financial position and performance B B TS AR O B 3R 3R 3 K
and have not been early adopted by the Group. The EAEAZE - HHAR
Group expects to adopt the relevant new standards, BASEREHEM - K
amendments and interpretation to existing Elfﬁﬁﬁﬁf\ﬁ?ﬂ%ﬁﬂﬁg
standards when they become effective. Al - HEEANEFT AR K
BERENFRNZEE

B EREATARRIE -

2.2 Material accounting policy information BEAESTTBEER
2.2.1 Principles of consolidation and equity 221 ZEANERARERS
accounting E1Rz
Subsidiaries K& 2y &l
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured WEB AR EAREBYE
entities) over which the Group has control. The EEHENTEER
Group controls an entity when the Group is (PIEEBEER) -8
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from AEFEBRHLHETEM
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to AENGRESIED
affect those returns through its power to direct the W WBEENBEREE
activities of the entity. BRZERTSNENY
ZZLORK AAEH
PEHIRZEE -
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized SEHARFIERS - #&
gains on transactions between group companies HEEBRQRRER SR
are eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated B Was T AT o BR
unless the transaction provides evidence of an IR GEPHEEREE
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting HIREE - BARER
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where ESIB TN T LA¥TEH o Pﬁ%
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies gﬂ WESTHED RN Y

adopted by the Group.

I (F 1 & ) LA TE (R 22
REBRME R 2

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of Bt A A R R
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated B FEIE R D JEA{F
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated ErElEE - e

statement of changes in equity and consolidated
balance sheet respectively.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions — that is, as transactions
with the owners of the subsidiary in their capacity
as owners. The difference between fair value of
any consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying amount of net assets of
the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses
on disposals to non-controlling interests are also
recorded in equity.

HEBRDES ﬁ?fé
f%%EPiﬁﬁlJ/T\ o

WY EBN B
Mﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ =

SE AR KRR
3H BiEER S ART
e S - BB B
NEIEBN(ERES
ANVETHR S - A8
ﬁﬁF“?ﬁ@%%%
R R 0 FE (R B B A
QE@E$E@M%$
N PN R e Sl
f ok 6 By Uk W%E
IRz ARR o

4\

K CASH REBERAT 202453

J

149



150

Notes to the Historical Financial Information &

2

BEMBERME

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Material accounting policy information

2.2

(Continued)

2.2.2 Financial assets

2.2.2.1

Classitfication

The classification depends on the Group’s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

Where the business model is to hold assets
to collect contractual cash flows or to collect
contractual cash flows and sell, the Group
assesses whether the financial instruments’
cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest (“SPPI”). In making this
assessment, the Group considers whether
the contractual cash flows are consistent
with a basic lending arrangement i.e. interest
includes only consideration for the time value
of money, credit risk, other basic lending
risks and a profit margin that is consistent
with a basic lending arrangement. Where the
contractual terms introduce exposure to risk
or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic
lending arrangement, the related financial
asset is classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Material accounting policy information

2.2

(Continued)

2.2.2 Financial assets (Continued)

2.2.2.1

Classitfication (Continued)

Debt instruments are those instruments that
meet the definition of a financial liabilities
from the issuer’s perspective. During the
year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
only holds debt instruments, including cash
and cash equivalents, loans and advances to
customers, other receivables and deposits,
amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and
amounts due from related parties, which are
held for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent SPPI thus
measured at amortized cost.

The Group reclassifies debt investments
when and only when its business model for
managing those assets changes.

2

RUEERE
(1)

2.2

e

A

R

EXEBEER(H)

222 SWEE(E)
2221 74E(4E)
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information &

BEMIEE R

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN 2 mRLE SETBRE
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) (&)
2.2 Material accounting policy information 22 EARSTBERER(E)

(Continued)
2.2.2 Financial assets (Continued)

222 SWEEE)
2.2.2.2 TER R AL IFFERR

2.2.2.2 Recognition and derecognition

152

Regular way purchases and sales of financial BReBMEEE
assets are recognized on trade-date, the A ZI=E LI
date on which the Group commits to REBAFEE

purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognized when the rights to receive cash

ZEEER)®
ReMATRE

flows from the financial assets have expired EXRBRERE

or have been transferred and the Group B #E FI B B HA 3k

has transferred substantially all the risks and BHEE MASK

rewards of ownership. B ERT A
K48 K & o =
Kl - BlgK
IHERSREE o

2.2.2.3 Measurement iE

Initial measurement Tt E

At initial recognition, the Group measures N ERE K

a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the S8k AFEM

case of a financial asset not at fair value (1ﬁ§jﬁ#}£’2\$

through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are
expensed in profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement

The amortized cost is the amount at which
the financial asset or financial liability is
measured at initial recognition: (i) minus the
principal repayments; (ii) plus or minus the
cumulative amortization using the effective
interest method of any difference between
that initial amount and the maturity amount;
(iii) for financial assets, adjusted for any loss
allowance.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN 2 IREEERETTBERE
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) (&)
2.2 Material accounting policy information 22 EARSTBERER(E)
(Continued)
2.2.2 Financial assets (Continued) 222 S@MEEGE)
2.2.2.3 Measurement (Continued) 2223iE(#&)
Interest income from these financial assets ZETHMEERN
is included in “Interest income” using the FMEBWAFERE
effective interest method. BRAZ AR AT A
BUA ] -

Interest income is calculated by applying the F B U A 38
effective interest rate to the gross carrying TRIEEMNRE
amount of financial assets and is included in BEEERERF
“Interest income”, except for: K HE - Wit A
[FEHAL - HE

LA ESBRAD
. purchased or originated credit- . HREBA
impaired (“POCI”) financial assets, R4S
whose interest income is calculated, B R &
since initial recognition, by applying (I8 Ak
the credit-adjusted effective interest RERFE
rate to their amortized cost; and BAE ) &
E - HA
Bl AR
1 HE R
HE 3 18 15
KIEEH
BHER
A = e A
X AN EF

iRk
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN 2 REEERESFTECREH
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) (48)
2.2 Material accounting policy information 22 EARSTBERER(E)
(Continued)
2.2.2 Financial assets (Continued) 222 £REE(E)
2.2.2.3 Measurement (Continued) 222355 (#E)

o financial assets that are not POCI but . ESpARIZE S
have subsequently become credit- B AR
impaired, whose interest income is HEER
calculated by applying the effective (ER[EPE
interest rate to their amortized cost HBEEE
(i.e. net of the expected credit loss WENS
provision). If, in a subsequent period, BEE -
the financial assets improve their B R B
qualities so that they are no longer A i i
credit-impaired and the improvement B A x
in credit quality is related objectively JEREH
to a certain event occurring after the B4 K
application of the above-mentioned 7~ (BD 40
rules, then the interest income is bR B HA 1S
calculated by applying the effective E B B
interest rate to their gross carrying ) &t
amount. g fMA
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2

Material accounting policy information

(Continued)

2.2.2 Financial assets (Continued)

2.2.2.3

Measurement (Continued)

The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments or receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability
to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset (i.e. its amortized cost before any
impairment allowance) or to the amortized
cost of a financial liability. The calculation
does not consider expected credit losses
and includes transaction costs, premiums
or discounts and fees and points paid or
received that are integral to the effective
interest rate.
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e

A
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN 2 RBEEEN SRS
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) (&)
2.2 Material accounting policy information 22 EARSTBERER(E)
(Continued)
2.2.2 Financial assets (Continued) 222 £REE(E)
2.2.2.4 Impairment of financial assets 2224 2 EEMBIE
The Group assesses on a forward-looking N6 B % AR 1
basis the expected credit losses (“ECL") BT B i
associated with its debt instruments carried SER AN B BR MY (&
at amortized cost. The Group recognizes a BT EERHTE
loss allowance for such losses at the end of HEEER(E
the reporting period. The measurement of HEEER] -
ECL reflects: 7R (B A i 5 B
NERZFEIE
WEEEE - 8
HiEEBEN
SR :
o An unbiased and probability- . G — &
weighted amount that is determined 5| E T 4
by evaluating a range of possible RIEEE
outcome. MAIER
A == 0
TERBER o
o The time value of money. . & I B
FEME -
. Reasonable and supportable . iNE el
information that is available without H 7R 8
undue cost or effort at the reporting % B AR B,
date about past events, current RERTA
conditions and forecasts of future EEE A
economic conditions. ® 7T F
% BAl
AR5 R R
AL BN
T8 RIEY
EEAR
Note 3.1(b) provides more details of how the a3 1)t A
“Provision for impairment” is measured. B[R E B T
EFANEZE
r|EE ®
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

2.2.3 Financial liabilities

(@)

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified as
measured at amortized cost. A financial
liability is classified as measured at FVTPL
if it is classified as held-for trading, it is a
derivative or it is designated as such on
initial recognition. Financial liabilities at
FVTPL are measured at fair value and net
gains and losses, including any interest
expense, are recognized in profit or loss.
Other financial liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method. Interest expense
and foreign exchange gains or losses are
recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss
on derecognition is also recognized in profit
or loss.

2
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

2.2.3 Financial liabilities (Continued)
(b) Derecognition

The Group derecognizes a financial liability
when its contractual obligations are
discharged, cancelled or expired. The Group
also derecognizes a financial liability when its
terms are modified and the cash flows of the
modified liability are substantially different.
In this case, a new financial liability based
on the modified terms is recognized at fair
value. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability extinguished
and the new financial liability with modified
terms is recognized in profit or loss.

2.2.4 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated balance sheet
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognized amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable
right must not be contingent on future events
and must be enforceable in the normal course of
business and in the event of default, insolvency or
bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

2

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

2.2

2.2.5

2.2.6

Interest income

Where the loan or advance to customer is
originated by the Group, interest on the loans or
advances to customers is accrued based on the
contractual interest rates of the loans or advances
as earned using the effective interest method.
When a financial asset at amortised cost is impaired,
the Group reduces the carrying amount to its
recoverable amount, being the estimated future
cash flow discounted at the original effective interest
rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding
the discount as interest income. Interest income on
impaired loans and receivables is recognized using
the original effective interest rate.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
and of allocating the interest income over the year.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments or
receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset. When
calculating the effective interest rate, the Group
estimates cash flows considering all contractual
terms of the financial instrument but does not
consider future credit losses. The calculation
includes all fees paid or received between parties
to the contract that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other
premiums or discounts.

Credit cards income

The Group receives payment services fee income
from credit card transactions. The income is
recognised at a point in time under transaction
based arrangements when services are provided to
the credit card holders based on contractual rates
agreed with them.

The Group also receives handling and late charges
from credit card transactions which are recognised
at a point in time when the Group has unconditional
right to receive such income from the credit card
holders.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to various types of financial risks:
cash flow and fair value interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize
potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance.

3.1 Financial risk factors

(a) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from its cash and
cash equivalents, loans and advances to customers
and bank and other borrowings. Cash and cash
equivalents and bank and other borrowings are
entitled to interest at variable rates that expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Loans and
advances to customers is subject to interest at fixed
rates.

As at 31 December 2024, if market interest rates
had been 1% (2023: 1%) higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, profit before income
tax for the year would have been HK$2,897,000
(2023: HK$1,325,000) lower/higher as a result of
an increase in net interest expense on the bank
and other borrowings netted with cash and cash
equivalents, respectively.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counterparty
will default on its contractual obligations resulting
in financial loss to the Group. The Group’s main
income generating activity is lending and issuing
credit cards to customers and therefore credit risk is
a principal risk.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 BERRERNRREE
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) (&)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BEEREZEGE)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERRGE)
The Group’s credit risk arises from cash and cash Bt BRI R F R
equivalents, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, ERRBFR(BIEREA
amounts due from related parties, deposits and E’M;)EH REE)NEE
other receivables, in addition to the credit risk on oy REEMEE
loans and advances to customers (including unused HEA)Z BEReEMBEEE
credit card limit) as mentioned above. EY - BREARMBEA

AR - FEURRREE T 5K
- RE RE A EYGK

I8 o

Management has a credit policy in place and the EEERXREEEBR

exposures to these credit risks are monitored on MZEEERMESE

an ongoing basis. The carrying amount of these BEESR o ‘Zi%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
balances represents the Group’s maximum exposure RERANEE LT AT
to credit risk in relation to financial assets which are SREEMAYN RS
stated as follows: =ER M :
2024 2023
—E-EF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET T
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEBY
(Note 17) (Hiat17) 116,428 218,368
Amounts due from fellow FEW R R B A RIFIA
subsidiaries (Note 29) (H15£29) 20 236
Amounts due from related parties J& Ut BaRs: 5 I8
(Note 29) (K15229) 763 82
Loans and advances to customers A& P12 HE RN B R
(Note 15 and Note (i) below) (KraF15% T XH1E2()) 1,232,380 964,392
Deposits and other receivables &% & Hith fEU kI8
(Note 16) (B1st16) 9,738 8,594
1,359,329 1,191,672

Note: Hrat -

0] The Group is also potentially exposed to loss in an () K F IR A] BE B G %
amount equal to the total unused credit card limit B E R T 15 H
granted to credit card customers. However, the likely KEF B EF s
amount of loss is less than the total unused credit A FAEEEE TS
card limit, as the credit facilities are contingent upon A EIRL BB
customers maintaining specific credit standards. IR EFFIE AR
At 31 December 2024, unused credit card limit of BHE - MTARE
HK$21,093,000 (2023: HK$ nil) was unrecorded in EREIRRESZ
the consolidated statement of financial position. LRSI EREEE

o QT yF
+ZA=+—H %
& /i s /<5 E
21,093,000% 5t ( —
Fo=F  FET)
WARGIALE Bt
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information &

BEMBERME

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Loans and advances to customers
(i) Credit risk management

Unsecured loans

In respect of the Group’s unsecured loan
receivables, they are not secured by any collaterals
and management has a set of procedures in place
to reduce the potential credit risks.

The Group offers different types of unsecured loans,
namely unsecured property owner loans, unsecured
personal loans and unsecured small and medium
enterprises (“SME") loans.

The Group has a set of loan approval procedures
that takes into account the external credit data
to assess the creditworthiness of its customers’
requesting credit. These assessments are performed
based on the individual credit reports obtained from
a third party and the occupation and background
of the customers corroborating with the supporting
documents provided by the customers.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Loans and advances to customers (Continued)

(i) Credit risk management (Continued)

Unsecured loans (Continued)

The Group engages debt collection agents to
handle the collection of outstanding repayments
of delinquent loans. The debt collection agents
will perform various procedures to approach and
follow up with the customers on the outstanding
repayments. If procedures are considered not
effective, the Group will then initiate legal actions
against the customers to recover the outstanding
amounts.

Management continuously monitors the behavior
of customers and works closely with debt collection
agents on the outstanding repayments of delinquent
loans. Given the procedures and policies in place,
management considers the Group's credit risk to
unsecured loans is limited to a certain extent.

Credit card

The Group offers credit card products with revolving
credit facilities for retail transactions and for short-
term cash needs. Credit card products are provided
entirely on an unsecured basis, requiring no
guarantee or collateral from the cardholders. The
Group generally provides individual cardholders
credit limits within the range of HK$5,000 to
HK$100,000, with effective interest rates up to
36% per annum (with reference to nature of credit
card transactions).

For credit card related credit assessment, cardholders
are offered credit facilities with approved credit
limits that are generally lower than those offered
under the average personal loan facilities. Credit
limits are granted largely based on the same basis as
stated above for the unsecured loan products.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information &

BEMIEE R

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Loans and advances to customers (Continued)

(i) Credit risk management (Continued)

Credit card (Continued)

Regarding credit management, the Group’s credit
department continuously monitors the repayment
status of the credit card customers and makes
reminder calls, arranges for reminder letters and
legal demand letters to be sent to follow up
settlement.

Provision for expected credit losses

The Group provides for expected credit losses on
financial assets based on the amount of outstanding
loans and advances to customers taking into
account the underlying risk profile, forward-
looking information, historical loss experience and
performance regarding historical loss rate of the
loans with similar attributes.

The Group applies the “three-stage” approach on
loans and advances to customers to provide for
expected credit losses (“ECL") as outlined in HKFRS
9. The maximum period considered when measuring
ECL is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk, and impairment
is based on the changes in credit quality since initial
recognition as follows:

o Stage 1: Financial instruments that are not
credit-impaired on initial recognition and
has their credit risk continuously monitored
by the Group. Provision for impairment is
measured at an amount equal to the portion
of lifetime expected credit losses that result
from default events possible within the next
12 months (“12-month ECL");
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information &

BEMBERME

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Loans and advances to customers (Continued)

(i) Credit risk management (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses (Continued)

° Stage 2: Financial instruments with
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, but are not yet deemed to be
credit-impaired. Provision for impairment is
measured based on expected credit losses on
a lifetime basis (“lifetime ECL"); and

° Stage 3: Financial instruments that are credit
impaired where provision for impairment is
measured based on lifetime ECL.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Loans and advances to customers (Continued)

(i) Credit risk management (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

whether the customers have met the
contractual payment obligations;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk;

o any actual or expected significant
deterioration in operating results or financial
conditions of customers;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations; and

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Unless identified at an earlier stage, loans and
advances to customers are deemed to have suffered
a significant increase in credit risk when they are 30
days past due (“"DPD"). These financial assets are
then transferred from Stage 1 to Stage 2 but are
not yet deemed to be credit-impaired and default.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Loans and advances to customers (Continued)

(i) Credit risk management (Continued)

Definition of default and credit-impaired

The Group determines that a financial instrument
is credit-impaired and in Stage 3 by considering
relevant objective evidence, primarily whether
contractual payments of either principal or interest
are past due for more than 90 days.

The following qualitative factors would also be
considered in determining whether default has
occurred:

. The customer is deceased;
. The customer is insolvent; or
o It is becoming probable that the customer

will enter into bankruptcy.

The factors above have been applied to the loans
and advances to customers of the Group and
are consistent with the definition of default used
for internal credit risk management purposes.
Therefore, the definitions of credit-impaired and
default are aligned as far as possible so that Stage 3
represents all loans that are considered defaulted or
otherwise credit-impaired.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information &

BEMIEE R

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Loans and advances to customers (Continued)

(i) Measurement of ECL

The Group measures expected credit losses, net
of financial assets under HKFRS 9 ECL model. The
ECL is measured on either a 12-month or lifetime
basis, depending on whether a significant increase
in credit risk has occurred since initial recognition
or whether an asset is considered to be credit-
impaired. The estimation of ECL is unbiased and
probability weighted and incorporate all available
information which is relevant to the assessment
including information about past events, current
conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts
of future events and economic conditions at each
of the reporting date. The measurement of ECL is
a function of PD, EAD and LGD that are defined
below:

. Probability of Default (“PD"): The PD
represents the likelihood of a customer
defaulting on the corresponding loan
and interest receivable (as per “Definition
of default and credit-impaired” above),
either over the next 12 months or over the
remaining lifetime of the loan;
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 HBEBRRERERERERE
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) (&)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 H¥EKRREE(E)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) (b) FERKGE)
Loans and advances to customers (Continued) FIEFIEEEF R B
(#&)
(ii) Measurement of ECL (Continued) (i) TBEAEEEIEMNETE
(%&)

Exposure at Default (“EAD"): The EAD
represents the expected balance at default,
taking into account the repayment of
principal and interest from the balance sheet
date to the default event together with any
expected drawdowns of committed facilities
and unused credit card limit. EAD is based
on the amounts the Group expects to be
owed at the time of default, over the next
12 months or over the remaining lifetime;
and

Loss given Default (“LGD"): The LGD
represents expected losses on the EAD given
the event of default, taking into account,
among other attributes, the mitigating effect
of expected value to be recovered through
confiscation of the underlying property at
the time it is expected to be realized and
the time value of money. LGD is calculated
on either 12-month or lifetime basis,
representing the percentage of loss expected
to be made if the default occurs in the next
12 months or over the remaining expected
lifetime of the loan respectively.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information &

BEMIEE R

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Loans and advances to customers (Continued)

(i) Measurement of ECL (Continued)

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, EAD
and LGD of each individual exposure. These three
components are multiplied together and adjusted
for the likelihood of survival. This effectively
calculates an ECL for each future month and further
aggregated.

The ECL is measured from the initial recognition
of the financial assets. The maximum period
considered when measuring ECL should either be
on a 12-month or a lifetime basis is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is exposed
to credit risk.

The lifetime PD is calculated by applying a maturity
profile to the 12-month PD. The maturity profile
set out how defaults develop on a loan portfolio
from the point of initial recognition throughout the
lifetime of the loans. The maturity profile is based
on historical data and is assumed to be the same
across all loans of the same loan product supported
by historical analysis.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
Loans and advances to customers (Continued)

(i) Measurement of ECL (Continued)

The 12-month and lifetime EADs are determined
based on the expected payment profile that varies
by different loan products.

The 12-month and lifetime LGDs are determined
based on the factors which impact the recoveries
made after default occurs:

o For unsecured property owner loans, this is
based on the expected value to be recovered
through confiscation of the underlying
property, with the consideration of time to
confiscation and estimated recovery costs.
The LGD is minimal if the outstanding loan
and interest receivable could be substantially
recovered through confiscation and forced
sales of underlying property;

° For unsecured personal loans and SME loans
and advances to customers, this is influenced
by the Group’s collection strategies.

The 12-month ECL is calculated by multiplying the
12-month PD, LGD and EAD, whereas the lifetime
ECL is calculated using the lifetime PD.

J

IR KR ERE R EE

(18

n=

3.1

)

Bt bR A & (&)
(b) FERERGE)

A& P HE R B

(#&)

(i) FHEEBENGTE
(%)

1218 A &2 HE DR

[ME%F%EHHH KA E
7 A RBUR AR

Hgmﬁuuﬁﬁﬁ"

(PAEDEDNER iF e OksES
T*E%FL”J%*E&%L
EAEIEPSES

. BAEEREEER
s @ REEEA
SR ARREE UL
HITBEREE - TE
UL TR R R
haTUREIRA - i
R BB R R
F B RSB RIN
& il lan==v =l

EmAZUE - 8
EHBRIREK
1

. MEEALAE
REFPNEER
AR\ & F R4
BRME @ XA
& B A WRROR B
& o

128 AFRREEERIZ
12ERRAOBE - ELD
BAXRFEDRRBR
‘B ERFL ﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁ
HEEBRAUER:
BROMERFESD -

K CASH REBERAT 202453

171



Notes to the Historical Financial Information &

3

BEMBERME

FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
Loans and advances to customers (Continued)

(iii) Forward-looking information incorporated in

the ECL model

The assessment of ECL incorporates forward-looking
information based on economic forecasts, applies
those assumptions to the ECL model to estimate
future credit losses and probability weight the
result to determine an unbiased ECL estimate and is
performed on a quarterly basis at a portfolio level.
The criteria used in the assessment are monitored
and reviewed periodically for appropriateness by the
management. The Group considers forward-looking
information with reference to the indicators set out
below:

. Real Gross Domestic Products (“GDP");

. Current Balance as of GDP;

. Exports of goods and services (% of GDP);
. Imports of goods and services (% of GDP);
. Population; and

o Unemployment.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1
(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
(iv) Credit risk exposure

Financial risk factors (Continued)

The staging of loan receivables using the Group’s
ECL model is set out in the table below:

Stage 1
12-month
ECL

e

12@A%ES
EEFE
HK$'000
FAT

IR KR ERE R EE

(#8)
3.1 HM¥EBEX(E)
(b) EERKE)

Stage 2
Lifetime
ECL
BeFr2
2HRH
FEER
HK$'000
THT

(v) EERBIRD
TR R B R
BT B A AN
AR -

Stage 3
Lifetime
ECL
BE3
2HEH
FEER
HK$'000
THET

EH
HK$'000
TAT

As at 31 December 2024 R-B-_ME+—A

Sr=[
Loans and advances to customers  [RIEFREET R

B
- Unsecured property owner loans ~— — B HETEX 692,893 32,125 312,024 1,037,042
- Unsecured personal loans —EEFILAEL 225,081 4,249 23,773 253,103
— SME loans —HNMEER 20,732 1,679 24,757 47,168
~ Credit card advances —ERREX 11,424 200 378 12,002
Less: Provision for impairment B ORERE
- Unsecured property owner loans — — & HEFER (1,299) (1,233) (17,680) (20,212)
— Unsecured personal loans —BERLAER (39,090) (3,300) (22,725) (65,115)
— SME loans —HNRER (4,847) (1,306) (23,666) (29,819)
— Credit cards advances — AR (1,282) (167) (340) (1,789)
Loans and advances to customers -  [AIZEFIRIET N

net BHFR 903,612 32,247 296,521 1,232,380

As at 31 December 2023 R-Z==F+=#

=+-H
Loans and advances to customers  RIRPIREET R

b
— Unsecured property owner loans ~ — %+ &5 463,584 28,544 291,893 784,021
— Unsecured personal loans —EERLAER 204,993 4,187 33,115 242,295
- SME loans —/\PET 36,908 4,039 6,584 47,531
Less: Provision for impairment B ORERE
- Unsecured property owner loans ~ — & HETER (1,837) (1,512) (17,670) (21,019)
— Unsecured personal loans —BEFLAER (37,453) (3,525) 1,126) (72,104)
- SME loans —t/hPER (6,743) (3,401) (6,188) (16,332)
Loans and advances to customers - AIRPREET R

net BN 659,452 28,332 276,608 964,392
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
(v) Expected credit losses, net

The provision for expected credit losses, net
recognized during the year is impacted by a variety
of factors, as described below:

(i) Loans recovered or repaid during the year;

(i) Transfers between Stage 1 and Stages 2
or 3 due to financial assets experiencing
significant increases (or decreases) of credit
risk or becoming credit-impaired, and the
consequent “step up” (or “step down")
between 12-month and lifetime ECL;

(iii) Impacts on year end ECL of exposures
transferred between stages during the year;
and

(iv) Financial assets derecognized and the
corresponding write-offs of provision related
to such assets that were written off during
the year.
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BEMBERME

Notes to the Historical Financial Information &

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 ﬂ%ﬂ o N2 B AN E P i I
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) =
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 B¥RREREZEE)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) (b) FEERRGE)

(v) Expected credit losses, net (Continued)

(v) ERMEERIEFEE)
TREAFSHBIE

The following tables explain the changes in the

gross carrying amount of the Group’s gross loans Bﬂﬂiﬂ’]ﬁ’%ﬁgﬁﬁ
and advances to customers from the beginning to HE B AATENER
the end for the reporting period: HEAREE

Balance at 1 January 2023 i %_E A
—HWE 665,228 36,747 316,841 1,018,816
Movement in gross carrying amount due to:  4{ Z/ZE%@? ARE
Ja( A
New financial assets originated or (TR
transferred MeRAE 575,378 = - 575378
Changes in interest accrual JESHF 22 E) 191,813 8,543 48378 248,734
Loans recovered or repaid F WH&@WEL&E@
during the year ER (577,678) (32,889) (96,712)  (707,279)
Trans;er ]trom Stage 1 to Stage 2 Eﬁﬁgﬂigigﬁiﬂ (124,724) 1(24,724) = =
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 S ER2ER RIRER3 - 97,792 97,792 -
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 BRERIELERE3|  (29,886) - 29,886 -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 AREEB R 2,974 (2,974) - -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 BIEE3EB R 2,379 = 2,379 -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 BREER3EBERER - 41 @11) =
Total transfer between stages ZREBRENERESE  (149,257) 24,369 124,888 -
Write-offs ik = = (61,802)  (61,802)
As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=5+-A
=+—H 705,484 36,770 331,593 1,073,847
Balance at 1 January 2024 }}é:;ﬁiﬁf—ﬂ
—HH)4ER 705,484 36,770 331,593 1,073,847
Movement in gross carrying amount due to:  4{ T/Z@fﬁfﬁ? HRIE
New financial assets originated or PTHE B
transferred HemEE 818,838 - - 818,838
Changes in interest accrual FESTI S 23 227,177 10,805 43,615 281,597
Loans recovered or repaid FAKREERD
during the year = (613,079) (27,431)  (104,755)  (745,265)
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 BREENEBERE2|  (154,241) 154,241 = =
Transier From Stage 2 to Stage 3 EE&??Z%?J&?B ( -) (132511) 132,511 -
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 SRIEBERER3 39,726 - 39.726 -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 Bl 2EBB R 3,678 (3,678) - -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 AR E3EBERE 1,999 - (1,999) -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 BREER3EBERER - 55 (55) -
Total transfer between stages ERAFMMEBAE  (188,290) 18,107 170,183 -
Write-offs i3 - - (79702)  (79,702)
As at 31 December 2024 RZBZME+ZA
=t+-H 950,130 38,251 360,934 1,349,315
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BEMBERME

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 ﬂ%ﬂl?ﬁ&:’leiﬂl?ﬁkéfi
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) (3
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 H¥EKRREE(E)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) (b) FERRGE)
(v) Expected credit losses, net (Continued) (v) FEHHMEEEIETEE)
The following tables explain the changes in the TR ERE SRR E
provision for impairment from the beginning to the BRRREREED)

end for the reporting period:

Balance at 1 January 2023 RZE-=%—A
—BMER 40,560 8,498 55,943 105,001
Movement in provision due to: P Z@Eﬁﬁfﬁﬁ
New financial assets originated or PTAERERH
transferred NemAE 51,243 - = 51,243
Loans recovered or repaid FAKEERL
during the year EEN (26,470) (7,232) (34,511) (68,213)
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 BRENEBERE2|  (19,173) 19,173 - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 BRER2EB EHE3 - (67,485) 67,485 -
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 BREIBBERE3 (1,511) - 1,511 -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 BREER 8B ER 96 (96) = -
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 BREERIEL ERE 124 = (124) =
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 BRRIER EEED - 21 21) -
Impact of ECL for the year ENBAEEBREN
e 1,163 55,559 26,504 83,226
Total transfer between stages K& HES A% (19,301) 7,172 95,355 83,226
Write-off 34 - GED R GEY]
As at 31 December 2023 R-B= _'EF‘I' A
Er= 46,032 8,438 54,985 109,455
Balance at 1 January 2024 R-ZE-ME—F
—H R4k 46,032 8,438 54,985 109,455
Movement in provision due to: W T ERERRE
New financial assets originated or m%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ'ﬂ
transferred MEBAE 49,392 - - 49,392
Loans recovered or repaid FRKRERER
during the year Ex (26,901) (4,775) (36,389) (68,065)
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 ElZ Eﬂ?—ﬁ%’?iﬁ g2 (19,697) 19,697 - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 El Ve e E - (67,292) 67,292 -
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 BRER1ELERES (1,935) - 1,935 -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 BB ER ERER 741 (741) =
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 BIEE3EBERE 119 - (119)
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 BREE3EY EAER2 - 3 3) -
Impact of ECL for the year FENTEREEERN
e (1,233) 50,676 56,412 105,855
Total transfer between stages ERBEEMER AR (22,005) 2,343 125,517 105,855
Write-offs 6 - - (79702)  (79,702)
As at 31 December 2024 RZBZNE+ZA
=T—H 46,518 6,006 64,411 116,935
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 E!q B fe & B AR E e
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) (&
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BERBREZEGE)
(b)  Credit risk (Continued) (b) FERRGE)

(vi) Sensitivity analysis
The ECL is sensitive to the inputs used in ECL model
adopted by the Group, macroeconomic variables
in the forward-look information incorporated,
economic scenario weighting and other factors
considered. Changes in these inputs to the BB - KEIFEL
assumptions and judgments impact the assessment ELNHEMEREREZY
of significant increase in credit risk and the 2 - ZFHABE R
measurement of ECL at 31 December 2024. BRHEHEES LY
EERBRAE AT
HERR T _NE+ =
A=+—HEHREES
BrEHE -

TERBAR=ZZFT ZHF
+ZA=+—HEHE
BEEEERFTHER S
ABEESHE AT FIR
HEZLRBRFBHREE
EEREE

(vi) BREDHT

BHEEEBEIIAE
B mEEEEE
18 AL 5 1 A BUR
HIWATRIEE R RE

The following table summarized the impact on
ECL on loans and advances to customers at 31
December 2024 by varying individual inputs used in
the ECL model:

Impact on ECL of loans and
advances to customers
As at 31 December
HoFFRUERK
BREHEEFENTE
R+=—HA=+—H

2024

BAZER
AIREMEERIRE

Changes in inputs or forward-
—E-mE

looking information

— Assuming a further 10%

— BRERE R

Decreased by

Decreased by

weighting added to the HE—FIA10% HK$2,219,000 HK$1,761,000
probability of the optimistic s - BEE > Vs
scenario and a corresponding BESRE TP 2,219,00058 7T 1,761,000/ 7T
10% reduction from the base 10%

scenario
— Assuming a further 10%

—BREREHIBEHE

Increased by

Increased by

weighting added to the E—FIA10% HK$3,097,000 HK$2,250,000

probability of the pessimistic nEE - BEE 3 hn bl

scenario and a corresponding ERAEETBE 3,097,000 5T 2,250,000 7T
10% reduction from the base 10%

scenario

— Assuming the value of the —RERIEEYHEE Decreased by Decreased by

underlying property increased EH7% HK$7,708,000 HK$7,330,000

by 7% L B

7,708,0005& 5T 7,330,000/ 7T

— Assuming the value of the — B EE Increased by Increased by

underlying property decreased TBE7 % HK$12,413,000 HK$12,957,000

by 7% #&hn AN

12,413,000/ T 12,957,000/ 7T
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3

BEMIEE R

FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
(vii) Write-off policy

The Group writes off financial assets, in whole or
in part, when it has exhausted all practical recovery
efforts and has concluded there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery of such assets. Indicators
that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery
include (i) ceasing enforcement activity and (ii)
where the Group’s recovery method is through
confiscation of the underlying property and the
value of the underlying property is such that there is
no reasonable expectation of recovering in full.

The Group may write-off financial assets that
are still subject to enforcement activity. The total
outstanding contractual amounts of such assets
written off during the year ended 31 December
2024 was HK$79,702,000 (2023: HK$61,802,000).
The Group continues to seek recovering the
amounts it is legally owed in full, but which
have been fully or partially written off due to no
reasonable expectation of full recovery.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information &

BEMBERME

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
(vii) Write-off policy (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group had no significant concentrations of
credit risk as there were no customer individually
contributed 10% or more of the Group's interest
income. In addition, as at 31 December 2024, no
customer individually contributed 10% or more
of the Group’s outstanding loans and advances to
customers balances.

Other financial assets

While cash and cash equivalents, deposits and other
receivables, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
and amounts due from related parties are also
subject to impairment assessment required by
HKFRS 9, the Group makes periodic assessments on
their recoverability based on historical settlement
records and past experience, and considered the
relevant expected credit losses are immaterial.
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3

BEMBERME

FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

3.1

(9]

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of
funding through an adequate amount of committed
credit facility. Cash flow forecasting is performed
by management. The Group monitors its rolling
forecasts of the Group’s liquidity requirements to
ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational
needs while maintaining sufficient headroom on
its undrawn committed borrowing facilities at all
times so that the Group does not breach borrowing
limits or covenants (where applicable) on any of
its borrowing facilities. Such forecasting takes into
consideration the Group’s debt financing plans,
covenant compliance, compliance with internal
financial position ratio targets and, if applicable
legal requirements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has undrawn
banking facilities of approximately HK$230,000,000
(2023: HK$29,000,000).
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

3

FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(9]

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The Group's primary cash requirements, apart from
granting loans to customers, are for payment of
bank borrowings and for operating expenses.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities, including lease liabilities, by
categorizing into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period at the end of the reporting
period to the contractual maturity date. Specifically,
certain bank borrowings contain a repayment on
demand clause which can be exercised at the bank'’s
sole discretion to pay, that is if the lender were to
exercise their unconditional right to call the loans
with immediate effect. The amounts disclosed in the
table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows
and the earliest date the Group can be required to
pay. Balances within twelve months approximate
their carrying amounts as impact of discounting is
not significant.
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 HERERERNERERE
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) (#8)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 B¥EEEZEGE)
(c)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (0 FBESEKE)

Within Between Between
1 year or 1and2 2and5 Over
G EENT years years 5 years Total

1ER

REX 122% 2255 BiB5E @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TR TR TR TR

At 31 December 2024 RZZ-ME+=A
=t+-g

Cash and cash equivalents ReRALEEN

(Note 17) (Hi17) 116,428 = - - 116,428
Amounts due from fellow [ENRZNBARZE

subsidiaries (Note 29) (Hi#29) 20 - = = 20
Amounts due from related JEd @ H 7R

parties (Note 29) (H#29) 763 - - - 763
Loans and advances to customers [ FIR{tEF k& 695,289 373,597 646,550 346,733 2,062,169
Deposits and other receivables 2% R E A EYFE

(Note 16) (Hizt16) 5,618 1,301 2,819 - 9,738
Total financial assets SREELE 818,118 374,898 649,369 346,733 2,189,118
Accruals and other payables  FE:FBFE R EENTE

(Note 22) (i) (5.498) - - - (5,498)
Amounts due to fellow [ERRZNBARZE

subsidiaries (Note 29) (#1:229) (2.730) = = - (2730
Bank and other borrowings FITREEE

(Note 24) (Hit24) (476,767)  (20,789) = - (497,556)
Lease liabilities (Note 25) MEBREMH25) (10,894) (8,598) (3.162) = (22,654)
Total financial liabilities SREEAR (495,889) (29,387) (3,162) - (528,438)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 BERRERNRREE
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) (4&)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 H¥EKRREE(E)
(c)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (0 FBESEKE)
Within Between Between
1 year or Tand?2 2and5 Over
on demand years years 5 years Total
165
e 1226 1E5F eth s @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T TiHr T T
At 31 December 2023 RZB-=£+=§
=t+-AH
Cash and cash equivalents ReRALEEN
(Note 17) (Hiz#17) 218,368 = = = 218,368
Amounts due from fellow kR ZMBARZE
subsidiaries (Note 29) (H1:229) 236 - _ _ 236
Amounts due from related JEd B H R
parties (Note 29) (Hi#29) 82 = = = 82
Loans and advances to customers IEPEFH R 542,372 307,498 493916 229792 1,573,578
Deposits and other receivables %4 R Kt Y z0E
(Note 16) (Hi:16) 8,504 = = = 8,504
Total financial assets CHEELE 769,652 307,498 493,916 229,792 1,800,858
Accruals and other payables  FE:FBFE R EENTE
(Note 22) (Hr222) (8,158) = = = (8,158)
Amount due to the ultimate B HAIRIRA RIUE
holding company (Note 29) (H15229) (13) - - = (13)
Amounts due to fellow ERRZNBARZE
subsidiaries (Note 29) (Hi#29) (99) = - - (99)
Bank and other borrowings FITREEE
(Note 24) (Hizt24) (325,289) (21,087) - - (346,376)
Lease liabilities (Note 25) RE&BM225) (5,873) (552) (352) = (6,777)
Total financial liabilities SREELE (339,432) (21,639) (352) - (361,423)
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3

FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1

3.2

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)
The table below analyses the Group’s derivative
financial liabilities (2023: Nil) that will be settled
on a gross basis into relevant maturity groupings
based on the remaining period from the balance
sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows, based on exchange rates
prevailing at the balance sheet date.

PR KR ERE R EE

(#8)
3.1 HM¥EBEX(E)
(0 HRBHELEB(E)

TERBEBFERE

#) 'JH@EHEH’]%THHF‘EEJ
BBRR AR DAY
REBKABBREED
TEemas(=E—_=
FEETHN - TR
BN SEARESF
RERTERFENS
WA RBASRE -

Between Between
Within 1and 2 2and5
1 year years years
k3 122F 2255
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THIT THET THET
At 31 December 2024 R-B-RE
+=R=+-8
Currency forward contracts ¥ iRH A4
- Outflow —Rd 99,820 - - 99,820
— Inflow —mA (90,608) = = (90,608)
Total st 9,212 - - 9,212
Capital management 32 EXER

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns to the shareholder and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
member, return capital to member, issue new shares or sell
assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by
total equity. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings
(comprising borrowings, amount due to the ultimate
holding company, amounts due to fellow subsidiaries,
accruals and other payables and lease liabilities in the
consolidated balance sheet) less cash and cash equivalents.
Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the
consolidated balance sheet.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK 3 URERERREREREE
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) (&)
3.2 Capital management (Continued) 3.2 EFXEE(HE)
The Group's strategy remains unchanged and the gearing RZE_NWF+_A=1+—
ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2024 are as follows: B AEEHRBRETLE
BAREEMNEEBEERNAT :
2024 2023
“EClmE —TE-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET T
Bank and other borrowings RITREAMEE
(Note 24) ( ﬁ/f324) 491,902 342,629
Amount due to the ultimate holding  JES &A% I2f ETE]
company (Note 29) ( %EZQ} - 13
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries  FE{F R ZHT B A 7 ZIE
(Note 29) (Biet29) 2,730 99
Accruals and other payables FEETE R MM ERRIE
(Note 22) (Het2z) 7,277 8,977
Lease liabilities (Note 25) HEBBJH725) 22,779 6,530
Less: Cash and cash equivalents w o RekREEEY
(Note 17) (B1zt17) (116,428) (218,368)
Net debt B35 408,260 139,880
Total equity RS paEE 917,600 880,890
Gearing ratio BEBREX 44.5% 15.9%
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 ATEMEE
(i) Fair value hierarchy (i) NSV =F
Level 3
E=R
HK$'000
FHET
Recurring fair value measurement KEHATESE
At 31 December 2024 ﬁé:i Ut
+=A=+—H
Financial liabilities at fair value through 32 A {Ezt AIEZEH
profit or loss TRaE
Derivative financial instruments TESmIA 23 6,906
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BEMIEE R

FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

3.3

0]

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 for
recurring fair value measurements during the year.
For transfers into and out of level 3 measurements
see (jii) below.

The Group'’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of the
reporting period.

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments
traded in active markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, and equity securities) is based on quoted
market prices at the end of the reporting period.
The quoted market price used for financial assets
held by the Group is the current bid price. These
instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that
are not traded in an active market (for example,
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined using
valuation techniques which maximise the use of
observable market data and rely as little as possible
on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs
required to fair value an instrument are observable,
the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs
is not based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in level 3. This is the case for
unlisted equity securities and for instruments where
climate risk gives rise to a significant unobservable
adjustment.

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities
carried at amortized cost approximate their carrying
amounts due to their short-term maturities, and the
impact of discounting is not significant.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

(i) Valuation techniques used to determine fair
values

Specific valuation technique used to value the
derivative financial instruments includes using
forward exchange rates at the balance sheet date
to discount back to the present value. The key
unobservable data includes the interbank forward
exchange rate and the volatility of forward exchange
rate. Changes in subjective input assumptions can
materially affect the fair value estimate.

(iii)  Fair value measurements using significant
unobservable inputs (level 3)

The following table presents the changes in level 3
items for the year ended 31 December 2024:

B R b N E AR R b B R

(#8)

3.3 AFEMEFE)

(i) EETATFEFANMGE

AT
TES BRI AGERA
M ERERTEEE
FAE 4 B BB R4 5
ZHE - FTEFAHE
S BIERTREEEE
HA [ R K iR B [E R
g o FE @ ABIBRRKR
KB AT ¥ N AR
BRNENTE -

(i) FEAEXFTTER@A
HENAFEFE(E=
&)
TRENBE-_T -
F+ZA=+—BIL#F
ENE=FIEEEH :

Derivative
financial
instruments

TTESRMTA
HK$°000
TR

Opening balance FH s -
Loss recognised in profit or loss RIER R E R 6,906
Closing balance FEREER 6,906

(iv)  Valuation processes

The finance department of the Group obtains the
valuations of financial items required for financial
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair values.
This finance department reports directly to the chief
financial officer. Discussions of valuation processes
and results are held between the chief financial
officer and the finance department at least once
every six months, in line with the Group’s half-yearly
reporting periods.

lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll"llllllll:::::::::

(iv) fHERE
RE BB EE AU
FEZMRFEFHHER
ERMMBIAE MG
B MBEERER
RS BE S - B 75
mERMRERE D
FNE A ®m—REE
MENER - BAKH
FERREHE - -
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom
equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are addressed below.

Impairment of loans and advances to customers

The Group assesses expected credit losses on loans and advances
to customers based on assumptions about risk of default based
on PD, LGD and EAD discussed in Note 3.1(b). Management
judgement will be involved in making assumptions and selecting
the inputs to its ECL calculation, based on the Group’s past history,
present market conditions as well as forward looking information
at the end of each reporting period. Details of the estimation
techniques, key assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in Note
3.1(b).

SEGMENT INFORMATION AND REVENUE,
OTHER INCOME AND (LOSSES)/GAINS, NET
AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES

(@) Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker (“CODM") has been
identified as the executive directors of the Company who
review the Group's internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. Provision of unsecured
loans in Hong Kong is the only segment in internal
reporting to the executive directors for the year ended 31
December 2024.

As the Group has only one operating segment that qualifies
as reporting segment under HKFRS 8 and the information
that is regularly reviewed by the CODM for the purposes
of allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segment is the consolidated financial statements
of the Group, no separate segmental analysis is presented.
The CODM assesses the performance based on a measure
of profit for the reporting period, and considers all business
is included in a single operating segment.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION AND REVENUE, 5 DEPERILL R IR ~ Efth
OTHER INCOME AND (LOSSES)/GAINS, NET WAR(E1E) WS BER
AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) EHNEEE)

(a) Segment information (Continued) (a) EER(E)
Revenue represents interest income earned and derived Wi RN T B WA - KB
from different products and are summarised as follows: TRMEM - #BawT -
2024 2023
b 110 2 —T=F
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Interest income derived from: FBUWAZRE :
— Unsecured property owner loans — #3023 B3k 202,626 170,890
— Unsecured personal loans —EEALAER 66,357 66,457
— SME loans —/NDER 11,211 11,387
— Credit card advances —fERARER 1,403 -
281,597 248,734
The Group mainly conducts the Unsecured Property Owner REBFEEBHBLLEEER
Loan Business and the Unsecured Personal Loan Business in FFEREBREERLAE
Hong Kong and interest income is generated from loans to HEB - BFMBWAKRBRE
external customers in Hong Kong. BRINEE PIRHER -
No customer individually contributed 10% or more to HE-ZT-_NF+=-A=+—H
the Group’s interest income during the year ended 31 IEFE - BERPEREAE
December 2024 (2023: Same). EFEWAKI10%HIA E(=F
—=F:HR) -
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION AND REVENUE, 5
OTHER INCOME AND (LOSSES)/GAINS, NET
AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

D EBERILAR Wik ~ EAb
LI&UK& BE) s EER
BHEEGE)

190

(b) Other income and (losses)/gains, net (b) HaWAR(ERE) WEF
]
2024 2023
—E-mE —Eo=4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FHBT
Other income HAehug A
Rental income from fellow RERRZWBARR
subsidiaries (Note 29(b)) HEWA (M EE290)) 773 637
Rental income from a RE— BT
related party (Note 29(b)) MeWA(HE290b)) 4,473 3,806
Bank interest income RITHBUA 3,307 505
Credit cards income ERRKA 980 3
Others HAtb 96 6
9,629 4,959
Other (losses)/gains, net Hitn(&58) Wz $HE
Exchange gains, net M 5 W) H R 5,206 -
Provision for impairment of U B & R ERE
repossessed assets (Note 20) (K1:#20) (110) (559)
Changes on surrender value ASREEFEIRER
of investment in life RIREEZE(HE18)
insurance plan (Note 18) (1,093) =
Fair value loss on derivative PTESR T A
financial instruments ~FEEE (6,906) =
Gain on disposal of property, HEME  HER
plant and equipment R ES
(Note 27(a)) (Hiit27(a)) 145 -
Gain on termination of lease BLIETRER RS - 643
(2,758) 84
(c) Contract liabilities (0 BEYaE
As at 31 December 2024, contract liabilities in relation to RZTEZWNE+ZHA=+—
customer loyalty programmes amounted to HK$641,000 H EEAEFPE8HENERN
(2023: Nil). Under the Group's customer loyalty BEAH641,0008 T(=F E
programmes, the Group grants credits to customers for F:E) BEAEEEFEE8
credit card transactions. The customers can redeem the 2 AEBRRERARR S0
award credit for goods. BEFRRBES c TPRAIERAE
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6

EXPENSES BY NATURE

—E-E —E-=F
HK$’'000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
Employee benefit expenses EEREAFHXE
— Salaries and bonus —Fr & RAIEAL 38,247 37,304
— Pension and retirement benefits — RS KR IKTEF 1,020 1,076
— Staff messing and welfare —BTERKER 1,556 2,332
Advertising and marketing expenses &4 R g ER Y 23,205 11,409
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEIE (Kit250b))
(Note 25(b)) 12,239 10,672
Depreciation of property, plantand ~— #)% - #3E R REITE
equipment (Note 13) (Ki7#13) 1,209 1,632
Office expenses PWAER 9,393 3,661
Expenses related to short-term lease %8 HATH S H R 1,027 3,190
Subscription fee FIEER 2,078 2,824
Search fee and valuation EMERRGE 943 1,093
Listing expenses Bl b2 - 22,274
Legal and professional fees EENEEER 5,105 1,403
Auditor's remuneration: A&
— Audit services —E %R 1,100 1,100
— Non-audit services — IEBEZ RS 653 -
Bank charges RITUE 890 486
Donations B 500 -
Repair and maintenance HIERIRE 1,214 666
Motor vehicle expenses RERS 174 395
Recruitment and training expenses RS K B3R S 68 53
Utility expenses KEE 251 319
Building management fee BFERE 971 870
Stamp duty ENFERR 8 1,614
Credit card charges ZRFRKE 1,159 1
Referral fee HN B 1,568 668
Others Hb 247 581
104,825 105,623
Represented by: 5 -
Selling expenses SHERMX 40,635 24,808
General and administrative expenses —#% R 1TIE B X 64,190 80,815
104,825 105,623
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7  BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 7 EENIRERANEEREGEE
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF CRBMEBIN(56622F ) 5538315
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE ROATI (R BEREERBER)
(CAP. 622) AND COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE BN (5E622GE) B EMIE
OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF =)
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)
(a) Directors’ emoluments () E=EM=
The remuneration of the directors for the year ended 31 HE_Z_HWNF+-_A=+—H
December 2024 is as follows: IEEE - EFmMHFMET -

Employer's

Allowances  contribution

Discretionary  and benefit  to pension

Salaries bonuses in kind scheme

fExy

RER Bife
g B¢ BREL  RUEN  TENER #it
HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR

Yearended 31 December 2024 HZ-F-M#

TZA=t-HLEE

Executive directors HTEE

Mr. Lee Kun Tai, Steven (Note ) ZRE £ (Witi) - 6,000 5 - 18 6,018
Ms. Wong Cheuk Sze (Note )~ ERFAL(H) - 1,200 237 1 18 1,456
Non-executive directors *4TES

Mr. Lee Sheung Shing (Note i)~ Z a5 4 (fifszi) 240 = = - - 240
Ms. Lee Pik Tsong (Note i) BRAL (W) 240 - - - - 240
Ms. Chan Wing Sze (Note i) Rkt (iatii) 240 - - - - 240
Ms. Kan Pui Yan (Note i) ERE L (W) 20 = = - - 210

Independent Non-executive ~ BYFHTES

directors
Prof. Hung Wai Man JP (Note i) ABRHK
AFAL (i) 240 - - . - 210
Mr. Mak Wing Sum Alvin (Note if)  BGRF4 (Fizii) 200 - - - - 240
Mr. Leung Ka Cheung (Noteii) 25 &5 (Hiii) 240 = 5 - - 240
1,680 7,200 237 1 36 9,154
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7  BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 7 EENANERANEBER(EB
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF (/Aﬂﬂ,ﬂﬁlj})(%szzﬁ)’;‘&s?)ﬂm
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE RAATEEEERRER)
(CAP. 622) AND COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE I (B622GE) B EWIE
OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF =) (45)

DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)
(CONTINUED)

(@) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) E=ME(E)
The remuneration of the directors for the year ended 31 BHE-_ZT-=F+=ZA=1+—
December 2023 is as follows: BIEFE EFWMHMET :

Employer's

Allowances  contribution

Discretionary ~ and benefit ~ to pension

Fees Salaries honuses in kind scheme

i

EHE Rike

ik 2 BEEL EREN  RERER
HK$'000  HK$000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$'000
TR TEL TAR A TAL

Year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE-E-=%

TZR=+-HLEE
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Lee Kun Tai, Steven (Note )~ ZMRESE 4 (M) - 6,000 - - 18 6,018
Ms. Wong Cheuk Sze (Note )~ EEF&+(M) - 974 153 1 18 1,146
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Lee Sheung Shing (Note i)~ ZEESEA(Hfiti) 17 - - - - 17
Ms. Lee Pik Tsong (Note i) FERLL () 17 - - - - 17
Ms. Chan Wing Sze (Note i Btz (i) 17 = - - = 17
Ms. Kan Pui Yan (Note i) BREL L (W) 17 - - - - 17
Independent Non-executive By FHTES
directors
Prof. Hung Wai Man JP (Note i) EBRHR
AL (Witii) 17 - - - - 17
Mr. Mak Wing Sum Alvin (Note i) k&5t (M) 17 = - - - 17
Mr. Leung Ka Cheung (Note i) BRE% (W) 17 = - - = 17
119 6,974 153 1 36 7283
Notes: Kt
[0) Appointed as executive director since 20 March 2023. (1) B-—ZE-_=F=FA-1HZE
BZRHTES -
(ii) Appointed as non-executive director since 20 March 2023. (i) H_FE_=F=F_+HE
BZ /:B‘%#%XZ 7 Tﬁ %
(iii) Appointed as independent non-executive director since 31 (i) B-_ZE-=#+HA=+—H
October 2023. ERELEE FEHTTESE -
The remuneration shown above represents remuneration X Ffr TEMIEE E AR D E]
received by the directors in their capacity as employee to M E A Al e & B & 15 e &
the subsidiaries of the Company and no directors waived B mEBEE_T_ME+_—A
any emolument during the year ended 31 December 2024 =+—H tifgﬁﬂ§$ﬁﬁlﬁ
(2023: Nil). EMe(ZT_=F: &) -
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7 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE
(CAP. 622) AND COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE
OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Directors’ retirement benefits and termination

benefits

None of our directors received any retirement benefits nor
termination benefits during the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: Nil).

(c) Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors services

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
did not pay consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services (2023: Nil).

(d) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

Save as disclosed in Note 29, there are no loans, quasi-loans
and other dealing arrangements in favour of directors, or
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with
such directors during the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: Nil).
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7  BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 7 EENIERANNEEREE
(DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF CRBMERGIN(55622FE ) 55383
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE BRAATI(HEEERNZE
(CAP. 622) AND COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE BHIBHY(5E622GE ) IR EW
OF INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF WEE) (&)

DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)
(CONTINUED)

(e) Directors’ material interests in transactions, (e) EENXS  RERELOHN
arrangements or contracts AENESENFEEHE

2024 2023
—E-ME -—F-=F

Name of parties HK$'000 HK$'000  Name of directors having interest therein
AR ER AR BT RETRERERANESLS

Moneysq Limited Rental expense - (1,398)  Lee Sheung Shing, Lee Pik Tsong and Lee Kun Tai, Steven
EERRART BeRx TEE FRERERE
smartME Corporation Limited ~ Rental income 4,473 3,806 Lee Sheung Shing, Lee Pk Tsong and Lee Kun Tai, Steven
BRANARAR EeRA TEE FRERERE
Konew Capital International Rental income 59 459 Lee Sheung Shing, Lee Pik Tsong and Lee Kun Tai, Steven
Limited
FEEAERBRAR] EeRA TEE FRERERE
Maxcolm Finance Limited Rental income 179 178 Lee Sheung Shing, Lee Pik Tsong and Lee Kun Tai, Steven
HAREERAT EeRA TEE FRERERE
Hong Yip Well Being Limited Rental expense (264) (634)  Lee Sheung Shing, Lee Pik Tsong and Lee Kun Tai, Steven
RXBERRAA BeRx TEE FEERERE
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BEMBERME

8 FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 8

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 include two (2023:
two) directors. Details of the emoluments of the remaining three
(2023: three) highest paid non-director individuals during the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out as below:

hTERSHFMAL

BE_Z_NE+_A=1—HLLHF
B AEERLZEEFMATEEMA
“ECF MA)EFHE_T
—EF= H T—HIEFE - H&f=
P ZR)RSFMAL
(#E%)E’J@Mfﬁﬁl ;T

2023
—E-=F

HK$'OOO
TR

HK$'000
THAT

Salaries, wages, and bonuses %?é TERA 4,534 3,984

Pension costs — defined contribution  ERE A AN — EREMHE 2 ETE
plans 54 53
4,588 4,037

The emoluments of the highest paid individuals fell within the
following bands:

P < %0 ]
500,001/&7C%1,000,000/87T
1,000,001/ % 1,500,000/ 7T
1,500,0017& 7T %2,000,00078 7T

Emolument bands

HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

RRFHMA LM HELT

2024 2023
—E-mE T =4
Number of Number of
individuals

individuals

AH AR

W =N
W= = =
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

9 INTEREST EXPENSES AND OTHER FINANCE 9 FE B & EH g & sl Ax
COSTS
2024 2023
—E-mE —EC-=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Interest expenses FIERAX
Interest expenses on bank and other  $R7T & H b & & 25
borrowings 29,138 23,727
Interest expenses on bank overdraft #8775 % | 2 8% 293 1
Banking facilities handling fees RITREFEE 1,605 39
Interest expenses to a related party  [A]—42 BEHE 5 S HY
(Note 29(b)) MERZ (HE29(0b)) = 1,415
31,036 25,182
Other finance costs HAingh& LA
Interest expenses on lease liabilities  FAE & &R 25 (#:225))
(Note 25(b)) 1,217 475
10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10 PSRRI
During the year ended 31 December 2024, Hong Kong profits tax HE-Z-_MF+-A=+—HILHF
has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the B AEERBER &AM E16. 5%
estimated assessable profits. TEZF 1 16.5%)FHRE BTG
B o
Japan corporate income tax include national corporate income tax, HARGEAEHBIERREEMER -
inhabitant tax, and enterprise tax, and has been calculated on the ERBREER  WEIRFRIETIER
estimated assessable profit for the year. During the year ended PmFET B - BEZT-NFE+=
31 December 2024, the aggregated rates of national corporate A=1+—HIFE - BREEMSEH -
income tax, inhabitant tax, and enterprise tax resulted in statutory FERBMEEXEB BT EEETER
income tax rates of 25.7%. RE25.7% °
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current income tax BNVERFTS AR
— Hong Kong profits tax —BBRER 14,623 16,703
— Japan corporate income tax =P 80 -
— Over provision in prior years —BAFEBERE (410) =
Deferred income tax (Note 19) RIERTISH(HTat19) (4,021) (1,529)

10,272 15,174
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10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 10 FrEBiRsZ (&)
The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from REEKRERNG M AT IEE ISR
the theoretical amount that would arise are summarized as follows: SERAREEPMT
2024 2023
—E-EF —EC=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Profit before income tax B P AS 250 BID& A 74,026 66,740
Tax calculated at domestic REANEBER
tax rates applicable to i M B A R 2R
profit in the respective countries SERRIE 12,243 11,013
Over provision in prior years BT F R (410) -
Tax loss not recognised I R IEE R 285 -
Income not subject to tax BAERBHA (654) (170)
Recognition of previously HRIBAEREROTIEEE
unrecognised tax loss (1,333) -
Expenses not deductible for NATHHE R 2
tax purposes 141 4,331
10,272 15,174
The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of AEBYESRR_ZT-_NF+=A
HK$285,000 (2023: Nil), in respect of tax losses amounted to = +—HKFIAEEE1,724,0008T( =
HK$1,724,000 (2023: Nil) as at 31 December 2024, as it is not E=F E)RRELEMSF fﬂﬁﬁ
certain that future taxable profits against which the tax losses 285,000 (=== : &) -
can be utilized will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and A HETE AR RS j/ﬁ*gli&ﬁﬁf##
entities. & A B A DA S0 TE B 18 ) R PR P FR AR
A o
11 EARNINGS PER SHARE 11 SREF
(a) Basic earnings per share (a) BREXEF
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit BREXRBMERRBHEE A
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted B EFRABRZE=ZS ZF
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year +=—RA=+—H tifaﬁé
ended 31 December 2024. TR BT HE B
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the weighted HE-Z-=F+=-A=1+—
average number of ordinary shares used for the purpose of HIEFE - REsTESRER
basic earnings per share has been retrospectively adjusted B &) LB N S E 5
for the effects of the issue of shares in connection with the T =F+ZRARAEREL
capitalization issue of 374,990,000 shares which took place %£17374,990,000/% 2 2 1TR 9
on 5 December 2023. B B VE BT
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Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

11

EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings per share (Continued)

On 5 December 2023, the Company issued additional
125,000,000 shares by way of capitalization of HK$12,500
standing to the credit of the Company’s share premium
account. On the same day, the shares of the Company
were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with
an offer price of HK$1.8 per share.

In connection with the Listing, the Company issued a total
of 125,000,000 shares for gross proceeds (before related
fees and expenses) of HK$225,000,000.

11

ZREBAN(E)
(@) BREXERA(E)

N-_E-_=%F+-AFHAB ' &
A R)E B AR R IR & ER
ERSF125008 TR E
K EE1TEAIN 25,000,000 B A%
7o BH  ARRBRMOARER
FrEfR £ - HEEAREETR1.8
BIT °

BEMME + AAAIETAE S
125,000,000% f% {7 + FR1S3IE
REHBREBRERARAS) A
225,000,000 7T °

2024

—ENF

Profit attributable to
equity holders of the
Company (HK$'000)

Weighted average number

RABIBEFEA
PR RN (THET)

EETRMINEFIHH

of shares in issue (F)
(thousand shares)

Basic earnings per share BRERZH
(HK cents) (70)

Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share is based
on the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the Company, adjusted to reflect the impact from any
dilutive potential ordinary shares issued by the Company,
as appropriate. The weighted average number of ordinary
shares used in the calculation is the weighted average
number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued on
the deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

Diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 December
2024 was the same as the basic earnings per share as there
were no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding
during the year (2023: Same).

(b)

63,754 51,566

500,000 384,246

12.75 13.42
BREERR

BRESANENARB LB
BERBARGENAER
Ho YEEAE  URRAR
BT BITEMBEEREE B
VR E(ER) - SHEMAE
BRI EHHABRRAAEE
EEE T BRER D ETE
FEBRSEBARMERTHNE
BRI ER o

BHEZ-_NFEF+=-_A=+—
AEFENERESATHT
BEAZFER  FRAEFEA
MERITEINNEE B LR
B(ZZ—=%:[) -
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12 SUBSIDIARIES

The Group’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 are set

out below:

Place and date of
incorporation

T i K B 5

Name of subsidiary
B AR AR

Direct interests:

;3 5
K Cash (BVI) Limited The British Virgin Islands
(the "BVI"),
9 December 2019
EERLES
((REBRL#S])
“Z-hE+ZAAR
K Cash Express (BVI) Limited ~ The BVI, 28 October 2022
EERLHS -
ZECCFTAZTNR
K Cash Quester Capital Co.  Japan,
23 April 2024
E$
“ENENA=+=H
K Cash Capital Limited Hong Kong,
23 May 2016
ECR
—E-"FRAZ1=H
Indirect interests:
R -
K Cash Express Limited Hong Kong,
24 February 1999
ER
—NWANEZA=FEA
K Cash Limited Hong Kong,
4 March 2008
ECR

—“ZT/\F=AWA

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BEMBERME

12 MEBQF
AEMA-—E-mE+=A=+—HH
FTEHBRARESAT :

Issued and
paid-up capital
ERITREARA

Ownership interests
held by the Group
AEBFGREERER
2024 2023
—gomE —To=F

Principal activities
TEEY

Investment holding 1 ordinary share 100% 100%

REZR 1REBR 100% 100%

Investment holding 1 ordinary share 100% 100%

REZR 1REBR 100% 100%

Fundraising and provision 10,000 ordinary shares 100% N/A
of loan to group
companies

SEERMEBRT 10,0008 E B 100% Tam
REER

Provision of loan to group 2 ordinary shares 100% N/A
companies

mEERRREER 2RE B 100% TER

Providing unsecured 20,000,000 ordinary 100% 100%
property owner loans shares
and SME loans

REMEMEFEFR 20,000,000 E @A 100% 100%
f B

Providing unsecured 100,000 ordinary shares 100% 100%
personal loans

REEERLAGEK 100,000 & A% 100% 100%

R
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13  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13 ¥P% -~ HEBENRE

Leasehold Furniture Motor
improvements  Equipment  and fixtures vehicles Total
FAR

RENREE HE EEXE i ast
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR

At 1 January 2023 W=ZE-=%-A-H
Cost AR 4630 9,582 68 3,375 17,655
Accumulated depreciation ES Pk (3.817) (6,858) (68) (3.375) (14,118)
Net book amount ERFE 813 2,724 = = 3,537
Year ended BZ-Z-=F

31 December 2023 TZR=t+-HLEE
Opening net book amount FNEMFE 813 2,724 = = 3,537
Additions NE 979 484 - - 1,463
Depreciation (Note 6) FEW#6) (431) (1,201) = = (1,632)
Disposal (Note 27(c) L&) (360) = = - (360)
Closing net book amount EREEFAE 1,001 2,007 = = 3,008
At 31 December 2023 R=B-=#+-F=1-H
Cost AR 5,241 9,676 68 3,375 18,360
Accumulated depreciation B:inE (4,240) (7,669) (69) (3,375) (15,352)
Net book amount FEFE 1,001 2,007 = = 3,008
At 1 January 2024 R-Z-mE-A-H
Cost KA 5,241 9,676 68 3,375 18,360
Accumulated depreciation BiinE (4,240) (7,669) (68) (3,375) (15,352)
Net book amount Em¥E 1,001 2,007 - - 3,008
Year ended Bz-E-mE

31 December 2024 TZA=t+-ALEFE
Opening net book amount FRmFE 1,001 2,007 - - 3,008
Additions AE 1,11 133 - 755 1,999
Depreciation (Note 6) WE(W:6) (436) (698) = (75) (1,209)
Disposal (Note 27(c) REW2710) (53) (97) = = (150)
Closing net book amount FRERFE 1,623 1,345 - 680 3,648
At 31 December 2024 R-E-mE+-A=+-A
Cost KA 3,802 9,192 58 3,242 16,294
Accumulated depreciation B Pk (2,179) (7,847) (58) (2,562) (12,646)
Net book amount EmFE 1,623 1,345 - 680 3,648
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BEMBERME

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

14 ZRERIEID

THERT A

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Financial assets at amortized cost RRHERATTENSREE
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 17) BekBeEEBMHELI7) 116,428 218,368
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries (Note U [E 2B A 7
29) FIE(MEE29) 20 236
Amounts due from related parties JE Uk Ra RS
(Note 29) HRIE(H5229) 763 82
Loans and advances to customers REFREEFRER
(Note 15) (Hfzt15) 1,232,380 964,392
Deposits and other receivables e REMERFIE 9,738 8,594
1,359,329 1,191,672
Financial liabilities at amortized cost REBHEATTENEREE
Amount due to the ultimate holding FERT BRI N F]
company (Note 29) I (H729) = 13
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries ERRRKTB AT
(Note 29) FE(H17229) 2,730 e
Accruals and other payables FESHE R RE MR 5,498 8,158
Bank and other borrowings (Note 24) SRITREAM 1*1‘%(/}/7‘&24) 491,902 342,629
Lease liabilities (Note 25) HEB B 725) 22,779 6,530
522,909 357,429
Financial liability at fair value BRAVEFABENEREE
through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments (Note 23) TESmI AN Z23) 6,906 -

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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15

BEMBERME

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

15

AEFRHEER

&:&a’)\

2024 2023

l 1123 —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET T

Loans and advances to customers BEFEHERK

— Unsecured property owner loans —EIRIREF TR 1,037,042 784,021
— Unsecured personal loans B Ry IN= 7\ 253,103 242,295
— SME loans —F/NER 47,168 47,531
— Credit card advances —(ERARRR 12,002 =
1,349,315 1,073,847
Less: Provision for impairment B ORERHE (116,935) (109,455)
1,232,380 964,392

As at 31 December 2024, the loans and advances to customers are
repayable with fixed terms agreed with the customers, loans and
advances to customers are unsecured, interest-bearing and are
repayable with fixed terms agreed with customers. The maximum
exposure to credit risk at the end of the year is the carrying value
of the loans and advances to customers mentioned above.

Expected credit losses, net of HK$77,364,000 (2023:
HK$55,757,000) was recognized in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income during the year ended 31 December 2024.

For loans that are not credit-impaired without significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition “Stage 1", ECL is measured
at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime ECL that result from
default events possible within the next 12 months. If a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition is identified (“Stage
2") but not yet deemed to be credit impaired, ECL is measured
based on lifetime ECL.

m= ?fE¢+ A=+—8 m&gF
REER RS ARERF R EETE
HARR(EE ﬂ%ﬁﬁum K BRI B
SRR ﬁ%&&ﬁ%ﬁ%imliﬁ
REE - REREZNEREERR

FitmEFREES &ﬁmmﬁﬁﬁo

HE_Z-_WNE+-_A=+—HILtF
B RiezERERPEREHE
BB %%877,364,00008 (T - =
£ : 55,757,000/ 7T) °

SARHBREEREREERR BV HE
MMXIEK%iﬁWN%&HTHW
- BHEEERRBASFRAREI2E
HWT@%E@%%#%&W%%E%
EEERFINTHEE - MEBRE
EE\Bg B ) HERIA A £+ (TR ER
2DIERB/EHMBREERE - RIFEH
EERRRENRMEEEETE
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15

BEMBERME

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

(CONTINUED)

The ageing analysis of loans and advances to customers based on
whether individual customer balance has become overdue is as
follows:

A& FRHEERR BN (E)

HEMERFPESEEERARNMES
REER RS E’]H‘E‘é%ﬁﬁﬁﬂ—lt :

2024 2023
—E-mE —E =4
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FAT

Unsecured property owner loans BIKHETEN
Not overdue N80 Hf 597,163 363,312
1-30 days past due #HEI1ZE30H 95,730 100,272
31-60 days past due A3 1E60H 24,107 17,590
61-90 days past due B HA61290H 8,018 10,954
Over 90 days past due B HAFERO0 B 312,024 291,893
1,037,042 784,021

Unsecured personal loans FIKFAAER
Not overdue R HY 210,485 188,348
1-30 days past due BmHEI1ZE30H 14,596 16,645
31-60 days past due BHA31ZE60H 2,212 2,475
61-90 days past due #HI61290H 2,037 1,712
Over 90 days past due B EAFRIRO0H 23,773 33,115
253,103 242,295

SME loans RNEER
Not overdue R 15,476 32,370
1-30 days past due A1 Z=30H 5,256 4,538
31-60 days past due #HI312=60H 766 2,164
61-90 days past due #HI612=90H 913 1,875
Over 90 days past due B HAFEEO0 B 24,757 6,584
47,168 47,531
Credit card advances FERFBR

Not overdue ARiEHR 5,501 -
1-30 days past due HHEI1E30H 5,597 =
31-60 days past due #HI31260H 298 =
61-90 days past due #HI61290H 95 -
Over 90 days past due #HARRE90H 511 -
12,002 -

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has provision for impairment
of loans and advances to customers of HK$116,935,000 (2023:

HK$109,455,000).

Borrowers are required to repay the outstanding loan receivable
balances by monthly installments over the term of the

corresponding loan receivables.

K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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15 LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS 15 RIEFRUERNBIR(E)
(CONTINUED)

The aging analysis of loans and advances to customers based on
contractual due date of instalments is as follows:

ERDENRENIHANREFRHE
ERRBHREATNAT

2024
—E-maE

HK$’000
FTERT

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
THET

Unsecured property owner loans EIEWETEGN
Current BNER 846,387 600,500
Overdue 1-30 days A1 Z=30H 9,735 9,513
Overdue 31-60 days #HE31E60H 7,805 6,203
Overdue 61-90 days #H61E90H 5,152 6,244
Overdue over 90 days #HEIo0H M 167,963 161,561
1,037,042 784,021

Unsecured personal loans FIKFRAAER
Current BVEA 237,146 219,540
Overdue 1-30 days #HI1230H 2,304 3,052
Overdue 31-60 days #HI31260H 1,451 1,918
Overdue 61-90 days #HI61290H 1,291 1,771
Overdue over 90 days #EA90H LA | 10,911 16,014
253,103 242,295

SME loans RN ER
Current BNER 23,025 43,170
Overdue 1-30 days @EI1ZE30H 1,248 928
Overdue 31-60 days BHA31ZE60H 668 647
Overdue 61-90 days #HI61290H 637 471
Overdue over 90 days #EHIO0H A k= 21,590 2,315
47,168 47,531
Credit card advances ERFER

Current BNHR 11,853 =
Overdue 1-30 days BHEI1ZE30H 47 =
Overdue 31-60 days #HI312=60H 22 =
Overdue 61-90 days #HI612=90H 15 =
Overdue over 90 days BHEA90H LA 65 =
12,002 -

AEEREPREER R BHHREE
PAUETTRHE - WEENTHERS - BF
AEEREPREERRBRERRR
EIEHE— SO ENHIES ()

The carrying amounts of the Group’s loans and advances to
customers are denominated in HK$ and approximate to their fair
value. Further analyses on credit risk management of the Group’s
loans and advances to customers are set out in Note 3.1(b).
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BEMBERME

16 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

16

BANRR - ZeRAMER

RECEIVABLES g
2024 2023
—EoNEF —E-=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHET T
Prepayments TETFIR 6,655 4,014
Deposits %% 8,687 7,866
Other receivables H b el kI8 1,051 728
16,393 12,608

All deposits and other receivables are neither past due nor FrE RS N H ith FE UL SR IS oK 16 B IR i
impaired. A o

The carrying amounts of the Group’s prepayments, deposits and

AEBWBMNFR - ZE A

other receivables are denominated in HK$. TEREREELAB LT E -
17 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 17 BERIREEEY
2024 2023
—EomF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Cash at bank and on hand RIT M FEEIRE 116,428 218,368
Cash and cash equivalents are HEeRBEEFEBYWA T
denominated in the following B¥GTE
currencies:
HK$ BT 115,505 218,368
Japanese Yen (“JPY") HE(RHED 923 -
116,428 218,368
18 OTHER ASSET 18 Hfth&E

2024
—ENF

HK$'000
FTERT

2023
—Eo=F
HK$'000
T

Key management insurance FEEEERR 8,787
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18 OTHER ASSET (CONTINUED) 18 HMEEGE)
As at 31 December 2024, the Company held a life insurance policy RZZE_MF+_A=+—H  KQ7]
for a director of the Company. The investment in life insurance BERRAREEMASRE - ASRR
contract is denominated in USD. The Group has the right to BHIRENEITLAHE - ARBEBEMR
surrender the insurance partially or in full at any time after the BEEEAFRERI DD ERRAE
first policy anniversary for cash value. The carrying amount of BIReEE - ZARENEREENR
the investment represents its cash value of the account net of FREREBENRPEEEE -
surrender charges as at year end.
19 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 19 EZEMER
Deferred income tax is calculated in full on temporary differences BTSRRI AEAEFRAN _—ZE—NFE
under the liability method using the tax rates enacted or T-A=+—HEEM®XEEE BN
substantially enacted as at 31 December 2024. R TR =R E -
2024 2023
—E-NE —EC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Deferred income tax assets: BIEFTSHERE ¢
— Deferred income tax assets to R 1218 A Rk E &Y
be recovered within 12 months RIEPTIS T E B 22,930 18,909
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19 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 19 IEIEFFSF (&)
The movements in the deferred income tax assets account are as RS HREERBE80T -
follows:

HK$'000
FAET
At 1 January 2023 R-ZZE-_=%F—HF—H 17,380
Credited to profit or loss (Note 10) A=A 10) 1,529
At 31 December 2023 N-E-_=F+-FA=+—H 18,909
At 1 January 2024 RZEZMFE—H—H 18,909
Credited to profit or loss (Note 10) ST A= (HEE10) 4,021
At 31 December 2024 R-ZZE_ME+—_H=+—H 22,930
The movements in the deferred income tax assets/(liabilities) by IRME RS HREFREREE (AFE)
nature are as follows: BEWT :
(Accelerated)/
decelerated
Lease Provisions Tax loss  depreciation Total
(ni&)
HE B HIEER HRTE A5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET
At 1 January 2023 W-Z-=%—H—H 26 17,396 - (42) 17,380
(Charged)/credited to (BEEIMR),/FABERE
profit or loss (58) 664 716 207 1,529
RZB-=F
At 31 December 2023 +-A=+—-H (32) 18,060 716 165 18,909
At 1 January 2024 RZZZNFE—A—H (32) 18,060 716 165 18,909
Credited/(charged) to SABRE S
profit or loss (BEENR) 277 1,234 2,633 (123) 4,021
R-ZB_MmF
At 31 December 2024 +-A=1+—H 245 19,294 3,349 42 22,930
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20 REPOSSESSED ASSETS 20 RWEIEE
The Group obtained control on repossessed assets by taking AREBFAEEZSENERANDE
possession the properties of those borrowers in default. The S B B ERIEHIRE - ZEEER
carrying amounts of these assets as at 31 December 2024 are —ZEoNFE+—A=+—HBHNEEES
analysed below: M

2024 2023
—E-EF —EC=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
THET THET
Repossessed assets L EEE 24,176 17,160
Less: Provision for impairment o ORE R (825) (715)
Repossessed assets, net R m & ERE 23,351 16,445
The estimated market values of the repossessed assets held REFMRFLKKEEER_-_S_NE
by the Group as at 31 December 2024 were approximately +-—A=+—HB8EETES A
HK$46,429,000 (2023: HK$29,542,000). They represent properties 46,429,000 & T ( — & = = 4
in respect of which the Group has acquired access or control (e.g. 29,542,000/87T) - EAAREE R 2805k
through court proceedings or voluntary actions by the borrowers SRR AR E(ME AT Ak
with respect to the properties concerned) for releasing the B2k A BB Y EE M) B FRTTE) ) e
obligations of borrowers in full or in part. 15 AR S P I R 3 o
Movements of the Group'’s provision for impairment of repossessed AEBE KD EERERENEE N
assets are as follows: T

2024 2023

—E-ME —E-=fF

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FHx FAT

At the beginning of the year REH] 715 156
Provision for impairment BB 110 559
At the end of the year RER 825 715
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21 SHARE CAPITAL 21 |

Number of Nominal value of
ordinary shares

ordinary share

ZEREAR ZEREE
(thousand
shares) HK$'000
(Fh%) FAT
Authorized: JETE
As at 1 January 2023, EC_E: F—H—8-
31 December 2023, ZE=F1T=H
1 January 2024 and =+—H8 -ZZ-_@WF
31 December 2024 —A—BRk=ZZT_mF
+ZRA=+—H @) 3,900,000 390
Issued and paid: BEITEREM :
As at 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=%—H—H 10 —*
Capitalisation issue during 2023 =2 = =S &N &7 b) 374,990 37
Issuance of new share pursuant ZE=FIRE BT
to the Listing during 2023 i dn © 125,000 13
As at 31 December 2023, R-ZT-—=#+—F#
1 January 2024 and =+—H8 -ZZ-_@WF
31 December 2024 —A—BRk=ZZ_mF
+=—HA=+—~” 500,000 50
& Below HK$1,000 * 1€541,000/8 7T
(@  The Company was incorporated on 25 October 2022 as (a) KARRNRZZEZ-F+ A
an exempted company with limited liability under the laws T THEREREES AN
of the Cayman lIslands with an authorized share capital ML RERRBRAA -

of HK$390,000 divided into 3,900,000,000 shares of a
nominal value of HK$0.0001 each.

YA TE ML 7K 390,000/ 7T ©
/% 3,900,000,000 f% & A% & &
0.0001& T A% 17
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21

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

(b)

Pursuant to the shareholders’ resolution dated on 31
October 2023, the Company capitalized HK$37,499
standing to the credit of the share premium account of the
Company by applying such sum in paying up in full at par
of 374,990,000 shares of the Company.

On 5 December 2023, the shares of the Company were
listed on the Stock Exchange with an offer price of HK$1.8
per share. Upon the Listing, the Company issued a total of
125,000,000 shares by way of capitalization of HK$12,500
standing to the credit of the Company's share premium
account for gross proceeds (before related fees and
expenses) of HK$225,000,000.

22 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

21

22

R (48)

(b)

BiEHBMA-—ZT-_=4+A
=+—HHABRERZR AR
ABARRRG BERERES
KA37,4998B LERER AR
AEEBREREZEEHS R
374,990,000/% AN A RIS o

RZE-_=F+-_AAB ' K
NAIRMDEB T LT - B8
BAER1.8EIT - LTHE - &
A R)E174 ££125,000,000 % A%
B AREBARRRDRE
IRER SR 12,5008 LB R E
N FiisREAEIRERE
A KB A ) £225,000,0007%
=

FERt B A R AR IR

2024
—F-mE

2023
—ET=F
HK$'000
T

HK$’000
FTHERT

Accrued listing expenses FEET LR - 3,446
Accrued salaries and staff benefits e KB TEF 863 819
Other accruals HipEst &R 2,048 1,282

Provision for reinstatement HEER
cost for leases A 916 824
Others Hith 3,450 2,606
7,277 8,977

The Group's accruals and other payables are denominated in HK$.

A E A R AR RS
TEATME -
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23 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 23 fTE€EmI A
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 3 (2023: Nil) outstanding RZE-_NWF+=—A=+—8 K&
forward foreign exchange contracts of HK$6,906,000 (2023: Nil) 5 526,906,000 (- T - =4 :
mainly to purchase Japanese Yen (“JPY"). The maximum notional TV (ZE-=4F: #)KETE
principal amount of the outstanding forward foreign exchange Hﬂﬁl\E/\%’J FEARBEBE(A
contracts at 31 December 2024: B R =T WFE+=—A=+—8 "
RIET iﬂﬂ?l\[ AMEEEEAR
CE

2024 2023

—E-MEF —E=fF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T FAT

Sell HK$ for JPY LEBTIAEERE 99,820 N/A 73 FR

24 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 24 SRITREMEE

2024 2023

—E-MEF —E_=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE T FAT

Bank loans RITER 351,926 312,569
Other loans EMER 139,976 30,060
491,902 342,629
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the interest rates of the BE_ZT_ME+_A=1+—HBItF
bank and other borrowings ranged from 5.10% to 10.00% g - R1 &EWZFEE’J?U nNFEE
(2023: 4.58% to 9.98%) per annum. Maturity analysis of bank 5.10%%10.00% (=T = =% : 4.58%
borrowings with a repayment on demand clause based on agreed %9.98%) ° & E R FHAMER A
scheduled repayments is set out in Note 3.1(c). BB SRE SRR TE B R B DTS,

RFFE3.1(0)
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24

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

The amounts based on the scheduled repayment dates set out
in the loan agreements and the maturities of the Group’s total
borrowings at the balance sheet date (i.e. ignoring the effect of
any repayment on demand clause) are shown below:

24

REGR - WER R BEERE
HEAEEESEENIIHES NS
B (AT R AR 2 RE R FRAOF
E)RTRINR :

2024 2023
—E-mE —EC-=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Amounts of borrowings that are AR T Y AR EE R
repayable: BESRE :
— Within 1 year 1R 141,805 316,792
- Between 1 and 2 years —122%F 350,097 25,837
491,902 342,629
Bank facilities and pledge of assets SBITRMEREEER

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had aggregate
banking facilities of approximately HK$706,053,000 (2023:
HK$340,344,000) for bank overdrafts and bank loans. There
were undrawn facilities of approximately HK$230,000,000 (2023:
HK$29,000,000) as at 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the bank loans were secured by the
following:

a) the unlimited guarantee provided by the Company; and

b) the Group’s loans and advances to customers of
approximately HK$547,600,000.

The Group has complied with the relevant financial covenants of
its banking facilities during the year ended 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of bank and other
borrowings of HK$89,885,000 (2023: Nil) are denominated in
JPY and the remaining amounts are denominated in HK$. The
carrying amounts of bank and other borrowings approximate their
respective fair values.

RZEZWE+=ZA=+—RH " K&
ERRTES RBITERESRITR
& 485 49706,053,000/8 T (—ZE ==
F 1 340,344,000 7C) c R=—ZF T
FH+-—A=1+—H KR EHEE
#97230,000,000/8 T ( Z T = =4 :
29,000,000/ 7T) °

RZZB_WE+-_A=+—H ' RITE
A TSI S IREA

a) ARBHREAERIER : K

b) AKREREFREEERRBER
#7547,600,000 7T

BE_ZT-_NWF+_A=+—HILF
B AEBEETHBITRENERES
T o

RZEBE-ME+—-A=+—8  #£17k
H b & & BR (589,885,000 7T ( =&

—Z=F: T)AHEHE - SREAAE
JLAHE © RITREMEENREERE
EBMRFERESE -
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25 LEASE 25 HE
(@) Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance () RHESEEAEERTEIN
sheet g
The consolidated balance sheet shows the following SHEBEABEXRIRUATHEE
amounts relating to leases: FERAFRIA ¢
2024 2023
—EB-lmEF —T=HF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTERT FHET
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Properties M 21,719 6,862
Office equipment I YNE ] 495 687
22,214 7,549
Lease liabilities HEAE 22,779 6,530
During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were HE-Z-_MNE+=-_A=1+—
additions to right—of-use assets of approximately HIEFE  FRAEEEFRERN
HK$26,904,000 (2023: HK$10,860,000). 426,904,000 L (=& = =
4 : 10,860,00087T)
The Group’s lease liabilities are denominated in HKS$. REEMHES BEABITEE
(b) Amounts recognized in the consolidated (b) MEEZHWBRTEIHN
statement of comprehensive income MIE
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income ,wé’z\ﬁﬂﬂl R RIITATEE
shows the following amounts relating to leases: FERE

2024 2023
—BomEF —Eo=%F

HK$°000 HK$'000
FTRET TABT

Depreciation of right-of-use assets: {FAEEEITE :

Properties LYIES 12,048 10,481
Office equipment WAERME 191 191
12,239 10,672

Expenses related to short-term EERERBERS

lease (included in general and GEA—MMITBFHY)

administrative expenses) (Note 6) (K1zt6) 1,027 3,190
Interest expenses on lease liabilities F& & EMF]EFH

(Note 9) (H1t9) 1,217 475
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25 LEASE (CONTINUED)

(c) Amounts recognized in the consolidated (c)
statement of cash flows

25 FHEGE)
REGEBEEHRERTERN
g
(E_ET_UF+_A=+—H
IHFE HENBES AL AR
DI -

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the total cash
outflows for leases were analyzed as below:

2024
—E-NE

2023
—Eo=4F
HK$'000
FET

HK$'000
FHT

Cash flows from operating activities #X&/EEFTSIRERE

Payments for short-term leases* REAMRE > (1,027) (3,190)
Cash flows from financing activities RIEEZEMEIRERE
Payment of principal elements of SNEEaEAEHS
lease liabilities (Note 27(b)) (K1a227(b)) (10,655) (11,209)
Payment of interest elements of SNEEaENEHS
lease liabilities (Note 27(b)) (Hiz227(b)) (1,217) (475)
* Payments for short—term leases were not shown separately, & A7 B B AT 540 B Y

but included in the line of “Profit before income tax” in
respect of the net cash generated from operations which were
presented in Note 27(a) using the indirect method.

T MR AR BEZR M
iF27(@) 25 MEE RS 2
JEERRY[ R AT IS B AT S

(d) The Group’s leasing activities and how these are (d) FEENHEEBREAR
accounted for Bk
The Group leases various offices premises and equipment. REBHESBREQIGHRR
Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 2 to o HEGHNRERNT 224
4 years, but may have extension options as described in (e) FHWETEHREL - HEAIITE
below. T3 (o) AT T RABEHE o
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and HERTIRENEELETE
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. E - BBEFBETEER G
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other HoBREBAMBHEEEED
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held ERERN  BEBBET S
by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for MmERRE - HEEENSH
borrowing purposes. EEEMERR

(e) Extension and termination options () ERRALZEERE

Extension and termination options are included in certain
leases of the Group on shop premises. These are used to
maximize operational flexibility in terms of managing the
assets used in the Group’s operations. The majority of
extension and termination options held are exercisable only
by the Group and not by the respective lessor.

AEBETHLAZEYMEEER
BRERREIDEEE - REE
AEEEERMANEEMS
REREREREREERSZE
BRI - IR AR R R
IHEERET A AKEMIER
B AEATTEE ©
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26 DIVIDENDS

IRE

2024 2023
—EMEF —E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT TAET

Final dividend for the year ended

BE—_T-_=F+-_RA=+—H
31 December 2023 of 1.998 cents per |- [E 8 R HAMR B F IS 2 IR

fully paid share 51.9987811l 9,990 -
Interim dividend for the year ended 2T _NFE+-_A=+—H

31 December 2024 of 3.4 cents per 1IEFE R HARSG B =R AR IR

fully paid share %3. 4}%ﬂﬂ 17,000 =
Dividends for the year ended 31 BEZT-_=F+=-A=+—H

December 2023 LEFERRE = 100,000
Dividends Az 8. 26,990 100,000

On 22 March 2024, the Board recommended a final dividend with
total amount of HK$9,990,000 for the year ended 31 December
2023 payable to shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members of the Company at the close of business on 5 June
2024. Such dividend was recorded as a reduction of share premium
of the Company pursuant to the Articles of Association and the
Company Law, Cap 22 (Law of 1961, as consolidated or revised
from time to time) of the Cayman Islands. The final dividend was
approved at the annual general meeting of the Company on 28
May 2024 and were paid on 21 June 2024.

On 19 August 2024, the Board resolved to declare an interim
dividend of HK3.4 cents per share, totalling HK$17,000,000, such
dividends were paid on 20 September 2024.

Final dividend of HK3.0 cents per share and a special dividend
of HK2.5 cents per share, respectively, for the year ended 31
December 2024, totalling HK$27,500,000 were proposed by the
Board. The proposed final dividend and special dividend are subject
to the approval of the shareholders of the Company at the annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on 28 May 2025.

Dividends during the year ended 31 December 2023 represented
dividends declared by the companies comprising the Group to
the owners of the companies, after elimination of intra-group
dividends. The rates for dividends and the number of shares
ranking for dividends are not presented as such information is not
considered meaningful for the purpose of this report.

216 K CASH CORPORATION LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

R

%:;:EE_H:+:E*§$§E
EREREE—_ T _=F+_A=+—H1t
FEMR_Z_UFNA A B EERRE
HE R DA B AR R 44 A AR SRR A
RHEARR B+ 48%8/59,990,00078 7T © 1R
BAEBEREMARFASESANZE22
ERAVE(—NAN—FED - BT EER
AHER)  BEARBIEARRRKK
MaBEARAR - REKRBEENRZZE
“ERA -+ N\BETHARAME
BEERS LEME  WER T _MUF
NAZT—HIRfT -

R-ZZE-_WENA+NAH - %%%%
REIRF AR EFRIAEN - &=
17,000,000/ 7T - BEEAKREERZ=F
“EAAZHRIRN ©

EEeEFAREE T _NF+ A
=t+—HIFEHRER %ikao
B RFRIRE BFR2.58( - A
NS%O%%E EE AR B R
REAFARTRRENR T _AFAHA
ZHN\BETHARRREBEFAE £
R - HEEE -

BE_T_=Ft+t_HA=1—HLFE
B BN R EREE T AR AR HE
BAERNEE (EHHEEEANRRME
BB - MAREMS » ARKERR
BRWEBBENRNBBHRERLES
& HYBEIZEEFR -



Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

27 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 27 #AB4&hERMT

CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of profit before income tax (a) PBRATEBANRRIERELE (Fr
to cash generated (used in)/generated from )/ FBRESWHE
operations

2024 2023
—EomE T =4
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHx FAT
Profit before income tax BRPT1S B AT 3 74,026 66,740
Adjustments for: BATZIERE
Unrealised exchange gain IR H WE (3.734) =
Depreciation of property, S E SN
plant and equipment (Note 6) REITE(Ht6) 1,209 1,632
Depreciation of right-of-use EREEENE(H/it6)
asset (Note 6) 12,239 10,672
Gain on disposal of property, LEME - #Hs &
plant and equipment (Note 5(b)) B s (HTaE5(0b)) (145) =
Gain on termination of lease BIEHER
(Note 5(b)) Wk (#z25)) = (643)
Changes on surrender value of ASREETEIRERRIR
investment in life insurance plan BEEE(H1750b))
(Note 5(b)) 1,093 -
Fair value loss on derivative financial #7448t T AN F(EEE
instruments (Note 5(b)) (K17E5(b)) 6,906 =
Interest income (Note 5(b)) FMBWA (K 7E50)) (3,307) (505)
Provision for impairment of B & ERE
repossessed assets BB (Ha220)
(Note 20) 110 559
Expected credit losses, TR EEE R
net (Note 15) (H1aE15) 77,364 55,757
Interest expenses FERAXZ 32,253 25,657
Operating cash flow before changes &84 & & B)A]
in working capital BEREME 198,014 159,869
Changes in working capital: EEEEH :
Loans and advances to customers REFPIREER LB (345,352) (106,334)
Repossessed assets KBl B B (7,016) (11,209)
Prepayments, deposits and BRRIE  Rek
other receivables H At fEUGRIR (3,785) (2,104)
Contract liabilities EREaE 641 -
Accrual and other payables e B R M Bt FE < 5RI8 (1,700) 3,496
Cash (used in)/generated from KE(FTA) B8RS
operations (159,198) 43,718
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27 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 27 #AB&HRERMET(E)
CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) The reconciliation of net debt arising from (b) RMEFTBHELENEEFHRY
financing activities is as follows: BT :

Amount
duetothe  Amount
Bank and ultimate due to
Lease other holding fellow
liabilities ~ borrowings  company subsidiaries

ff A

BIR BAER  RZHE
HEER  HttkE MEFE  AFARE @t
(Note 25) (Note 24) (Note29)  (Note 29)
(Hi#25)  (Wite)  (Ki#29)  (H#E29)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS$'000
ThR ThR ThR TEn Thn

As at 1 January 2024 RZB-mE
-F-H

Cash flows, net REMEFE 6,530 342,629 13 9 349,271
- Interest paid BHFE - (31.373) - - (31313)
- Payment of principal elements of  -THEEEEAS S

lease liabilities (Note 25(c) (hrE250) (10,655) - - - (10,655)
- Payment of interest elements of ~ -THEEBEFHEHDS

lease liabilties (Note 25(c)) (Hit250) (1217) - - - (1217)
—Proceeds from bank and other ~ -REFITREMEER

borrowings e - 710222 - - 710,222
- Repayments of bank and other ~ “EEFITREMEE

borrowings - (556,878) - - (556,878)
~ Repayment to the ultimate -MSEERAT

holding company B - - (13) - (13)
~ Advances from fellow subsidiaries -k BRZMBATHBHK - - - 2,631 2,631
~ Repayments to related parties  —HEH iR = = - - -
Other non-cash movements Hivgrmee
- Interest expenses -MBRR 1,217 31,036 - - 32,253
- Additions of lease liablities -HEREEN 26,904 = = = 26,904
- Exchange differences EREE - (3.734) - - (3738
As at 31 December 2024 RZB-mE

+=B=t-H 22,779 491,902 - 2,730 51741
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27

BABE R

NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 27
CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b)

MERSRBRMETE(E)

The reconciliation of net debt arising from (b) MEITDHEENEHFEY
financing activities is as follows: (Continued) BRINT : (&)
Amount Amount
duetothe  duetothe Amounts
Bank and uttimate ~ immediate due to
Lease other holding holding related
liabilities  borrowings company company parties
FEf
RITRAM E#ER i)
HERE i RAFE NEFE  EHATE st
(Note 25) (Note 24) (Note 29) (Note 29) (Note 29)
(Ma25)  (Ee)  (Ws20)  (WfR9)  (W3H29)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TAL TAL TAL TAL TEL TEL
As at 1 January 2023 W-E-=%
-B-A 19,122 303,095 84 10,500 28,486 361,287
Cash flows, net RemETE
- Interest paid -BHFHE - (22,482) S = = (22,482)
- Payment of principal elements of - HEEBEALHH
lease liabiltes (Note 25(c) (Wi25(0) (11,209) - - - - (11,209)
- Payment of interest elements of - AFEEE EFSHH
lease liabilities (Note 25(c) (250 (475) - s = = (475)
- Proceeds from bank and other - BT REMEER
borrowings 558 - 414,125 - - = 414,125
- Repayments of bank and other  “ERFITREMEE
borrowings - (375,876) - - - (375,876)
- Repayment to the ultimate AR AR
holding company & = = (71) = = (71)
-Repayment to the immediate ~ -AEEERATE
holding company o - - - (10,500) - (10,500)
- Repayments to related parties -MBEANET = = S = (29,901) (29,901)
Qther non-cash movements HitrR o 2E
- Interest expenses -HERY 475 23,767 - - 1,415 25,657
— Additions of lease liabilities -HEAEEN 10,860 = = = = 10,860
- Termination of leases -KIHAE (12,243) S S = - (12,243)
As at 31 December 2023 R-B==f
+=A=1+-H 6,530 342,629 13 - - 349,172
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27 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 27 #AB&HRERMET(E)
CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

()  Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and () HEWXE - WBERREMS
equipment comprise: MEWT

2024 2023
—E-mEF —T=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Net book amount (Note 13) BREVFE(HAL13) 150 360
Gain on disposal of property, HEYE - #es LBl
plant and equipment (Note 5(b)) (H15#5(b)) 145 =
Proceeds from disposal of property, & - #E RREFS
plant and equipment RIE 295 360
(d) Significant non—cash transaction (d) Eﬁ#ﬁ’:‘iﬁﬁ%
During the year ended 31 December 2023, amount due HE =F+-A=+—H
from a director of HK$558,000 was settled by current Jj:if FEW HEERE
accounts with fellow subsidiaries. 558,000%%5515[7%511%
AR ZRER P ELT ©
During the year ended 31 December 2023, amount due to BE_ZT-_=—F+_-_H=+—H
a fellow subsidiary of HK$5,367,000 was settled by current IHFE  ENf—HRERNEBA
account with another fellow subsidiary. A]FXIE5,367,000/8 T E BB S
—HRRMBRRNTRES
BT -
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28 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 28 ANFEEEEBERNHE

OF THE COMPANY b
(a) Balance sheet of the Company (a) ALREEEEFBXR
2024 2023
—E-EF —E=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FiT FiBT
ASSETS BE
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEY 7,558 114,111
Investments in subsidiaries RBRRIMIEE 49 —*
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FEUFTE A T3R8 141 84
Amounts due from fellow BRI EVNGIE R
subsidiaries 470,570 68,950
Prepayments SENEOE 731 212
Total assets EEHAE 479,049 183,357
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to the ~ AATHEAA
owners of the Company LR
Share capital N 21 50 50
Reserves [ (b) 150,537 178,610
Total equity ERBE 150,587 178,660
LIABILITIES afE
Amount due to a subsidiary FEN—FE B A A5k A = —*
Accruals and other payables FEETE R R E A FES 5RIE 1,040 4,697
Bank and other borrowings RITRAMBEE 327,422 -
Total liabilities BEH5 328,462 4,697
Total equity and liabilities  #EX K & &A% 479,049 183,357

* Below HK$1,000

& 1ER1,000% 7T

K CASH REBERAT 202453

221

J



Notes to the Historical Financial Information 873 Bf 75 &k i 5

28 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 28 ANFEEEERNHE

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) BE)(4E)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) ZADAREEH

Share Accumulated

premium losses Total
10 E ZitEE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FAT AT
Balance at 1 January 2023 R-B-=F
—A— B - (5,315) (5,315)
Loss and total comprehensive FREBER
loss for the year 2 HEERE = (24,810) (24,810)
Capitalization issue (Note 21(b)) ~ &EA{LEE1T
(Kia£21(b)) (37) = (37)
Issuance of new share pursuant  1Ri&_F T
to the Listing (Note 21(c)) (M7121(c)) 224,987 = 224,987
Listing expenses capitalized BERE ETHY (16,215) = (16,215)
Balance at 31 December 2023 R=-ZE==fF+=A4
=+—BN#ER 208,735 (30,125) 178,610
Balance at 1 January 2024 R-ZEBE_ME
—A— B 208,735 (30,125) 178,610
Loss and total comprehensive FRBEK
loss for the year )RRk - (1,083) (1,083)
Dividend &% & (26,990) - (26,990)
Balance at 31 December 2024 HR-ZT_WE+—A
=+—BHEek 181,745 (31,208) 150,537
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29 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29 BHMARS
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, WM— A hEE BTS2 —
directly or indirectly, control the other party or exercise significant HE—ANMBREERRITEEAR
influence over the other party in making financial and operation 25 - BIEHWE AR WEE - WEHT
decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they are HEdedl - B IR {EA BaRE - AN
subject to common control. Members of key management of EETFEEREKE REOHIMNEE A
the Group and their close family members are also considered as ) a)

related parties.

Major related parties that had transactions with the Group during BE_Z-_WNF+-_A=+—HLF
the year ended 31 December 2024 are as follows: B EARKEETR SN E B
T

Related parties Relationship with the Group

2y BEZAC R B W BA 1R

AQ Communications Limited Controlled by a family member of the directors of the Company

AQ Communications Limited AN EEN—BRGEKEZES

Keyfull Industrial Limited Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders

HEEXEBRAR] AR AR ER 2

Moneysq Limited Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders

EEFRAQA SRR AR ER PR

smartMe Corporation Limited Controlled by the Controlling Shareholders

BeeaaRAT] PR AR ER

Modern Creative (HK) Limited Controlled by family members of the directors of the Company

Rel(FE)ARAA RANR B E BRI BT
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29 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29 BEAERZ (E)
(CONTINUED)
The following transactions were carried out between the Group AEBEEBBONBE _T_MNF
and its related parties during the year ended 31 December 2024. +=ZA=+— ElJJ:ﬁJ‘V.TTMTX%
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the related party ARBEERS  BBAIRZINAEE
transactions were carried out in the ordinary course of business, at TS HRAE A+ 7 5 (5 B AR A g 07 B 7
terms negotiated and mutually agreed between the Group and the B A1 TE HMRFETT ©

respective related parties.

(a)  Balances with fellow subsidiaries, related parties and the (a) HERNBAR - @B k&
ultimate holding company: IR A B RS EA -
2024 2023
—E-mE —EC-=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T
Amounts due from fellow FEW[E 2 BT A RIFRIE ¢
subsidiaries:
— Konew Capital International —BREEABIBAR AR
Limited - 3
— Katch (HK) Limited —Katch (HK) Limited - ==
— Hong Yip Well Being Ltd —REEEFRAA - 211
— Maxcolm Finance Limited — W BEFR AR 20 22
20 236
Amounts due from related PEUR ER RS 5 RUE -
parties:
- Directors of the Company and —ZARNQAA|EENANFEER
the family members of the RI&RK B (f1i2)
directors of the Company
(Note) 330 -
— Hong Yip Well Being Limited —REEEFRAA 46 =
— Modern Creative (HK) Limited ~— —IRAI(EFHE)GR A5 = 1
— Moneysq Limited —EARAA 10 79
— Keyfull Industrial Ltd —REEERRAT - 1
— smartME Corporation Limited ~— —R&e&#BRA A 377 1
763 82
* Below HK$1,000 & 1R 1,000 T
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29 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29 BEBAIRZ (&)
(CONTINUED)
(a)  Balances with fellow subsidiaries, related parties and the (a) BRERMBQR - Eﬁﬁﬁ’ﬁf&%
ultimate holding company: (Continued) R A R AEER - (A8)

2024 2023
—E-mE —EC-=4F

HK$'000 HK$'000
FiB T

Amount due to the ultimate  FE{THAERATNE :
holding company:

— Konew Group Limited —Konew Group Limited - (13)
Amounts due to fellow ERERMEARRIE
subsidiaries:
— Konew Capital International —FEEEABBRER AR
Limited (2,630) -
- Konew Credit Corporation —EEEEESEAR AR
Limited (100) 97)
— Honip Credit Limited —BEEEAERAT - )
(2,730) (99)
Note:  The amount due from directors of the Company and the family Biet: ERALRAEEZERALAE
members of the directors of the Company of HK$330,000 is FHIF %K S K IH330,000;%
the credit card advances of the Group, the transactions were TL R EE S AR
carried out in the ordinary course of business. The maximum BFHXZERSXEBEBER
balance during the year ended 31 December 2024 was BT B E—FEZNF =
HK$ 1,933,000 (2023: Nil). A=+—HIEFE &S
82 551,933,0008 7T (= F
—=F )
The amounts due from/(to) the ultimate holding JEN (R JREZER AR - [
company, fellow subsidiaries and related parties are non- ESUN-PNCIDEEC) D/ SV R
interest bearing, unsecured, repayable on demand and FHE - BIEH  BREBRESR
denominated in HK$. Their carrying amounts approximate RLABTTErE - BB H B
to their fair values due to their short maturities. 7 HEREEEAFERSE
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29 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29 BAEEL R Z(4E)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Below is a summary of significant transactions between (b) AT AAGRE R ERE T NE
the Group and its related parties during the year ended 31 E-F_NF+-—A=t—H
December 2024: IFFENEARSHME :

2024 2023
—E-mE —EC-=4F

HK$'000 HK$°'000
FEx T

Rental income received from Z2WEZKBARN
fellow subsidiaries (Note 5(b)) FHEW A (K7£5(b))

— Konew Capital International —REERBER
Limited BRAFA 594 459
— Maxcolm Finance Limited — R EER AR 179 178

Rental income received from a 2 U — BRI S 1

related party (Note 5(b)) HEWA (BtzE5(b))
— smartME Corporation Limited ~ —&8£&8 4B R A T] 4,473 3,806
Expenses related to short et —EERNE QRN

term leases paid to a fellow EHIHEEBEBEX

subsidiary (Note 6) (Hizte6)
- Hong Yip Well Being Limited ~ —BEXE#EBR AR (264) (634)

Expenses related to short term 21t —ZEEF N
leases paid to a related party EHIHEEHEX
(Note 6) (K1t6)
— Moneysq Limited —tEEAR AR = (1,398)
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29 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29 FEBIAERZ(8E)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Below is a summary of significant transactions between (b) AT AAGRE R ERE T NE
the Group and its related parties during the year ended 31 E-F_NF+-—A=t—H
December 2024: (Continued) IFENBEARZGHE : (8)

2024 2023
—E-mE —EC-=4F

HK$'000 HK$'000
FiB T

Loan interest paid to a related ©{—ZEAE S

party (Note 9) ERFE (HF9)
— Big Development Asset —REEEBEARAA
Management Limited - (1,415)

Advertising agency fee paid to T — BB SH
a related party (Note 6) EBEREE(AF6)
— AQ Communications Limited —AQ Communications Limited (741) (1,318)

Collection agency fee paid to a 21— & A HY
related party (Note 6) BURREE(HF6)
— Modern Creative (HK) Limited ~ —IR&I(FE)BR A A (71) (38)

Purchase of membership point B —EEZKMEB AT

from a fellow subsidiary BEEERED
— Katch (HK) Limited —Katch (HK) Limited (22) =
All the transactions with related parties were discussed and BT R E R S IREAR
agreed based on terms mutually agreed between the Group 5 B R & BB 7 B AR 1 B 5
and the respective related party. T RIBE
(€ Key management compensation () EEEEEHRMN
Key management includes directors of the Company. The FEEREBREAQAES -
compensation paid or payable to key management is set MEZEREBEMNKENBR
out in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements. BN AR & B TS SRR Pt sk 78051
30 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 30 HAREE
As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any significant R-ZE_WNE+_A=+—8H" $§€
contingent liabilities (2023: Nil). WEIMEASAGE(ZE =
&)
31 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 31 HARERE
There are no material events undertaken by the Group after 31 RZEBEZNF+=A=+—H%  &&
December 2024. I mE B AR -
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32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of other potentially material accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all the
years presented, unless otherwise stated.

32.1 Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations except for business combination
under common control. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any
asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognizes any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event
of liquidation are measured at either fair value or the
present ownership interests’ proportionate share in the
recognized amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising
from such remeasurement are recognized in profit or loss.
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32

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32.1

32.2

Business combinations (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
Group is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability
is recognized in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standard 9 — Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”)
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling interests
recognized and previously held interest measured is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognized directly in profit or loss.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statement of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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32

BEMIEE R

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32.3

324

32.5

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the CODM. The
CODM s responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, and has been
identified as the executive directors of the Company that
makes strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the consolidated financial
statements of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”).

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at period end exchange rates
are generally recognized in profit or loss. They are
deferred in equity if they relate to qualifying cash
flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges
or are attributable to part of the net investment in a
foreign operation.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost
less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognized. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
reporting period in which they are incurred.
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BEMBERME

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32.5

32.6

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Equipment 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease terms on 5 years

Motor vehicles 3 to 4 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of the reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 32.7).

Gain or loss on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in profit
or loss.

Repossessed assets

Upon derecognition of related loan receivables, foreclosed
assets are recognized as “Repossessed assets” on the
consolidated balance sheet. Repossessed assets are initially
recognised at the amount of the related outstanding
loan receivables together with the related provision of
impairment on the date of repossession. Subsequently,
repossessed assets are measured at the lower of the
carrying amount and the fair value less cost to sell at the
end of the reporting period. When the fair value less cost
to sell is lower than the carrying amount, impairment loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Gain or loss on disposal of repossessed assets is recognized
in profit or loss within “Other (losses)/gains, net”.
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BEMIEE R

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32.7

32.8

32.9

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are tested for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for
which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end
of the reporting period.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include
cash on hand and deposits held at call with authorized
institutions with original maturities of three months or
less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value.

Investment in life insurance plan

The life insurance contract included under other asset
of the Group includes both investment and insurance
elements. The investment in an insurance contract is
initially recognised at the amount of the premium paid
and subsequently carried at the amount that could be
realised under the corresponding insurance plan as the cash
surrender value net of cost of surrender charge, at the end
of each reporting period. Changes in the surrender value
are recognised under “Other (losses)/gains, net” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the
period when changes occurred.

32.10 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from
the proceeds.
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32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL 32
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32.11 Borrowings

Hit BT E XS BERE
(%)

32.11 B &

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortized cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognized in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of banking facilities are
recognized as transaction costs of the borrowings to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will
be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down, the fee is capitalized as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortized over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of a qualifying asset are capitalized during the period of
time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL 32
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32.13 Derivative financial instruments

Hi#BiESE
(%)
3213 fTEERm I E

SETHRME

234

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at their fair values. The method of recognising
the resulting gains or losses depends on whether the
derivative is designated and qualified as a hedging
instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged.
Assets and liabilities are classified as current if expected to
be settled within 12 months, otherwise they are classified as
non-current.

As the Group’s derivative financial instruments do
not qualify for hedge accounting, changes in the fair
value of these derivative financial instruments are
recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income within “Other (losses)/gains, net”.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognized even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due
to passage of time is recognized as interest expense.
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32.14 Provisions 32.14 #1&
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present BESR THIBER T ARER
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; EAEERBEEHMESR £
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required REEAEIMEERE  AJedH
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably METETREER MEE@E
estimated. Provisions are not recognized for future SRR MA A - A e
operating losses. RO & R REE -
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32

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32.15 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on
the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted
by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable
to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Group operates and generates
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized only if
it is probable that future taxable amount will be
available to utilize those temporary differences and
losses.
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32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32.15 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
(c) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
where there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income taxes balance relate to
the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to
settle the balances on a net basis or to realize the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognized in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognized
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

32.16 Employee benefits
(a) Retirement benefit obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) set up pursuant to the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for
all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administrated fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed to the MPF Scheme, except for
the Group's employer voluntary contributions, which
are refunded to the Group when the employee
leaves employment prior to vesting fully in the
contributions, in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme.
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32

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

32.16 Employee benefits (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(9]

Retirement benefit obligations (Continued)

The Group has no further payment obligations once
the contributions have been paid. The contributions
are recognized as an employee benefit expense
when they are due and are reduced by contributions
forfeited by those employees who leave the scheme
prior to vesting fully in the contributions. Prepaid
contributions are recognized as an asset to the
extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the
future payments is available.

Bonus plans

The Group recognizes a liability and an expense
for bonuses, based on a formula that takes
into consideration the profit attributable to the
Company'’s shareholders after certain adjustments.
The Group recognizes a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past
practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognized when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the date of consolidated balance
sheet.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognized until the time of leave.
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32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL 32
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
32.17 Leases

HiBEE
(,%;E:)
32.17 A

SRR

238

Leases are recognized as right-of-use assets and the
corresponding liabilities at the date of which the respective
leased asset is available for use by the Group.

AEERSHEEERAHAE
B R AR HERRSE
RREEREERE -

Lease liabilities include the net present value of the HEBEBERETIHAENTF
following lease payments: TRE :
. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed . BENR(BEEEETE

payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

ﬁ KRR EKREER

/u,\ ’

. variable lease payments that are based on an index . EREHE R Eaa &
or a rate; MERRK
o amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under . AR AR TJ@%F{E%

residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

RIREARE (N R FRIR

. BRERENTEER
AR IR EITREZ
EERE) R

. payments of penalties for terminating the lease, . IR IR E R SRR (i
if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that 7H HA S B ACRR A 1T {E 3%
option. EiEE) o

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain RIESBI D EHEIZES T

extension options are also included in the measurement of YANMBENRIFARGER

the liability. 2R -

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
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32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL 32 HtEAEERSTTHEREE
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) (,?;E;)
32.17 Leases (Continued) 32.17 HE (&)
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group: RETHSEENE - AEH
o where possible, uses recent third-party financing . RATIBRT - FERE
received by the individual lessee as a starting point, AT AT HIES N E
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions ZABMERDBEEED
since third party financing was received; FE - URMBEESE
= EE DACR BB R
HEE
. uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free . FERENE  BEFA
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held EEBMEHEHENEER
by the Group, which does not have recent third b (TERIEE = H F
party financing, and B)ABRERRIE &
. makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, . HAEEETEERAE -
country, currency and security. BIZAEARR « Bl - B
KR o
Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance HENTR A HBEK AR 2
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the FEL o BC o Bh& A AN 74 78 BF
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of ANEE=NE  FXHEMNE
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each ELEAE T ETEREERFE -
period.
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32 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIAL MATERIAL 32 H{{®EiEE
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) (,@;s;)
32.17 Leases (Continued) 32.17 #HE (&)

SETHRME

240

Right-of-use assets are measured at costs comprising the
following:

FEREEELKAE B
A&

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease . TFstEHEaENS
liabilities; ol

. any lease payments made at or before the . e B Bk 2 AT EH
commencement date less any lease incentives B EREE S - ORE
received; AERHEEES ;

. any initial direct costs; and . EABEERAE &

. restoration costs. . BIRBCA -

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases are recognized
on a straight-line basis as an expense in the profit or loss.
Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months
or less.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is
a lessor is recognized in “Other income” on a straight-
line basis over the lease term (Note 5(b)). Initial direct costs
incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognized
as expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease
income. The respective leased assets are included in the
consolidated balance sheet based on their nature.
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32.18 Contract liabilities 32.18 W& E
Contract liabilities are recognised when the Group grants EHNEBERAERRAERSR
award credits for customers for credit card transactions )5 2 EEIETHERARIRS
under the Group's customer loyalty scheme. MEFPR T RENED R o
32.19 Dividend distribution 32.19 RE DK
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is MR AR 5K 8 IR S PR
recognized as a liability in the Group’s consolidated balance N AR £ OB HA R ) AR
sheet in the period in which the dividends are approved by EBGEEEEBERER AR
the Company’s shareholders. & o



Definitions

“AQM Score”
[AQMEES |

“AQM System”
[AQMZ#t ]

“Articles” or “Articles of
Association”
[4R8)) | sk[ 4A 4= 24081

“Audit Committee”
[BizZEg]

"AVS Methodology”
or "AVS”
[AVSERI JZkTAVS ]

“Board”

[E5g]

"CG Code”
[{ExRERTAl

“Company” or
“our Company”

[ARE]]
“connected advances”
[ B2

“connected person(s)”

[BEAL

“Credit Modeling System”

KBt S eSS
“Director(s)"”
[E£]

"eAML"

[eAML]

the credit score generated by the AQM System
AQMRSE K E EF S

the credit scoring system which generates a credit score based on the external credit
data
RIBINDEEBBEEEETINEETD 5

the amended and restated articles of association of our Company
RRABHIER] R EBAAABZIZAA

the audit committee of the Board

EXgEREBY

the asset valuation methodology to assist us with assets valuation by referencing
latest publicly available market data and market trends

BYHRFETEEGRENEERETE  ET2ERMNIFAMEHBERTSBE

the board of Directors

4

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

ETRAIMERC1 BB EE AT R

K Cash Corporation Limited (K Cash £E AR /A7), an exempted company with
limited liability incorporated in the Cayman Islands and the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

K Cash&EBBR AR - ERSHSTMANEREAERAR - HRNDAEBRAE
RET

fundings passed on to us by our connected persons and related Parties

EAL MBI ARMEBEBNES

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

HA LR T ARRE

the credit modeling system that we engaged a global technology services provider
to develop, which generates a machine learning-based credit score, based on our
industry-specific knowledge and experience, for our consideration in our loan
approval process

BPRE M2 RGHERRERFNTREM MBS RAENEERL
R ZESNGEEMRBEBEETNS  HEMARERSHBIETER

the director(s) of the Company
KARES

a system adopted by the Company to perform assessment on money laundering and
terrorism financing risks

RRBERAEEE MR D FESBERRETHEH RS

K CASH REBERAT 202453
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Definitions &3

“Excluded Group”

[BRONEE

“Excluded Group NCU”

[BRONR B A 35 EGH

"Group”, "our Group”,

“we”, "our” or “us”

[ &= Ikl k4P

”HK$"
B

“Hong Kong”
(&%)

“IDCM”
[IDCM]

“Independent Business

Opportunity Assessment

Committee”

(B AR EERES

“INED(s)"
(B IFTEE

“K Cash”
[K Cash |
“K Cash Express”

[K Cash Express ]

“Konew Capital”

[REEA]

Konew Group, and together with its operating subsidiaries (excluding our Group)
which are principally engaged in the secured loan business

Konew GroupiE[RIH F ZREEEAEREBNLENB AR (KEERIN)

the non-competition undertaking provided by Konew Group to the Company in
relation to the referral of business opportunities originating from applicants applying
for a secured private property loan which is within our typical loan range for
Unsecured Private Property Owner Loans

Konew GroupstE /T K B A A EMMAMERE RN RFBANEEAARLQ FRED
TEFAGH  ZERBRNEEALAZIERN —RERSBER

our Company and its subsidiaries
RAE REME AT

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

FREAEREAT

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China
i AR KNBEEEFRTEHR

intelligent dynamic credit matrix, which consists of the AQM Score and MLC Score
BEEHREEEER - HAQMETS RMLCFF S 4K

the independent business opportunity assessment committee of the Board

EFgRVRARTERES

the independent non-executive Director(s)

BIUFBITES

K Cash Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong with limited
liability and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

K Cash Limited - RIBFFBEPIEMAZNER QR RARBRNEE 2 ENB AR

K Cash Express Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong with
limited liability and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

K Cash Express Limited * RIEEEEFIFMEKSNER AR RAQ BN HEEZEH
BAwA

Konew Capital International Limited (REZEAHEEGR A 7]), a company
incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong with limited liability and wholly-owned
by Konew Credit

REEREBRERAT - REEBENAMKINERAR HREEEEEEE
2]
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Definitions &3

“Konew Credit”

[EXREESRE]

“Konew Fintech”

[EXRE B

“Listing”

=

“Listing Date”

[ LB

“Listing Rules”

[ kAl
“MLC Score”

[MLCFFS |

“Model Code”

[fmsespa)]

“net interest margin”

[ B = |

“Nomination Committee”

[fREZ8E]

“Personal Loan(s)"”

[FLAE K]
"POS system”

[POSF &t

"Prospectus”

[HEkERE]

Konew Credit Corporation Limited (EX=E%E AR A A]), a company
incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong with limited liability and wholly-owned
by Konew Fintech

RECEEEARART - BREBEESENFIMEKINBERAR HEXLRBHEZE
2]

Konew Fintech Corporation Limited (FEZ < mEHHEBEABR A A]), an exempted
company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands with limited liability,
wholly-owned by Konew Group Limited and one of our controlling shareholders
BEECRHMREERERAR  RERSEESEMIZEMKINERECERAF @ H
Konew Group Limited 2 E# A « AIERRR 2 —

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
AP PR R P AR _E T

5 December 2023, the date on which the Shares are listed and dealings in the Shares
first commenced on the Main Board

“EC=F+ARR BOREIRETRERRAREZHNHH

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
B2 FTaE 75 AR Al

the machine learning-based credit score generated by our Credit Modeling System,
enabling us to classify loan applicants into different risk categories
EEEAARELNKREBEETD  FBRMAASERRBZASBEATRARER
ll

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
TR AT ERCIATE EMBEITAESTETE SR HHIFETA

interest income generated (net of interest expenses) divided by the average of the
opening and closing monthly balance of the gross loan receivables during the year

EEEFSWA FORRF SRS R AF ARG A1 N A KR E R EEES

the nomination committee of the Board

EFERA%EE

the unsecured loan(s) offered by our Group to individuals without any collaterals

AEE R EAREAELIFE R - BAEMEIT D

point of sale system, which consists of hardware and software that works together
to process sales and payment transactions at the point of purchase

HERRLS - AP REHEN RGBT EEER RS EEHEE T
N3 5

the prospectus of the Company dated 27 November 2023 in relation to the listing of

the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
AARRBA=B-=4+— A=+t BEBERARBZF IR e R SR
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Definitions &3

“Referred Business
Opportunities”
(e ek

“Remuneration
Committee”

[FHEEE]

“Reporting Period”
[#REH ]

“SFO”
[(FEZ MR GG

“Shareholder(s)"”
[A%E |

“Shares”

[Bfn ]

“SME Loan(s)”

[/ B

"Stock Exchange”

[ B 32 PR |

“subsidiary(ies)”

=Nl

“Unsecured Property
Owner Loan(s)”

[EEMETEK]
nop
[%]

loan applications for not more than HK$400,000 received by the Excluded Group
which shall be referred to the Group

BROMNE B AT I B FEES ) T AN SR B TR 48400,000/8 TTHI B SR B 7R

the remuneration committee of the Board

EFgvHERe

the year ended 31 December 2024
BE_T_MOF+_A=+—RHIFE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended or supplemented from time to time

EREDIFSNE(EZ RPEED]) - BAEHERT AT

holder(s) of the Share(s)
BHEFEEA

the ordinary shares in the share capital of our Company

AR BT B

smartME Corporation Limited (FF8£& #AR/AR]), a company incorporated under
the laws of Hong Kong with limited liability
BRANBERRAR  BREEBEDIZTMAZOHER QA

small and medium enterprises

B

the unsecured loan(s) offered by our Group to SME(s) without security, subject to
a personal guarantee typically provided by a director or shareholder of the SME
borrower

AEERF/PNERENEIKIFER - BAERR AR EFP/ N EERANES
S AR SRR A A SEAR

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEMERSHMBRAT

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

HA EmRARE & ARRE

the unsecured loan(s) offered by our Group to borrowers who are owners of
properties but who do not provide any collaterals for the loan(s)
REERERAREOEERET - EREBERABYEE T T EREFTERE M
R

per cent

AL
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